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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS  

Certain statements in this Report on Form 10-K are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation 
Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The words 
“estimate,” “plan,” “intend,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “believe” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. 
These forward-looking statements are found at various places throughout this report. EarthLink, Inc. disclaims any intention or obligation to 
update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. Although EarthLink, Inc. 
believes that its expectations are based on reasonable assumptions, it can give no assurance that its targets and goals will be achieved. 
Important factors that could cause actual results to differ from estimates or projections contained in the forward-looking statements are 
described under “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of Part I and under “Safe Harbor Statement” in Item 7 of Part II.  

PART I  

Item 1.                         Business.  

Overview  

EarthLink, Inc. is a total communications provider, providing integrated communication services and related value-added services to 
individual consumers and business customers utilizing Internet Protocol, or IP, based technologies. Our core service offerings include dial-up 
and wireline broadband Internet access services and value-added services. Our growth initiatives include IP-based voice services, municipal 
wireless broadband services and services for business customers.  

We also have a joint venture with SK Telecom Co., Ltd. (“SK Telecom”), HELIO. HELIO is a non-facilities-based mobile virtual network 
operator (MVNO) offering mobile communications services and handsets to consumers in the U.S. HELIO was formed in March 2005 and 
began offering its products and services during April 2006.  

Our corporate offices are located at 1375 Peachtree St., Atlanta, Georgia 30309, and our telephone number at that location is (404) 815 
0770.  

Business Strategy  

Our business strategy is to generate profits from our existing core access services and to reinvest cash generated from these services in our 
various growth initiatives with the objective of generating company-wide revenue growth and earnings growth in future periods; to continue to 
expand our presence in growth markets, such as Voice over Internet Protocol (“VoIP”) services, municipal wireless broadband services and 
business services; to support our HELIO joint venture with SK Telecom; and to market high-quality, differentiated products and services.  

Generate profits from our existing core access services to fund investments in our growth initiatives  

Our core access services include dial-up access, wireline broadband access and value-added services. We believe the most important 
factor in continuing to be able to generate profits from our core access services is to manage the return on our subscriber acquisition costs. We 
manage these costs primarily by controlling the amount of sales and marketing expenses reinvested in these core access services. Our ability to 
generate profits from our core access services is instrumental to our ability to fund investments in our growth initiatives. Other factors we 
believe are important are as follows:  

Managing the rate of decline of our premium-priced narrowband access service.    The market for traditional, premium dial-up services 
has been shrinking as customers move to broadband access services  
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and to value-priced access services. As a result, our premium narrowband subscriber base and revenues have been decreasing, and we expect 
this trend to continue during 2007. We will continue to seek to identify opportunities to add new subscribers through product innovation and 
effective sales and marketing. We also seek to reduce churn and “up-sell” customers to our high-speed Internet, voice, wireless or value-added 
services.  

Improving or maintaining operating margins.    We are focused on delivering our core services more cost effectively by capitalizing on 
the continuing decline in telecommunications costs, leveraging the benefits of scale throughout our business, reducing and more efficiently 
handling the number of calls to contact centers, managing cost effective outsourcing opportunities and streamlining our internal processes and 
operations. We leverage our national footprint by continuing to migrate customers to lower cost telecommunications networks, utilizing 
volume discounts and managing our network to increase its efficiency. We are also focused on improving our marketing effectiveness and 
utilizing cost effective distribution channels. We plan to continue to manage operating expenses, and to leverage our infrastructure as we seek 
to expand our service offerings.  

Continuing to grow our value-priced narrowband access service.    The market for value priced narrowband access services has grown 
over the past several years by attracting households new to the Internet or current Internet users interested in reducing their cost of Internet 
access. We provide value-priced Internet access services through our PeoplePC Online offering. We anticipate the market for value-priced 
narrowband access will continue to grow, and we expect to continue to devote sales and marketing resources to market the PeoplePC Online 
offering to increase our value priced narrowband customer base.  

Pursuing new partnerships and relationships with wholesale broadband providers.    Broadband, or high-speed, access is growing and the 
estimated number of households with broadband access surpassed the number of households with dial-up connections during 2006. We provide 
wireline high-speed Internet access services in markets throughout the U.S. and have established a national broadband footprint via multiple 
wholesale vendors, enabling us to offer digital subscriber line (“DSL”), cable and/or satellite broadband services in multiple markets 
throughout the U.S. We will continue our efforts to expand our broadband footprint by pursuing new partnerships and relationships with 
wholesale broadband providers.  

Continue to expand our presence in growth markets  

We will continue to introduce new products and services to enhance our competitive position with the objective of generating additional 
revenues and profits. The communications market is characterized by intense competition and changing industry and regulatory standards. In 
order to be successful, we must adapt to this ever changing market to deliver compelling, competitive and useful services to consumers and 
businesses. Since the inception of our business, we have expanded from a traditional dial-up service provider to a total communications 
provider. We are currently focused on growing our IP-based voice services, municipal wireless broadband services and services for business 
customers.  

IP-based voice.    In late 2005 and 2006, we launched Earthlink DSL and Home Phone Service, a new DSL and VoIP service, which uses 
Covad Communications Group Inc. (“Covad”) line-powered voice access that allows us to offer consumers low-cost phone services along with 
high-speed Internet access. The service is now available in 12 markets covering approximately 10.0 million households.  

We are actively marketing EarthLink DSL and Home Phone Service and will expand our marketing efforts to promote these services 
during 2007. We will also continue to invest in the development of additional applications and services for our IP-based voice services.  

Municipal wireless broadband.    We are investing in wireless broadband access to deploy a competitive alternative to DSL and cable for 
delivering broadband Internet access services. We began this initiative during 2005 by winning proposals to build, own and operate wireless 
broadband networks for the cities of  
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Philadelphia, Pennsylvania and Anaheim, California. During 2006 and early 2007, we completed the initial phase for these networks and began 
offering our municipal wireless services. We also launched service in Milpitas, California and New Orleans, Louisiana, and were selected by 
the cities of Alexandria, Virginia; San Francisco, California; Atlanta, Georgia; Houston, Texas; and St. Petersburg, Florida to build, own and 
operate municipal wireless networks in those cities.  

We expect to significantly expand our wireless broadband footprint in 2007 with the objective of increasing our wireless broadband 
subscriber base and revenues. These initiatives may require significant capital expenditures and operating costs to develop, implement and 
build wireless broadband networks in these municipalities, as well as increased costs to market the new services.  

Business services.    In April 2006, we acquired New Edge Networks (“New Edge”), a single-source national provider of secure multi-site 
managed data networks and dedicated Internet access for businesses and communications carriers. Also during 2006, we introduced new 
products for business customers, including Small Office DSL and hosted Virtual Private Networks (“VPN”). In 2007, we expect to build upon 
our existing portfolio of business services products, by expanding our product offerings and our distribution channels.  

Support our HELIO joint venture with SK Telecom  

In March 2005, we completed the formation of HELIO, a joint venture with SK Telecom that offers wireless voice and data services to 
individual and business customers nationwide. Our investment in HELIO allows us the opportunity to expand and further diversify the markets 
in which we are investing to include the growing voice and data services segment of the wireless market. HELIO launched its first products and 
services in April 2006 and began marketing its services in July 2006. As of February 28, 2007, we have contributed $214.0 million in cash and 
non-cash assets in HELIO pursuant to the Contribution and Formation Agreement, and we are committed to invest an additional $6.0 million in 
August 2007. We may invest additional amounts in HELIO as they expand their marketing and product development efforts.  

Market high-quality, differentiated products and services  

We continue to focus significant resources on attracting and retaining Internet access subscribers by providing them with fast and reliable 
access to the Internet through a variety of platforms and services. We are focused on deploying products and services that enhance customers’ 
Internet experiences, such as spamBlocker, Pop-Up Blocker , EarthLink Spyware Blocker , TotalAccess® with Parental Controls 
(including the EarthLink Kid Patrol Browser), Virus Blocker , ScamBlocker , EarthLink Protection Control Center, web browsing 
acceleration-related applications for value-priced and premium narrowband subscribers and various security products. In addition, we provide a 
customizable Personal Start Page  that lets subscribers create their own launch point to the Internet. We also offer premium services such as 
Internet call waiting, email by-phone, additional email storage or email addresses, gaming, music downloads and a photo center. We are 
devoted to delivering innovative products, services and applications that customers can use to enhance their Internet experiences and believe 
customer adoption of these innovative tools improves customer loyalty and reduces churn.  

We have always been committed to delivering high-quality customer service and technical support and have been recognized by several 
industry publications and groups as a leader in providing excellent customer service. We believe that a high level of customer satisfaction 
allows us to compete more effectively. We focus on the customer relationship in an effort to increase loyalty and reduce churn. In 2007, we 
will focus on increasing our advertising and other value-added services revenues without negatively impacting the customer experience through 
overly-intrusive advertising techniques. To do this, we will seek to increase the EarthLink start page utilization, seek partnerships to increase 
search traffic and revenues from non-access customers and offer new services, among other efforts.  
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Service Offerings  

Our service offerings include narrowband access over traditional telephone lines; broadband access via DSL, cable, satellite and wireless 
technologies; advertising and other value-added services; and web hosting.  

Narrowband Access  

Premium Dial-up Internet Access  

Dial-up, or narrowband, access is a way to access the Internet, using a modem to dial the Internet service provider’s node. A dial-up server 
type such as the Point-to-Point Protocol and TCP/IP protocols is used to establish a modem-to-modem link, which is then routed to the Internet. 
Our premium dial-up access is a subscription-based service that provides customers with access to the Internet and an interactive community 
offering a wide variety of content, features, services, applications, tools and 24/7 customer support. Revenues primarily consist of monthly fees 
charged to customers for dial-up Internet access.  

Value Dial-up Internet Access  

We provide value-priced Internet access services through our PeoplePC Online offering. Our value dial-up access is a subscription-based 
service that provides customers access to the Internet with limited functionality and support services at comparatively lower prices.  

Broadband Access  

High-Speed Internet Access  

High-speed access offers a high speed, always on Internet connection that uses a modem to supply an Internet connection across an 
existing home phone line. The Internet service doesn’t interfere with a customer’s voice service, so there is no need for a second phone line. 
We provide high-speed access services via DSL, cable and/or satellite and offer three different speeds of service (up to 1.5Mbps, 3.0Mbps and 
6.0Mbps). Availability for these services is based on the service provider, the distance from the provider’s equipment and what is available in 
the area. Our high-speed access service includes the same features and benefits included with our premium, dial-up access service. Broadband 
access revenues consist of monthly fees charged for high-speed, high-capacity access services including DSL, cable, satellite and dedicated 
circuit services; installation fees; early termination fees; reactivation fees; shipping and handling fees; and equipment revenues associated with 
the sale of modems and other access devices to our subscribers.  

Municipal Wireless Broadband  

Municipal wireless, or Wi-Fi, broadband access provides a fast, low cost Internet connection. Wi-Fi is short for wireless fidelity. It 
enables a person to connect his or her Wi-Fi enabled computer, cell phone or personal digital assistant (PDA) to the Internet or another Wi-Fi 
enabled device, without a traditional “wired” connection. We partner with city governments to fund, build and deploy a wireless broadband 
infrastructure to provide city-wide Internet access. Wi-Fi nodes are placed on light poles or other points of access throughout the city to create a 
“mesh network.” From these nodes, wireless signals are beamed between points (for seamless connectivity for users), and certain nodes will 
transmit Internet signals back to access towers that will “haul” the Internet traffic back (“backhaul”) to our landline network that will then 
transmit the Internet messages over the public Internet. These towers also will provide fixed wireless broadband support to government offices, 
and other standard businesses that might be in need of this type of fixed wireless broadband solution.  

We provide municipal Wi-Fi service under two brands, EarthLink Wi-Fi  and Feather by EarthLink. EarthLink Wi-Fi is available to 
consumers on a monthly subscription basis that includes home-based  
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connections and portable city-wide access. Feather by EarthLink offers free and occasional use access on our Wi-Fi network around the city. 
We currently offer municipal Wi-Fi service in the cities of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; Anaheim, California; New Orleans, Louisiana; and 
Milpitas, California. PeoplePC also offers municipal wireless service under the brand PeoplePC Wi-Fi.  

IP-Based Voice  

EarthLink DSL and Home Phone Service.    EarthLink DSL and Home Phone Service is a bundle offer that includes EarthLink high-speed 
Internet at speeds up to 8.0Mbp and home phone service. It combines the last mile of traditional telephone copper wiring with the advanced 
features of VoIP by taking advantage of the next-generation Digital Subscriber Line Access Multiplexer, or DSLAM, technology. We offer 
subscription-based service under various plans that include features such as voicemail, call waiting, caller ID, call forwarding and E911 
service. We currently offer this service in 12 markets in the U. S. covering approximately 10.0 million households.  

EarthLink trueVoice .    EarthLink trueVoice is a competitive alternative to traditional phone service available to EarthLink and non-
EarthLink high-speed Internet access subscribers. EarthLink trueVoice uses VoIP technology, which enables voice communications over the 
Internet through the conversion of voice signals into data packets. We offer subscription-based service under various plans that include features 
such as voicemail, call waiting, caller ID, call forwarding and E911 service.  

Business Services  

We provide high-speed access, hosted VPN networks and e-commerce solutions for business customers. In addition, through our wholly-
owned subsidiary, New Edge, we provide secure multi-site managed data networks and dedicated Internet access for businesses and 
communications carriers.  

Advertising and Other Value-Added Services  

We generate advertising revenues by leveraging the value of our customer base and user traffic; through paid placements for searches, 
powered by the Google  search engine; fees generated through revenue sharing arrangements with online partners whose products and 
services can be accessed through our properties; commissions received from partners for the sale of partners’ services to our subscribers; and 
sales of advertising on our various online properties, such as the Personal Start Page.  

We also offer services which are incremental to our Internet access services. Our value-added services portfolio includes products for 
protection, communication, performance and entertainment, such as security, web acceleration, Internet call waiting, mail storage, gaming, 
digital music and photo center, among others. We offer free and fee-based value-added services to both subscribers and non-subscribers, 
focused on making the Internet a more meaningful, secure experience.  

Web Hosting  

We lease server space and provide web hosting services to companies and individuals wishing to have an Internet or electronic commerce 
presence.  
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Service Enhancements  

Premium Dial Up and Broadband Internet Access  

Our premium dial-up and broadband Internet access offerings include TotalAccess, our Internet access software. This software provides 
tools and email features to enhance customers’ Internet experiences. Key features include the following applications and services at no 
additional charge:  

•        Pop-Up Blocker .   Pop-Up Blocker is software designed to prevent advertising windows from appearing above (pop-up) or under 
(pop-under) a customer’s main browser window. Pop-Up Blocker lets subscribers choose whether or not they want to view pop-up ads 
and rich media (Macromedia Flash) ads.  

•        spamBlocker .   spamBlocker is software that enables subscribers to eliminate virtually all junk email by invoking a ‘permission-based’ 
auto-response to spam and unrecognized email addresses.  

•        Spyware Blocker .   Spyware installs on a computer without the user’s knowledge or permission and can corrupt the user’s hard drive, 
track online activities, steal personal information or allow strangers to access a user’s computer. EarthLink Spyware Blocker is software 
that disables all common forms of spyware found on a user’s computer and blocks new spyware before it installs.  

•        ScamBlocker .   ScamBlocker is a consumer protection application designed to help protect Internet users from “phisher” site scams. 
Phisher scams trick consumers into giving personal information by mimicking legitimate corporate web sites.  

•        EarthLink Accelerator .   EarthLink Accelerator enables faster surfing speeds by utilizing a web acceleration technology that reduces 
the size of web pages and page elements sent to customers’ browsers.  

•        Virus Blocker .   Email is the most common way that computer viruses and other malicious software can infect a user’s computer. 
EarthLink Virus Blocker scans incoming email messages and attachments for viruses and other malicious code and removes them 
before they can cause infection.  

•        Parental Controls .   EarthLink Parental Controls let parents choose how long, when and with whom their kids play on the Internet.  

•        Protection Control Center .   EarthLink Protection Control Center is an integrated suite of protection and security features that provides 
a central location for customers to easily manage EarthLink AntiVirus, Spyware Blocker and EarthLink Firewall protection tools.  

Other features of Total Access include a task panel that provides one-click access to the Internet, email and personal web space; automatic 
notification when newer versions of relevant software are available; improved email features; and enhanced search features powered by 
Google.  

PeoplePC Online  

PeoplePC’s access software is distinct from TotalAccess. The PeoplePC software has fewer features and applications than TotalAccess 
and uses Smart Dialer technology that allows customers to access a fast and reliable connection. PeoplePC’s access software also includes web 
accelerator technology, Internet call waiting, virus protection, a pop-up blocker and spam filtering controls to enhance customers’ Internet 
experiences, all of which are similar to the functionality included in TotalAccess.  
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Marketing Channels  

Our sales and marketing efforts consist of the following programs:  

Advertising.    We advertise our services in print, billboard, electronic and broadcast media. We utilize various campaigns which may 
include national and regional television, radio, print and Internet ads. Our campaigns may also include sponsorships of various community 
programs and sporting events.  

Direct Marketing.    We promote our services directly to customers in the form of direct mail offers, which generally advertise a free or 
discounted trial period to incent consumers to sign-up for our services, and through promotional inserts in packages, periodicals and 
newspapers.  

Original Equipment Manufacturers.    We have marketing arrangements with a number of leading hardware and software manufacturers 
to include our Internet access software pre-installed on or included with their products. Our hardware and software manufacturing partners 
include, among numerous others, Dell Inc. (“Dell”) and Hewlett Packard.  

Retail.    We market our products and services through retail outlets such as Best Buy, Fry’s, Circuit City, RadioShack, Staples and 
OfficeMax.  

Affinity Marketing.    Our affinity marketing partners include many AAA clubs, AARP and several airlines including Delta, Northwest and 
Southwest. Partners typically bundle our Internet access software with their own goods or services to create a package that promotes EarthLink 
to potential customers.  

Network Infrastructure  

We provide subscribers with Internet access through both EarthLink-managed facilities and third-party telecommunications service 
providers. Approximately 95% and 92% of the U.S. population can access our premium-priced and value-priced access services, respectively, 
through a local telephone call. We have developed, maintain and operate a network of approximately 11,000 access numbers and maintain 
additional access numbers for backup and other purposes.  

We maintain a leased backbone connecting multiple cities and our technology centers. Our backbone is a networked loop of connections 
that we have acquired the right to use. Through a combination of backbone, peering and transit, our network is capable of supporting more than 
five gigabits per second of traffic at peak.  

We have network service agreements with Level 3 Communications, Inc., Verizon Communications Inc. (“Verizon”), Qwest Corporation 
(“Qwest”) and other carriers to provide dial-up services. We have agreements with Covad Communications Group, Inc. (“Covad”), AT&T Inc. 
(“AT&T”), Qwest and Verizon that allow us to provide DSL services. We also have agreements with Time Warner Cable, Bright House 
Networks and Comcast Corporation (“Comcast”) that allow us to provide broadband services over each company’s cable network in 
substantially all Time Warner Cable and Bright House Networks markets and certain Comcast markets.  

New Edge’s network is comprised of ATM/frame relay/DSL switches in central office collocations. In addition, New Edge has access 
under wholesale agreements to additional unique central offices throughout the U.S. It has interconnection agreements with all major local 
exchange carriers to lease DSL and T-1 unbundled network elements, as well as commercial services agreements with regional bell operating 
companies (“RBOCs”), competitive local exchange carriers (“CLECs”), and cable and satellite service providers to provide last mile 
connectivity onto its network. Taken together, the network provides coverage via frame relay, DSL, and/or T-1 access to service small and 
medium sized businesses and carriers alike.  
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Regulatory Environment  

Overview  

The regulatory environment relating to our business and operations continues to evolve. A number of legislative and regulatory proposals 
under consideration by federal, state and local governmental entities may lead to the repeal, modification or introduction of laws or regulations 
which do or could affect our business. Significant areas of regulation for our business include general telecommunications industry regulation, 
including our Internet access services and our VoIP services, broadband regulation, CLEC regulation and Internet taxation.  

Telecommunications Regulation  

Internet access.    Neither the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) nor any other governmental agency directly regulates 
Internet service providers (“ISPs”), which are classified as providers of unregulated “information services” rather than regulated 
“telecommunications services” under the Communications Act. Accordingly, most regulations which apply to telephone companies and other 
common carriers do not apply to us. For example, we are not currently required to contribute a percentage of gross revenues from our Internet 
access services to universal service funds used to support local telephone service and advanced telecommunications services for schools, 
libraries and rural health care facilities.  

The classification of Internet access services as “information services” generally precludes states from regulating ISPs as 
telecommunications carriers or imposing similar subsidy obligations. While some state commissions may continue to review potential 
regulation of these services, and their legal authority and ability to do so is unlikely, Internet-related regulatory policies are continuing to 
develop, and it is possible that we could be exposed to regulation in the future.  

We could also be affected by any change in the ability of customers to reach our network through dial-up telephone connections without 
any additional charges. The FCC has ruled that ISPs are not subject to payment of interstate interexchange access charges that apply to 
telecommunications carriers that use the local network. Local telephone companies typically assess charges on long distance companies for the 
use of the local telephone network to originate and terminate long distance calls, generally on a per-minute basis. Were there to be a regulatory 
change that would result in the imposition of access charges, it would adversely affect us because this would substantially increase our cost of 
providing ISP services.  

VoIP.    The current regulatory environment for VoIP services is still unclear. Traditional telephone service historically has been subject to 
extensive federal and state regulation, while Internet services generally have been subject to less regulation. Because some elements of VoIP 
resemble the services provided by traditional telephone companies and others resemble the services provided by ISPs, the VoIP industry has 
not fit easily within the existing framework of telecommunications law and until recently has developed in an environment largely free from 
regulation. The FCC has not yet ruled on whether VoIP services are “telecommunications services” or “information services.” A determination 
that the services constitute “telecommunications services” could adversely affect us if the ruling requires additional regulation. The FCC has 
already ruled that VoIP services are exclusively interstate and has barred the states from regulation. The FCC’s interstate ruling has been 
appealed in federal appellate court and if the FCC’s decision were reversed or remanded, it could adversely affect the provision of VoIP 
services by allowing state regulation.  

The FCC has also begun to assert regulatory authority over VoIP providers and is continuing to evaluate how VoIP will be regulated in 
the future. In addition, while some of the existing regulation concerning VoIP is applicable to the entire industry, some rulings are limited to 
individual companies or categories of service. As a result, the application of existing rules to us and our competitors remains contentious, and 
the effects of future regulatory developments are uncertain.  
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Our VoIP services are not currently subject to all of the same regulations that apply to traditional telephone services. It is possible that 
Congress and state legislatures, as well as the FCC, will seek to impose increased fees and administrative and regulatory burdens on VoIP 
providers that could adversely affect VoIP services. The FCC has already required VoIP providers that interconnect with the public switched 
telephone network to contribute directly into the federal Universal Service Fund, as well as to meet certain emergency service requirements 
(such as “E911”) that require VoIP providers to provide E911 capability to nomadic VoIP services and interception or wiretapping 
requirements, such as the Communications Assistance for Law Enforcement Act. The FCC may impose additional E911 requirements that 
could impose substantial costs on VoIP providers depending upon technical capability requirements. The FCC is also considering imposing 
disability access requirements, consumer protection requirements, number assignment, customer privacy, and portability requirements. Such 
regulations could result in substantial costs depending on the technical changes required to accommodate the requirements, and any increased 
costs could erode our pricing advantage over competing forms of communication.  

Broadband Access  

Broadband service access.    We purchase last mile broadband service access from incumbent local exchange carriers (“ILECs”), CLECs 
and cable providers. The term “last mile” generally refers to the element of telecommunications networks that is directly connected to homes 
and businesses. ILECs were previously required to make DSL-based broadband access service available on a non-discriminatory basis to ISPs 
like us. However, an FCC order published in September 2005 eliminated the FCC’s long-standing regulated access requirements. The FCC 
decision provides for a one-year transition period that ended in November 2006 for ISPs and others to negotiate access arrangements with 
ILECs that no longer choose to offer wholesale broadband transmission services on a regulated basis. EarthLink and other parties are 
challenging the FCC’s September 2005 order in federal appeals court. Our existing contracts with the ILECs are discussed below. However, 
these newly adopted policies will affect our ability to extend or renew our current contracts with the ILECs at the same terms and conditions 
and could adversely affect our ability to serve customers with DSL-based broadband access if we are unable to enter into favorable agreements. 

Cable providers have generally resisted granting us wholesale access to their networks to provide high-speed access services and have 
generally not been required by law to make access available to ISPs like us. In June 2005, the U.S. Supreme Court held that the FCC’s 
conclusion that cable modem service is an end-to-end unregulated “information service” was a reasonable interpretation of the 
Communications Act. Cable operators are thus not required to make last mile access available to ISPs on a non-discriminatory basis. The U.S. 
Supreme Court noted the FCC has jurisdiction to require nondiscriminatory access and the FCC has a proceeding to consider whether it should 
do so. The U.S. Supreme Court decision does not impact our existing agreements with cable wholesale broadband providers because contracts 
such as our agreement with Time Warner Cable are not predicated on regulated access. We offer broadband Internet access over cable to Time 
Warner Cable customers in substantially all of their markets, to Bright House Networks in six of their markets, and to Comcast customers in 
the Seattle, Boston, Houston, Memphis, Shreveport, Jackson and Minneapolis area markets.  

While the long-term implications of the U.S. Supreme Court decision and the FCC’s decisions are not certain, they may adversely affect 
our ability to sustain or grow our broadband access customer base and revenues, and our profitability. We will continue our efforts to partner 
with wholesale broadband providers, including cable providers, ILECs, CLECs and wireless providers, to expand our broadband footprint and 
the various technologies we can use in various markets to deliver our broadband services. To this end, we are attempting to gain access to a 
larger number of cable systems over which we can offer our services and to demonstrate our ability to deliver meaningful volumes of 
customers to our DSL and cable providers by continuing to actively grow our retail broadband subscriber base. We continue to evaluate the  
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commercial feasibility of emerging alternative broadband access technologies, including broadband over power lines and other technologies, to 
gain further wholesale broadband access in order to create greater retail broadband competition. We will also continue to offer products, 
features and services which enhance customers’ online experiences and thus create consumer demand.  

Wholesale network access.    In August 2003, the FCC issued its UNE Triennial Review Order which, among other things, eliminated line 
sharing over a three-year transition period. Line sharing allowed CLECs such as Covad, one of our largest providers of wholesale broadband 
access, to purchase the High Frequency Portion of the Loop (“HFPL”) from an ILEC for less than the cost of purchasing an entire line. 
Purchasing the HFPL as a separate Unbundled Network Element (“UNE”) allows Covad to offer wholesale DSL services to EarthLink on 
favorable rates and terms. In addition, the FCC has determined that ILECs are not required to offer to CLECs such as Covad fiber-based and 
hybrid fiber-based UNEs, meaning that as the ILECs deploy fiber throughout their networks, access to those consumers could be limited.  

Other.    In connection with the FCC’s approval of the merger of AT&T Corp. with BellSouth Communications, the FCC required the 
merged entity to commit to certain conditions, which could affect our operations. Generally, AT&T must abide by the conditions for 42 months 
(June 29, 2010) although specific conditions may have longer or shorter compliance periods. The conditions generally obligate AT&T to offer: 
all existing UNEs and collocations at current rates; high-capacity loops; special access services at current rates and on a non-discriminatory 
basis; wholesale ADSL transmission services at capped rates; rate rollbacks for DS1, DS3 and Ethernet services; service performance metrics 
for special access services; a commitment to abide by the FCC’s Net Neutrality Policy Statement; settlement-free Internet peering; divestiture 
of the 2.5 GHz spectrum held by BellSouth; and build-out requirements for the 2.3 GHz band. Many of these conditions could benefit our 
services, such as our line-powered voice services and New Edge’s services, by having a positive impact on our costs and provisioning for 
EarthLink and New Edge services. In addition, the net neutrality obligation could provide a positive long-term impact by facilitating consumer 
use of the Internet.  

These conditions benefit our services, such as the UNE-L and collocation rate certainty and availability which benefits our line-powered 
voice services and New Edge; the ADSL transmission requirement which mandates that services are offered; the special access conditions 
which should have a positive impact on costs and provisioning times to enterprise customers for New Edge and EarthLink services and could 
extend to our municipal wireless to the extent it uses special access for backhaul/network; and the net neutrality obligation which provides a 
positive long-term impact on constraining AT&T (and possibly other ILECs/cable operators) from engaging in overt discrimination and 
provides enforceable recourse in the event of discrimination.  

Broadband Access Agreements  

We have commercial agreements with varying terms with all of our significant broadband network providers. Our largest providers of 
broadband connectivity are Covad and Time Warner Cable. We also do lesser amounts of business with a wide variety of local, regional and 
other national providers. The following table summarizes the expiration dates for these agreements:  
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Broadband Network Provider          Contract Expiration  
Covad Communications Group Inc.  

   
Month-to-Month  

Comcast Corporation  
   

January 2009  
Verizon Communications Inc.  

   
October 2008  

AT&T (formerly BellSouth Corporation)  
   

December 2008  
Qwest Corporation  

   
November 2009  

Time Warner Cable/Bright House Networks  
   

November 2010  



Our contract with Covad automatically renews on a month-to-month basis, and the contract will continue to renew unless either party 
elects to terminate the contract. In the event that Covad elects to terminate the contract, we would have six months to transition our customers 
to other providers’ networks.  

We also purchase wholesale DSL service from AT&T affiliates. While we are currently negotiating a commercial DSL agreement with 
AT&T, AT&T continues to provide us with wholesale DSL services under pre-existing rates, terms and conditions. Pursuant to its FCC merger 
commitments, AT&T will continue to offer wholesale DSL to ISPs such as EarthLink until at least through June 2010.  

CLEC Regulation  

New Edge, our wholly-owned subsidiary, is a regulated CLEC. As such, New Edge relies on certain regulatory rights of CLECs to 
provide services to business and enterprise customers, including rights to last-mile UNEs of ILECs and rights to collocate New Edge 
equipment at the central offices of ILECs. As a CLEC, New Edge is also subject to federal and state regulation of its services, and it must 
comply with many telecommunications laws and regulations, such as contributing to state and federal Universal Service Funds. In addition, 
New Edge makes use of the special access services and DSL services of ILECs and other CLECs in order to provision New Edge services to its 
customers.  

Internet Taxation  

The Internet Tax Non-Discrimination Act, which was passed by Congress in November 2004 and signed into law in December 2004, 
renewed and extended until November 2007 a moratorium on taxes on Internet access and multiple, discriminatory taxes on electronic 
commerce. This moratorium had previously expired in November 2003. As with the preceding Internet Tax Freedom Act, “grandfathered” 
states which taxed Internet access prior to October 1998 may continue to do so. Certain states have enacted various taxes on Internet access 
and/or electronic commerce, and selected states’ taxes are being contested on a variety of bases. However, state tax laws may not be 
successfully contested, and future state and federal laws imposing taxes or other regulations on Internet access and electronic commerce may 
arise, any of which could increase the cost of providing Internet services and could materially adversely affect our business.  

Competition  

Internet services.    We operate in the Internet services market, which is extremely competitive. Current and prospective competitors 
include many large companies that have substantially greater market presence and greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources 
than we have. Competition in the market for Internet access services is likely to continue increasing, and competition impacts the pricing of our 
services, sales and marketing costs to acquire new subscribers and the number of customers that discontinue using our services, or churn.  

VoIP services.    The market for VoIP services is emerging, intensely competitive, and characterized by rapid technological change. Many 
traditional telecommunications carriers and cable providers offer, or have indicated that they plan to offer, VoIP services that compete with the 
services we provide. Competitors for our VoIP services include established telecommunications and cable companies; Internet access 
companies; leading Internet companies; and companies that offer VoIP-based services as their primary business.  

Other services.    We compete for advertising revenues with major ISPs, content providers, large web publishers, web search engine and 
portal companies, Internet advertising providers, content aggregation companies, social-networking web sites, and various other companies that 
facilitate Internet advertising. Competition in the market for advertising services may impact the rates we charge.  
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While the personal web hosting business is fragmented, a number of significant companies, including Yahoo!, currently compete actively 
for these users. In addition, the personal web-hosting industry is very application specific, with many of the competitors focusing on specific 
applications, such as photo sharing, to generate additional users.  

Proprietary Rights  

We rely on a combination of copyright, trademark, patent and trade secret laws and contractual restrictions to establish and protect 
technology and proprietary rights and information. We require employees and consultants and, when possible, suppliers and distributors to sign 
confidentiality agreements. From time to time, third parties have alleged that certain of our trademarks and technologies infringe on their 
intellectual property rights. To date, none of these claims has had an adverse effect on our ability to market and sell our services.  

Employees  

As of December 31, 2006, we employed 2,210 permanent and temporary employees, including 496 sales and marketing personnel, 1,356 
operations and customer support personnel and 358 administrative personnel. None of our employees are represented by a labor union, and we 
have no collective bargaining agreement.  

Available Information  

We file annual, quarterly, and current reports, proxy statements, and other documents with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the 
“SEC”) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The public may read and copy any materials that we file with the SEC at the 
SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public 
Reference Room by calling the SEC at (202) 942-8090. Also, the SEC maintains an Internet web site that contains reports, proxy and 
information statements, and other information regarding issuers, including EarthLink, that file electronically with the SEC. The public can 
obtain any documents that we file with the SEC at http://www.sec.gov.  

We also make available free of charge on or through our Internet web site (http://www.earthlink.net) our Annual Report on Form 10-K, 
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and, if applicable, amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to 
Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as well as Section 16 reports filed on Forms 3, 4 and 5, as soon as 
reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Our Internet web site is not meant to be 
incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

We also provide a copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K via mail, at no cost, upon receipt of a written request to the following 
address:  

Investor Relations  
EarthLink, Inc.  
1375 Peachtree Street  
Atlanta, GA 30309  
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Item 1A.                 Risk Factors.  

The following risk factors and other information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K should be carefully considered. The risks 
and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we 
currently deem immaterial also may adversely impact our business operations. If any of the following risks occur, our business, financial 
condition, operating results and cash flows could be materially adversely affected.  

Risks Related To Our Business in General  

We may not successfully enhance existing or develop new products and services in a cost-effective manner to meet customer demand in the 
rapidly evolving market for Internet, wireless and IP-based voice communications services, including new products and services offered in 
connection with our voice and municipal broadband network growth initiatives, and we expect these growth initiatives not to be profitable 
in their early stages.  

The market for Internet and telecommunications services is characterized by rapidly changing technology, evolving industry standards, 
changes in customer needs and frequent new service and product introductions. We are currently focused on utilizing IP-based technologies to 
deliver voice services and deploying wireless networks to deliver broadband services, among others. Our future success will depend, in part, on 
our ability to use leading technologies effectively, to continue to develop our technical expertise, to enhance our existing services and to 
develop new services that meet changing customer needs on a timely and cost-effective basis. We may not be able to adapt quickly enough to 
changing technology, customer requirements and industry standards. If we fail to use new technologies effectively, to develop our technical 
expertise and new services, or to enhance existing services on a timely basis, either internally or through arrangements with third parties, our 
product and service offerings may fail to meet customer needs which would adversely affect our revenues and prospects for growth.  

We have spent and will continue to spend significant resources enhancing our existing services and developing, acquiring, implementing 
and launching new services, such as voice services and wireless broadband services. We believe IP-based voice services and wireless 
broadband services represent significant growth opportunities and may require significant investment. These investments consist of initial 
product development and infrastructure costs, followed by sales and marketing costs to add customers who generate recurring revenues. The 
operating models for these services are similar to the ISP operating model upon which we have based our current core operations. Specifically, 
after developing an infrastructure to support the offering, we plan to invest in sales and marketing to add customers who generate recurring 
revenues, while incurring customer support and telecommunications costs to provide the services. Losses are expected to result in the early 
stages of these products’ life cycles until a sufficient amount of customers are added whose recurring revenues, net of recurring costs, more 
than offset sales and marketing expenses incurred to add additional customers.  

Our service offerings may fail to be competitive with existing and new competitors.  

Competition for our Internet Access Services  

The Internet services market is extremely competitive. Current and prospective competitors include many large companies that have 
substantially greater market presence and greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources than we have. We compete directly or 
indirectly with the following categories of companies:  

•        established online services companies, such as Time Warner (AOL) and the Microsoft Network (MSN);  

•        local and regional ISPs;  
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•        free or value-priced ISPs such as United Online;  

•        national telecommunications companies, such as AT&T and Verizon Communications Inc.;  

•        regional Bell operating companies, such as Qwest;  

•        content companies, such as Yahoo! and Google, who have expanded their service offerings;  

•        cable companies providing broadband access, including Comcast, Charter Communications, Inc. and Cox Communications, Inc.;  

•        local and long distance telephone companies;  

•        municipalities and other entities operating municipal wireless networks, some of which are free or subsidized;  

•        wireless Internet service providers using licensed or unlicensed spectrum;  

•        satellite and fixed wireless service providers offering or developing broadband Internet connectivity;  

•        electric utilities and other providers offering or planning to offer broadband Internet connectivity over power lines; and  

•        resellers providing wireless Internet or other wireless services using infrastructure developed and operated by others.  

Competition is likely to continue increasing, particularly as large diversified telecommunications and media companies continue to 
provide ISP services. Diversified competitors may continue to bundle other content, services and products with Internet access services, 
potentially placing us at a significant competitive disadvantage. The ability to bundle services, as well as the financial strength and the benefits 
of scale enjoyed by certain of these competitors, may enable them to offer services at prices that are below the prices at which we can offer 
comparable services. If we cannot compete effectively with these service providers, our revenues and growth may be adversely affected.  

Because we operate in a highly competitive environment, the number of subscribers we are able to add may decline, the cost of acquiring 
new subscribers through our own sales and marketing efforts may increase, and/or churn may increase. Increased churn rates indicate more 
customers are discontinuing services which results in a decrease in our customer base and adversely impacts revenues.  

Competition in the Telephony Market  

The market for VoIP services is emerging, intensely competitive, and characterized by rapid technological change. Many traditional 
telecommunications carriers and cable providers offer, or have indicated that they plan to offer, VoIP services that compete with the services 
we provide. Competitors for our VoIP services include established telecommunications and cable companies; Internet access companies 
including AOL and MSN; leading Internet companies including Yahoo!, eBay and Google; and companies that offer VoIP-based services as 
their primary business, such as Vonage. In addition, some competitors, such as telecommunications carriers and cable providers, may be able to 
bundle services and products that we do not offer with VoIP telephony services. These services could include various forms of wireless 
communications, voice and data services, and video services. This form of bundling would put us at a competitive disadvantage if these 
providers can combine a variety of service offerings at a single attractive price. We can provide no assurance that our VoIP services will 
achieve significant consumer adoption or, even if such services do achieve consumer adoption, that our VoIP services will generate growth in 
subscribers or revenues.  
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Many of our current and potential competitors for VoIP services have longer operating histories, are substantially larger, and have greater 
financial, marketing, technical, and other resources. Many also have greater name recognition and a larger installed base of customers than us. 
Because of their greater resources, many current and potential competitors may be able to lower their prices substantially, which could 
eliminate our ability to offer price-competitive services. As a result, our VoIP customer base and revenues would be adversely affected.  

Competition for Other Services  

We compete for advertising revenues with major ISPs, content providers, large web publishers, web search engine and portal companies, 
Internet advertising providers, content aggregation companies, social-networking web sites, and various other companies that facilitate Internet 
advertising. Many of our competitors have longer operating histories, greater name recognition, larger user bases and significantly greater 
financial and sales and marketing resources than us. This may allow them to devote greater resources to the development, promotion and sale 
of advertising services.  

The companies we compete with for Internet access subscribers also compete with us for subscribers to value-added services, such as 
email storage and security products. In certain cases, companies offer value-added services for free, and we can provide no assurance that our 
offerings will remain competitive or commercially viable. While the personal web hosting business is fragmented, a number of significant 
companies, including Yahoo!, currently compete actively for these users. In addition, the personal web hosting industry is very application 
specific, with many of the competitors focusing on specific applications, such as photo sharing, to generate additional users. We can provide no 
assurance that any of these value-added services will remain competitive or will generate customer and revenue growth.  

Competitive product, price or marketing pressures could cause us to lose existing customers to competitors (churn), or may cause us to 
reduce prices for our services which could adversely impact average revenue per user.  

Competition impacts our ability to price our services and retain customers. As the market for Internet access remains competitive, some 
providers have reduced and may continue to reduce the retail price of their Internet services to maintain or increase their market share, which 
would cause us to reduce, or prevent us from raising, our prices and potentially causing our subscriber base to decrease. We may encounter 
further market pressures to migrate existing customers to lower-priced service offering packages; restructure service offering packages to offer 
more value; reduce prices; and respond to particular short-term, market-specific situations, such as special introductory pricing or new product 
or service offerings. As a result, our revenues could be adversely impacted and our business may suffer. Additionally, we may incur increased 
sales and marketing expenses in an effort to maintain our existing customers or to attract new customers, which would adversely impact our 
profitability.  

We continue to implement plans to address churn, which is adversely affected by increased competition. Our efforts to reduce churn focus 
on improving the customer’s Internet experience and enhancing service offerings. However, we can provide no assurance that our plans will be 
successful in mitigating the adverse impact increased churn may have on our subscriber base and operating results. In addition, competitive 
factors outside of our control may also adversely affect future rates of customer churn. If we experience an increase in monthly churn rates, or 
if we are unable to attract new subscribers in numbers sufficient to increase or maintain the level of our overall subscriber base, our business, 
financial position, results of operations and cash flows could be adversely affected.  
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We may be unsuccessful in making and integrating acquisitions and investments into our business, which could result in operating 
difficulties, losses and other adverse consequences.  

We have acquired and invested in businesses in the past, including the acquisition of New Edge in April 2006. We also have historically 
acquired subscriber bases from ISPs.  

We expect to continue to evaluate and consider a wide array of potential strategic transactions that we believe may complement our 
current or future business activities, including acquisitions and dispositions of businesses, technologies, services, products and other assets. At 
any given time, we may be engaged in discussions or negotiations with respect to one or more of such transactions that may be material to our 
financial condition and results of operations. There can be no assurance that any such discussions or negotiations will result in the 
consummation of any transaction. The process of integrating any acquired business or assets may create unforeseen operating difficulties and 
expenditures and is itself risky. Acquisitions and investments create difficulties or risks such as:  

•        diversion of management time, as well as a shift in focus from operating the business to issues of integration and future products;  

•        declining employee morale and retention issues resulting from changes in compensation, reporting relationships, future prospects or the 
direction of the business;  

•        the need to integrate each company’s accounting, management information, human resource and other administrative systems to permit 
effective management, and the lack of control if such integration is delayed or not implemented;  

•        the need to implement controls, procedures and policies appropriate for a larger public company at companies that, prior to acquisition, 
had lacked such controls, procedures and policies;  

•        the need to remediate significant control deficiencies that may exist at acquired companies, which, if unremediated, could result in a 
material weakness or significant deficiency in our internal control structure;  

•        in some cases, the need to transition operations, users, and/or customers onto our existing platforms;  

•        the potential impairment of customer and other relationships as a result of any integration of operations;  

•        the potential unknown liabilities associated with a company we acquire or in which we invest; and  

•        the potential impairment of amounts capitalized as intangible assets as part of an acquisition.  

Additionally, as a result of future acquisitions or investments, we may issue additional equity securities, which could dilute existing 
shareholders’ interests. We may also spend our cash or incur debt or contingent liabilities to complete transactions which could adversely affect 
our liquidity. Lastly, as a result of acquisitions, we would record amortization expenses related to acquired definite lived intangible assets, 
which would adversely affect our results of operations.  

The continued decline of our narrowband revenues could adversely affect our profitability and adversely impact our ability to invest in our 
growth initiatives.  

The number of U.S. households using broadband has grown significantly over the last few years and is expected to continue to grow. 
Broadband access generally offers users faster connection and download speeds than narrowband access. Pricing for broadband services, 
particularly for introductory promotional periods; services bundled with cable and telephone services; and services with slower speeds has been 
declining and is approaching prices for premium narrowband services. As a result of broadband adoption,  
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the total number of narrowband accounts in the U.S. has declined, and industry analysts predict the total number of narrowband accounts will 
continue to decline. The decline in the size of the narrowband market will likely continue as broadband services become more widely available 
at lower prices and consumer adoption of broadband applications, such as online video, telephony and music downloads which depend upon 
connections that provide significant bandwidth, increases.  

Our premium-priced narrowband service is our most profitable service offering; however, consistent with trends in the market for 
narrowband access, our premium-priced narrowband subscriber base and revenues have been declining. We expect our premium-priced 
narrowband subscriber base and revenues to continue to decline, which could adversely affect our results of operations in the future and 
adversely impact our ability to invest in our growth businesses.  

We may not be able to successfully manage the costs associated with delivering our broadband services, which could adversely affect our 
ability to grow or sustain revenues and our profitability.  

As of December 31, 2006, subscribers for our broadband services comprised approximately 36% of our total customer base, and our 
broadband services favorably contribute to our overall average monthly service revenue per subscriber. However, our ability to provide these 
services profitably is dependent upon cost-effectively purchasing wholesale broadband access and managing the costs associated with 
delivering broadband services.  

The costs associated with delivering broadband services include recurring service costs such as telecommunications and customer support 
costs as well as costs incurred to add new broadband customers, such as sales and marketing and installation and hardware costs. While we 
continuously evaluate cost reduction opportunities associated with the delivery of broadband access services to improve our profitability, our 
overall profitability would be adversely affected if we are unable to continue to manage and reduce recurring service costs associated with the 
delivery of broadband services and costs incurred to add new broadband customers.  

Companies may not provide last mile wireline broadband access to us on a wholesale basis or on terms or at prices that allow us to grow 
and be profitable.  

We provide our wireline broadband services to customers using the last mile element of telecommunications and cable companies’ 
networks. The term “last mile” generally refers to the element of the network that is directly connected to homes and businesses. We have 
agreements with several network providers that allow us to use the last mile element of their network to provide high-speed Internet access 
services via DSL or cable. The availability of and charges for access with any of our network providers at the expiration of current terms 
cannot be assured and may reflect legislative or regulatory as well as competitive and business factors. We cannot be certain of renewal or non-
termination of our contracts. Our results of operations could be materially adversely affected if we are unable to renew or extend contracts with 
our current network providers on acceptable terms, renew or extend current contracts with network providers at all, acquire similar network 
capacity from other network providers, or otherwise maintain or extend our footprint.  

One of our largest network providers of wholesale broadband access is Covad, a CLEC. Covad has agreements with varying terms with 
many of the ILECs; however, if Covad is unable to continue to obtain reasonable line-sharing rates due to recent legal and regulatory 
developments or otherwise, its wholesale broadband access services may become uneconomic or it may cease selling wholesale broadband 
access services. In either event, we may be able to use other wholesale broadband providers’ networks to continue to provide retail broadband 
services. Such events may cause us to incur additional costs, pay increased rates for wholesale broadband access services, cause us to increase 
the retail prices of our broadband  
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service offerings and/or may cause us to discontinue providing retail DSL services, any of which would adversely affect our ability to compete 
in the market for retail broadband access services.  

An order adopted in 2005 by the FCC reclassified wireline broadband services as information services and eliminated the FCC’s long-
standing non-discriminatory access requirements. While the long-term implications of the FCC’s new policies are not certain, they may 
adversely affect our ability to sustain or grow our broadband access customer base and revenues, and our profitability. We will continue our 
efforts to partner with wholesale broadband providers, including cable providers, ILECs, CLECs and wireless providers, to expand our 
broadband footprint and the various technologies we can use in various markets to deliver our broadband services. However, we can provide no 
assurance that we will be successful in our efforts.  

Each of our telecommunications vendors provides network access to some of our competitors and could choose to grant those competitors 
preferential network access or pricing. Many of our telecommunications providers compete with us in the market to provide consumer Internet 
access. As a result, any or all of our current telecommunications service providers could discontinue providing us with service at rates 
acceptable to us, or at all, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial position and results of operations.  

Our commercial and alliance arrangements may be terminated or may not be as beneficial as anticipated, which could adversely affect our 
ability to increase our subscriber base.  

A significant number of our subscribers have been generated through strategic alliances. Generally, our strategic alliances and marketing 
relationships are not exclusive. In addition, as our agreements expire or otherwise terminate, we may be unable to renew or replace these 
agreements on comparable terms, or at all. Our inability to maintain our marketing relationships or establish new marketing relationships could 
result in delays and increased costs in adding paying subscribers and adversely affect our ability to increase or sustain the size of our subscriber 
base, which could, in turn, have a material adverse effect on us. The number of customers we are able to add through these marketing 
relationships is dependent on the marketing efforts of our partners, and a significant decrease in the number of gross subscriber additions 
generated through these relationships could adversely affect the size of our customer base and revenues. During 2006, we and Embarq agreed 
that our wholesale broadband contract would not be renewed following the contract’s expiration in April 2007. During the years ended 
December 31, 2005 and 2006, our relationship with Embarq generated more than 10% of our total gross organic subscriber additions. As of 
December 31, 2006, our broadband subscriber count and total subscriber count included approximately 755,000 subscribers under the 
marketing relationship.  

We utilize third-parties for technical and customer support and certain billing services, and our business may suffer if our partners are 
unable to provide these services, cannot expand to meet our needs or terminate their relationships with us.  

Our business and financial results depend, in part, on the availability and quality of our customer support services and billing services. We 
outsource a majority of our technical and customer support functions. As a result, we maintain only a small number of internal customer 
service and technical support personnel. We are not currently equipped to provide the necessary range of customer service functions in the 
event that our service providers become unable or unwilling to offer these services to us. Our outsourced contact center service providers utilize 
several internationally geographically dispersed locations to provide us with technical and customer support services, and as a result, our 
contact center service providers may become subject to financial, economic, and political risks beyond our or the providers’ control, which 
could jeopardize their ability to deliver customer support services. We also utilize third parties for certain billing services. If one or more of our 
service providers does not provide us with quality services, or if our relationship with any of our third parties terminates and we are unable to 
provide  
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those services internally or identify a replacement vendor in an orderly, cost-effective and timely manner, our business, financial position and 
results of operations would suffer.  

Service interruptions or impediments could harm our business.  

We may experience service interruptions or system failures in the future. Any service interruption adversely affects our ability to operate 
our business and could result in an immediate loss of revenues. If we experience frequent or persistent system or network failures, our 
reputation and brand could be permanently harmed. We may make significant capital expenditures to increase the reliability of our systems, but 
these capital expenditures may not achieve the results we expect.  

Harmful software programs.    Our network infrastructure and the networks of our third-party providers are vulnerable to damaging 
software programs, such as computer viruses and worms. Certain of these programs have disabled the ability of computers to access the 
Internet, requiring users to obtain technical support in order to gain access to the Internet. Other programs have had the potential to damage or 
delete computer programs. The development and widespread dissemination of harmful programs has the potential to seriously disrupt Internet 
usage. If Internet usage is significantly disrupted for an extended period of time, or if the prevalence of these programs results in decreased 
residential Internet usage, our business could be materially and adversely impacted.  

Security breaches.    We depend on the security of our networks and, in part, on the security of the network infrastructures of our third-
party telecommunications service providers, our outsourced customer support service providers and our other vendors. Unauthorized or 
inappropriate access to, or use of, our network, computer systems and services could potentially jeopardize the security of confidential 
information, including credit card information, of our users and of third parties. Some consumers and businesses have in the past used our 
network, services and brand names to perpetrate crimes and may do so in the future. Users or third parties may assert claims of liability against 
us as a result of any failure by us to prevent these activities. Although we use security measures, there can be no assurance that the measures we 
take will be successfully implemented or will be effective in preventing these activities. Further, the security measures of our third-party 
network providers, our outsourced customer support service providers and our other vendors may be inadequate. These activities may subject 
us to legal claims, may adversely impact our reputation, and may interfere with our ability to provide our services, all of which could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.  

Natural disaster or other catastrophic event.    Our operations and services depend on the extent to which our computer equipment and the 
computer equipment of our third-party network providers are protected against damage from fire, flood, earthquakes, power loss, 
telecommunications failures, break-ins, acts of war or terrorism and similar events. We have three technology centers at various locations in the 
U.S. which contain a significant portion of our computer and electronic equipment. These technology centers host and manage Internet content, 
email, web hosting and authentication applications and services. Despite precautions taken by us and our third-party network providers, over 
which we have no control, a natural disaster or other unanticipated problem that impacts one of our locations or our third-party providers’ 
networks could cause interruptions in the services that we provide. Such interruptions in our services could have a material adverse effect on 
our ability to provide Internet services to our subscribers and, in turn, on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Network infrastructure.    The success of our business depends on the capacity, reliability and security of our network infrastructure, 
including that of our third-party telecommunications providers’ networks. We may be required to expand and improve our infrastructure and/or 
purchase additional capacity from third-party providers to meet the needs of an increasing number of subscribers and to accommodate the 
expanding amount and type of information our customers communicate over the Internet. Such expansion and improvement may require 
substantial financial, operational and managerial resources.  
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Government regulations could force us to change our business practices.  

Internet access.    Changes in the regulatory environment regarding the Internet could cause our revenues to decrease and/or our costs to 
increase. Currently, ISPs as “information service” providers, are largely unregulated, other than with respect to regulations that govern 
businesses generally, such as regulations related to consumer protection. As information services and telecommunications services converge, 
however, the FCC may seek to impose additional regulations, including the imposition of regulatory fees such as Universal Service Fund 
payments, on information service providers that could adversely affect our business.  

VoIP.    The current regulatory environment for VoIP services remains unclear. Our VoIP services are not currently subject to all of the 
same regulations that apply to traditional telephony. It is possible that Congress and some state legislatures may seek to impose increased fees 
and administrative burdens on VoIP providers. The FCC has already required certain VoIP providers to contribute directly into the Universal 
Service Fund as well as to meet various emergency service requirements (such as E911) and interception or wiretapping requirements, such as 
the Communications Assistance for Law Enforcement Act, or CALEA. In addition the FCC may seek to impose other traditional telephony 
requirements such as disability access requirements, consumer protection requirements, number assignment and portability requirements, and 
other obligations, including additional obligations regarding E911 and CALEA. Such regulations could result in substantial costs depending on 
the technical changes required to accommodate the requirements, and any increased costs could erode our pricing advantage over competing 
forms of communication and may adversely affect our business.  

CLEC regulation.    New Edge is a regulated CLEC. Telecommunications laws and regulations applicable to CLECs have been subject to 
change and to reversal by the courts, and we cannot be certain that such changes will not continue to occur in the future. Our results of 
operations could be materially, adversely affected by future changes of these legal and regulatory rights or obligations. In addition, New Edge 
makes use of ILECs and other CLECS. Such services are often made available by regulation. Changes in such regulation that might curtail 
New Edge’s access to such services or that would otherwise negatively impact the rates or conditions of such services for New Edge could 
have a material adverse impact on our operations.  

Tax.    The tax treatment of activities on or relating to the Internet is currently unsettled. A number of proposals have been made at the 
federal, state and local levels and by foreign governments that could impose taxes on the online sale of goods and services and other Internet 
activities. Future federal and state laws imposing taxes on the provision of goods and services over the Internet could make it substantially 
more expensive to operate our business.  

Other.    Our business is also subject to a variety of other U.S. laws and regulations that could subject us to liabilities, claims or other 
remedies, such as laws relating to bulk email or “spam,” access to various types of content by minors, anti-spyware initiatives, encryption, data 
protection, data retention, security breaches and consumer protection. Compliance with these laws and regulations is complex and may require 
significant costs. In addition, the regulatory framework relating to Internet services is evolving and both the federal government and states from 
time to time pass legislation that impacts our business. It is likely that additional laws and regulations will be adopted that would affect our 
business. We cannot predict the impact future regulatory changes or developments may have on our business, financial condition, results of 
operations or cash flows. The enactment of any additional laws or regulations, increased enforcement activity of existing laws and regulations, 
or claims by individuals could significantly impact our costs or the manner in which we conduct business, all of which could adversely impact 
our results of operations and cause our business to suffer.  
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Changes in, or interpretations of, laws regarding consumer protection could subject us to liability or cause us to change our practices.  

Consumer protection laws and enforcement actions regarding advertising and user privacy, especially relating to children, are becoming 
more prevalent. The Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) and some state Attorney General offices have conducted investigations into the 
privacy practices of companies that collect information about individuals on the Internet. The FTC has also investigated Internet service 
providers in connection with marketing, billing, customer retention, cancellation and disclosure practices. Various state agencies as well as 
individuals have also asserted claims against, or instituted inquiries into, Internet service providers in connection with marketing, billing, 
customer retention, cancellation and disclosure practices. Although we believe that we comply with applicable consumer protection laws, we 
cannot assure you that our services and business practices, or changes to our services and business practices, will not subject us to claims and 
liability by private parties, the FTC or other governmental agencies.  

We may not be able to protect our proprietary technologies or successfully defend infringement claims and may be required to enter 
licensing arrangements on unfavorable terms.  

We regard our trademarks, service marks, copyrights, patents, trade secrets, proprietary technologies, domain names and similar 
intellectual property as critical to our success. We rely on trademark, copyright and patent law; trade secret protection; and confidentiality 
agreements with our employees, customers, partners and others to protect our proprietary rights. The efforts we have taken to protect our 
proprietary rights may not be sufficient or effective. Third parties may infringe or misappropriate our copyrights, trademarks, patents and 
similar proprietary rights. If we are unable to protect our proprietary rights from unauthorized use, our brand image may be harmed and our 
business may suffer.  

The protection of our trademarks, service marks, copyrights, patents, trade secrets, domain names, proprietary technologies and 
intellectual property may require the expenditure of significant financial and managerial resources. Moreover, we can not be certain the steps 
we take to protect these assets will adequately protect our rights or that others will not independently develop or otherwise acquire equivalent 
or superior technology or other intellectual property rights. Such events could substantially diminish the value of our technology and property 
which could adversely affect our business.  

We may be accused of infringing upon the intellectual property rights of third parties, which is costly to defend and could limit our ability to 
use certain technologies in the future.  

Internet, technology and media companies often possess a significant number of patents. Further, many of these companies and other 
parties are actively developing or purchasing Internet-related technologies. We believe that these parties will continue to take steps to protect 
these technologies, including, but not limited to, seeking patent protection. As a result, disputes regarding the ownership of technologies and 
rights associated with online business are likely to continue to arise in the future.  

From time to time, third parties have alleged that we infringed on their proprietary rights. We have been subject to, and expect to continue 
to be subject to, claims and legal proceedings regarding alleged infringement by us of the patents, trademarks and other intellectual property 
rights of third parties. None of these claims has had an adverse effect on our ability to market and sell and support our Internet access services. 
As we expand our business and develop new technologies, products and services, we may become increasingly subject to intellectual property 
infringement claims. Such claims, whether or not meritorious, may result in the expenditure of significant financial and managerial resources, 
injunctions against us or the imposition of damages that we must pay. We may need to obtain licenses from third parties who allege that we 
have infringed their rights, but such licenses may not be available on acceptable terms or at all. In addition, we may not be able to obtain or 
utilize on terms which are acceptable to us, or at all, licenses or other rights with respect to intellectual property we do not own in providing 
and supporting our service  
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offerings. Any of these could result in increases in operating expenses or could limit or reduce the number of our service offerings.  

If we are unable to successfully defend against legal actions, we could face substantial liabilities.  

We are currently a party to various legal actions, including class action litigation. Defending against these lawsuits may involve significant 
expense and diversion of management’s attention and resources from other matters. Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation, we may not 
prevail in these actions. In addition, our ongoing operations may subject us to litigation risks and costs in the future. Both the costs of 
defending lawsuits and any settlements or judgments against us could materially and adversely affect our operating expenses and liquidity.  

Our business depends on the continued development of effective business support systems, processes and personnel.  

In recent years, we have expanded our service offerings and will endeavor to expand further by offering new products and services to 
maintain and increase our customer base. Such expansion increases the complexity of our business and places a significant strain on our 
management, operations, financial resources, and internal financial control and reporting functions. Our current and planned personnel, 
systems, procedures and controls may not be adequate to support and effectively manage our growth initiatives which would strain our 
management, operational and financial resources. Consequently, we may not be able to hire, train, retain, motivate and manage required 
personnel and develop, implement, and manage adequate systems, procedures and controls to support new products and services, which may 
limit our growth potential and adversely affect our business.  

Additionally, our business relies on our financial reporting and data systems, including our billing systems, which have grown 
increasingly complex due to the diversification and complexity of our business. Our ability to operate our business efficiently depends on these 
systems, and if we are unable to modify or develop new systems to support our growth initiatives, our business will be adversely affected.  

We may be unable to hire and retain sufficient qualified personnel, and the loss of any of our key executive officers could adversely affect 
us.  

We believe that our success will depend in large part on our ability to attract and retain highly skilled, knowledgeable, sophisticated and 
qualified managerial, professional and technical personnel. We may have limited or no experience in new product and service initiatives, 
making it more important to find qualified personnel. We have experienced significant competition in attracting and retaining personnel who 
possess the skills that we are seeking. As a result of this competition, we may experience a shortage of qualified personnel. In addition, the loss 
of any of our key executives, including the recent death of Charles G. Betty, our former Chief Executive Officer, could have a material adverse 
effect on us. Mr. Betty was very experienced in the industry and had a long history with EarthLink. His loss could have a negative impact on 
our results of operations or on our ability to carry out our growth initiatives.  

Additional Risks related to Our Growth Initiatives  

We may not be successful in entering into arrangements with municipalities to build out and operate municipal wireless broadband 
networks and we may not obtain a sufficient number of subscribers to generate the returns anticipated on our investments to construct and 
deploy municipal wireless broadband networks.  

An important element of our business strategy is to deploy competitive alternatives to DSL and cable for delivering broadband Internet 
access services, reflected in our municipal wireless initiative. We have begun to operate networks in the cities of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; 
Anaheim, California; Milpitas, California; and New Orleans, Louisiana. We are pursuing additional similar arrangements with other  
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municipalities, but there is no assurance that we will be successful in these efforts. The municipal network business is a largely untested 
business model and we may not obtain the subscriber levels required to earn a return on our investment in this business. The success of our 
municipal wireless service depends on growth in the number of municipal wireless broadband users, which in part depends on wider public 
acceptance of this service. Our municipal wireless broadband services may not achieve consumer adoption or, even if these services do achieve 
consumer adoption, we may not be able generate growth in subscribers or revenue. In addition, this initiative may result in significant capital 
expenditures in future periods to develop, implement and build wireless broadband networks in various municipalities, and we may not 
generate the returns anticipated on the capital expenditures and operating losses that may be incurred in this effort.  

Municipal wireless networks may not perform as expected or may result in unanticipated costs, which could increase our churn and our 
cost of providing services.  

Municipal wireless networks may not perform as we expect, and therefore we may not be able to deliver the quality or types of service we 
expect. We also may discover unanticipated costs associated with deploying and maintaining our network or delivering services we must offer 
in order to remain competitive. These risks could reduce our subscriber growth, increase our costs of providing services or increase our 
subscriber churn.  

We may experience difficulties in constructing, upgrading and maintaining our municipal wireless network, which could adversely affect 
customer satisfaction, increase subscriber churn and reduce our revenues.  

The success of our municipal wireless broadband initiative depends on developing and providing services that give subscribers a high 
quality experience. We expect to expend significant resources in constructing, maintaining and improving our network. Additionally, as the 
number of subscribers using our network increases, as the usage habits of our subscribers change and as we increase our service offerings, we 
may need to upgrade our network to maintain or improve the quality of our services. If we do not successfully implement upgrades to our 
network, the quality of our services may decline and the rate of our subscriber churn may increase.  

We may experience quality deficiencies, cost overruns and delays with our construction, maintenance and upgrade projects including the 
portions of those projects not within our control. The construction of our network requires permits and approvals from numerous governmental 
bodies, including municipalities and zoning boards. Such entities often limit the expansion of transmission towers and other construction 
necessary for our network. Failure to receive approvals in a timely fashion can delay system rollouts and raise the cost of completing 
construction projects. In addition, we typically are required to obtain rights from land, building and tower owners to install the antennas and 
other equipment that provide our service to our subscribers. We may not be able to obtain, on terms acceptable to us or at all, the rights 
necessary to construct our network and expand our services.  

We also may face challenges in managing and operating our network. These challenges include ensuring the availability of subscriber 
equipment that is compatible with our network and managing sales, advertising, customer support, billing and collection functions of our 
business. We also must provide reliable network service that meets our subscribers’ expectations. There is no industry precedent for the 
operation of a network of this type over a large municipal area and we may experience technological or other difficulties that we do not 
currently expect. Our failure in any of these areas could adversely affect customer satisfaction, increase subscriber churn, increase our costs, 
decrease our revenues and otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.  
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The market for VoIP services may not develop as anticipated, which would adversely affect our ability to execute our voice strategy.  

The success of our VoIP service depends on growth in the number of VoIP users, which in part depends on wider public acceptance of 
VoIP telephony. The VoIP communications medium is still in its growth stages. Potential new users may view VoIP as unattractive relative to 
traditional telephone services for a number of reasons, including the perception that the price advantage for VoIP is insufficient to justify the 
perceived inconvenience.  

We have experienced losses in connection with these services due to the costs of developing and operating them. It is likely we will 
continue to expend significant resources developing, enhancing, operating and marketing these services. We expect these services to continue 
to adversely impact our profitability, at least in the near term. If our VoIP services are not commercially successful we will continue to incur 
operating losses in connection with these services, which would negatively impact our financial condition and results of operations.  

Certain aspects of our VoIP service are not the same as traditional telephone service, which may limit the acceptance of our services by 
mainstream consumers and our potential for growth.  

Certain aspects of our service are not the same as traditional telephone service. Our continued growth is dependent on the adoption of our 
services by mainstream customers, so these differences are becoming increasingly important. For example:  

•        Both our new E911 and emergency calling services are different, in significant respects, from the 911 service associated with 
traditional wireline and wireless telephone providers and, in certain cases, with other VoIP providers.  

•        Our customers may experience lower call quality than they are used to from traditional wireline telephone companies, including static, 
echoes and delays in transmissions.  

•        Our customers may experience higher dropped-call rates than they are used to from traditional wireline telephone companies.  

•        Customers who obtain new phone numbers from us do not appear in the phone book and their phone numbers are not available through 
directory assistance services offered by traditional telephone companies.  

•        Our customers cannot accept collect calls.  

•        Our VoIP service requires an operative broadband connection.  

In the event of a power loss or Internet access interruption experienced by a customer, our service is interrupted. Unlike some of our 
competitors, we have not installed batteries at customer premises to provide emergency power for our customers’ equipment if they lose power, 
although we do have backup power systems for our network equipment and service platform.  

If customers do not accept the differences between our service and traditional telephone service, they may choose to remain with their 
current telephone service provider or may choose to return to service provided by traditional telephone companies.  

Our E911 emergency services are different from those offered by traditional wireline telephone companies and may expose us to significant 
liability.  

Our E911 emergency service is different in significant respects from the emergency calling services offered by traditional wireline 
telephone companies. In each case, those differences may cause significant delays, or even failures, in callers’ receipt of the emergency 
assistance they need. If one of our customers  

26  
 

 



experiences a broadband or power outage, or if a network failure were to occur, the customer will not be able to reach an emergency services 
provider. In addition, we rely on customers of our trueVoice VoIP service to register their location with us so that emergency services can be 
sent to the correct location. If they move their service without updating us and are unable to verbally communicate with an emergency operator, 
then they will not receive necessary emergency services. Delays or failures in receiving emergency services can be catastrophic.  

While traditional phone companies may also experience problems in providing emergency calling services, they are covered by legislation 
that significantly limits their liability for failures of emergency calling services and we are not. This liability could be substantial. In addition, 
we have lost, and may in the future lose, existing and prospective customers because of the limitations inherent in our emergency calling 
services. Any of these factors could cause us to lose revenues, incur greater expenses or cause our reputation or financial results to suffer.  

Our ability to provide our VoIP service is dependent upon third-party facilities and equipment, the failure of which could cause delays or 
interruptions of our service, damage our reputation, cause us to lose customers and limit our growth.  

The success of our VoIP service depends on our ability to provide quality and reliable service, which is in part dependent upon the proper 
functioning of facilities and equipment owned and operated by third parties and is, therefore, beyond our control. Unlike traditional wireline 
telephone service or wireless service, our service requires our customers to have an operative broadband Internet connection and an electrical 
power supply, which are provided by the customer’s Internet service provider, which may or may not be us, and electric utility company, 
respectively. The quality of some broadband Internet connections may be too poor for customers to use our services properly. In addition, if 
there is any interruption to a customer’s broadband Internet service or electrical power supply, that customer will be unable to make or receive 
calls, including emergency calls, using our service. We also outsource several of our network functions to third-party providers. For example, 
we outsource the maintenance of our regional data connection points, which are the facilities at which our network interconnects with the 
public switched telephone network. If our third-party service providers fail to maintain these facilities properly, or fail to respond quickly to 
problems, our customers may experience service interruptions. Our customers have experienced such interruptions in the past and will 
experience interruptions in the future. In addition, our new E911 service is currently dependent upon several third-party providers. Interruptions 
in service from these vendors could cause failures in our customers’ access to E911 services. Interruptions in our service caused by third-party 
facilities have in the past caused and may in the future cause us to lose customers, or cause us to offer substantial customer credits, which could 
adversely affect our revenues and profitability. If interruptions adversely affect the perceived reliability of our service, we may have difficulty 
attracting new customers and our brand, reputation and growth will be negatively impacted.  

We may not realize the benefits we are seeking from our investments in the HELIO joint venture or other investment activities as a result of 
lower than predicted revenues or subscriber levels of the companies in which we invest, larger funding requirements for those companies or 
otherwise.  

We have made equity investments in several companies, including HELIO, a joint venture with SK Telecom that offers wireless voice and 
data services to consumers in the U.S. As of February 28, 2007, we have invested an aggregate of $214.0 million of cash and non-cash assets in 
HELIO. HELIO will require additional funding in the future and we expect we may invest additional cash amounts in HELIO. The financing of 
HELIO’s operations has adversely affected our cash position. In addition, HELIO has incurred losses and we expect HELIO to continue to 
incur losses due to the start-up nature of its operations, and we include our proportionate share of the losses of HELIO in our statements of 
operations, which adversely affects our earnings and earnings per share. In addition, HELIO may not be successful in implementing and 
marketing its wireless voice and data initiatives, and there can be no  
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assurance that these initiatives will be commercially successful. This would adversely affect our financial position and results of operations.  

HELIO operates in a highly competitive environment. HELIO’s wireless business faces intense competition from other wireless providers, 
from other MVNOs and from wireless hardware manufacturers such as Apple. Many of those competitors are major communications 
companies that have substantially greater financial, technical and marketing resources than HELIO has. These competitors also have greater 
name recognition and more established relationships with a larger base of current and potential customers and, accordingly, HELIO may not be 
able to compete successfully. Companies that have the resources to sustain losses for some time have an advantage over those companies 
without access to these resources. We cannot assure you HELIO will be able to achieve or maintain adequate market share or revenue or 
compete effectively. HELIO’s ability to compete will depend, in part, on its ability to anticipate and respond to various competitive factors 
affecting the telecommunications industry.  

We continue to evaluate investment opportunities and may make investments in the future in companies that offer products and services 
that are complementary to our offerings and in companies that allow us to vertically integrate our business. The value of each of our 
investments is subject to general economic, technological and market trends, as well as to the operating and financial decisions of each 
company’s management team, all of which are outside of our control. In addition, these companies may not gain the expected number of 
customers and/or generate the expected level of revenues, and consequently, these companies may require additional funding, any of which 
could diminish the value of or dilute our investment. Our current and future investments in other companies, including our investment in the 
HELIO joint venture, may not provide the economic returns we are seeking and may lose value, which would materially, adversely affect our 
financial position and results of operations.  

Other Risks  

Our stock price has been volatile historically and may continue to be volatile.  

The trading price of our common stock has been and may continue to be subject to fluctuations. Our stock price may fluctuate in response 
to a number of events and factors, such as quarterly variations in operating results; announcements of technological innovations or new 
products by us or our competitors; developments in our business strategy; changes in financial estimates and recommendations by securities 
analysts; the operating and stock price performance of other companies that investors may deem comparable to us; and news reports relating to 
trends in the markets in which we operate or general economic conditions.  

In addition, the stock market in general and the market prices for Internet-related companies in particular, have experienced volatility that 
often has been unrelated to the operating performance of such companies. These broad market and industry fluctuations may adversely affect 
the price of our stock, regardless of our operating performance. Additionally, volatility or a lack of positive performance in our stock price may 
adversely affect our ability to retain key employees, many of whom have been granted stock incentive awards.  

Our indebtedness could adversely affect our financial health and limit our ability to react to changes in our industry or to implement our 
strategic initiatives.  

As of December 31, 2006, we had $258.8 million of indebtedness outstanding due to the issuance of our 3.25% Convertible Senior Notes 
Due 2026 (the “Notes”) in November 2006. Our indebtedness could have important consequences to us. For example, it could:  

•        require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness, thereby reducing the 
availability of our cash flow to fund our business activities;  
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•        limit our ability to secure additional financing to implement our strategic initiatives;  

•        increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;  

•        limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate;  

•        place us at a disadvantage compared to our competitors that may have proportionately less debt; and  

•        restrict us from making strategic acquisitions, introducing new technologies or otherwise exploiting business opportunities.  

We may be unable to repurchase the Notes for cash when required by the holders, including following a fundamental change, or to pay the 
cash portion of the conversion value upon conversion of any Notes by the holders.  

Holders of the Notes have the right to require us to repurchase the Notes on November 15, 2011, November 15, 2016 and November 15, 
2021 or upon the occurrence of a fundamental change prior to maturity. Moreover, upon conversion of the Notes, we are required to settle a 
portion of the conversion value in cash. Any debt agreements that we may enter into in the future may contain similar repurchase and cash 
settlement provisions. We may not have sufficient funds to make the required cash payment upon conversion or to purchase or repurchase the 
Notes in cash at such time or the ability to arrange necessary financing on acceptable terms. In addition, our ability to pay cash upon conversion 
or to purchase or repurchase the Notes in cash may be limited by law or the terms of agreements relating to our debt outstanding at the time. 
However, if we fail to repurchase or purchase the Notes or pay cash upon conversion as required by the indenture for the Notes, it would 
constitute an event of default under the indenture, which, in turn, would constitute an event of default under our other debt agreements, if any. 
In addition, the requirement to pay the fundamental change repurchase price, including the related make whole premium, may discourage a 
change in control of our company.  

The convertible notes hedge and warrant transactions may affect the value of our common stock.  

In November 2006, in connection with the offering of our Notes, we entered into convertible note hedge transactions and warrant 
transactions with affiliates of UBS Investment Bank and Banc of America Securities LLC. These transactions are expected to offset the 
potential dilution upon conversion of the Notes. In connection with hedging these transactions, such affiliates of UBS Investment Bank and 
Banc of America Securities LLC:  

•        entered into various over-the-counter derivative transactions with respect to our common stock, and may purchase our common stock; 
and  

•        may enter into, or may unwind, various over-the-counter derivatives and/or purchase or sell our common stock in secondary market 
transactions.  

The affiliates of UBS Investment Bank and Banc of America Securities LLC party to these transactions are likely to modify their hedge 
positions from time to time prior to conversion or maturity of the Notes or termination of the transactions by purchasing and selling shares of 
our common stock, other of our securities, or other instruments they may wish to use in connection with such hedging. In addition, we intend to 
exercise options we hold under the convertible note hedge transactions whenever Notes are converted. In order to unwind their hedge position 
with respect to those exercised options, the affiliates of UBS Investment Bank and Banc of America Securities LLC party to these transactions 
expect to sell shares of our common stock in secondary market transactions or unwind various over-the-counter derivative transactions with 
respect to our common stock during the conversion reference period for the converted Notes.  
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The effect, if any, of any of these transactions and activities on the market price of our common stock will depend in part on market 
conditions and cannot be ascertained at this time, but any of these activities could adversely affect the value of our common stock. In addition, 
in the event that these transactions fail to offset all of the dilution resulting from the conversion of the Notes, the issuance of additional shares 
of our common stock as a consequence of such conversion would result in some dilution to our shareholders and could adversely affect the 
value of our common stock.  

Provisions of our second restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws and other elements of our capital structure 
could limit our share price and delay a change of management.  

Our second restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws and shareholder rights plan contain provisions that could 
make it more difficult or even prevent a third party from acquiring us without the approval of our incumbent board of directors. These 
provisions, among other things:  

•        divide the board of directors into three classes, with members of each class to be elected in staggered three-year terms;  

•        limit the right of stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders; and  

•        authorize the board of directors to issue preferred stock in one or more series without any action on the part of stockholders.  

These provisions could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock and significantly 
impede the ability of the holders of our common stock to change management. In addition, we have adopted a rights plan, which has anti-
takeover effects. The rights plan, if triggered, could cause substantial dilution to a person or group that attempts to acquire our common stock 
on terms not approved by the board of directors. Provisions and agreements that inhibit or discourage takeover attempts could reduce the 
market value of our common stock.  

Item 1B.                Unresolved Staff Comments.  

None.  

Item 2.                         Properties.  

We currently maintain and occupy the following principal properties:  

   

Our principal executive offices are in Atlanta, Georgia. We also maintain and occupy certain other leased space for operations and 
administrative purposes. Certain of our leases include scheduled base rent increases over the respective lease terms. The total amount of base 
rent payments, net of allowances and incentives, is being charged to expense using the straight-line method over the terms of the leases. In 
addition to the base rent payments, we generally pay a monthly allocation of the buildings’ operating expenses. We believe we have adequate 
facilities to meet our future growth needs.  
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            Approximate     Lease     
Facilities           Location     Square Feet     Expiration     
Principal executive and corporate offices  

   Atlanta, GA  
      328,000 

         2014 
      

Operations and corporate offices  
   Pasadena, CA  

      110,000 
         2014 

      
Operations and corporate offices  

   Vancouver, WA  
      60,000 

         2012 
      

Operations and corporate offices  
   San Francisco, CA  

      26,000 
         2014 

      



We have three technology centers at various locations in the U.S. which contain computer and electronic equipment. We own one and 
lease two of our three technology centers. The technology centers have a combined square footage of approximately 23,000 feet. Our 
technology centers host and manage Internet content, email, web hosting and authentication applications and services. We may acquire 
additional amounts of storage and processing capacity in relatively small increments and, consequently, we expect our future capital 
expenditures for processing and storage capacity to be largely variable to our needs.  

Item 3.        Legal Proceedings.  
We are a party to various legal proceedings that are ordinary and incidental to our business. Management does not expect that any 

currently pending legal proceedings will have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial position.  

Item 4.        Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.  
During the quarter ended December 31, 2006, there were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders.  

PART II  
Item 5.                         Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.  
Market Information  

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “ELNK.” The following table sets forth the high and low sale 
prices for our common stock for the periods indicated, as reported by the Nasdaq Global Market.  

   

The last reported sale price of our common stock on the Nasdaq Global Market on February 28, 2007 was $7.12 per share.  

Holders  
There were approximately 1,972 holders of record of our common stock on February 28, 2007.  

Dividends  
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We intend to retain all future earnings to finance future growth, 

including investing in our various growth initiatives and investing in our joint venture HELIO. Therefore, we do not anticipate paying any cash 
dividends in the foreseeable future.  
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      EarthLink, Inc.     
      High     Low     

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005  
               

First Quarter  
   $ 11.77 

   $ 8.11 
   

Second Quarter  
   10.72 

   8.32 
   

Third Quarter  
   10.75 

   8.65 
   

Fourth Quarter  
   12.06 

   10.07 
   

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006  
               

First Quarter  
   $ 12.21 

   $ 8.67 
   

Second Quarter  
   10.00 

   7.77 
   

Third Quarter  
   8.81 

   6.82 
   

Fourth Quarter  
   7.64 

   6.16 
   

YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2007  
               

First Quarter (through February 28, 2007)  
   $ 7.61 

   $ 6.87 
   



Performance Graph  

The following indexed line graph indicates our total return to stockholders from January 1, 2001 to December 31, 2006, as compared to 
the total return for the Nasdaq Global Market and the Morgan Stanley Internet Index for the same period. The calculations in the graph assume 
that $100 was invested on January 1, 2001 in our common stock and each index and also assumes dividend reinvestment.  

  

   

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer  

The number of shares repurchased and the average price paid per share for each month in the three months ended December 31, 2006 
were as follows:  

(1)           Since the inception of the share repurchase program (“Repurchase Program”), the Board of Directors has authorized a total of $550.0 
million for the repurchase of our common stock. The Board of Directors has also approved repurchasing common stock pursuant to plans 
under Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. We may repurchase our common stock from time to time in 
compliance with the SEC’s regulations and other legal requirements, including through the use of derivative transactions, and subject to 
market conditions and other factors. The Repurchase Program does not require us to acquire any specific number of shares and may be 
terminated at any time.  
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      December 31,     December 31,     December 31,     December 31,     December 31,     December 31,     
      2001     2002     2003     2004     2005     2006     

EarthLink, Inc.  
      100.0 

         44.8 
         82.2 

         94.7 
         91.3 

         58.3 
      

Nasdaq Global Market 
      100.0 

         68.5 
         102.7 

         111.5 
         113.1 

         123.8 
      

Morgan Stanley 
Internet Index  

      100.0 
         57.1 

         93.8 
         107.1 

         107.9 
         118.1 

      

                  Total Number of     Maximum Dollar     
      Total Number     Average     Shares Repurchased     Value that May     
      of Shares     Price Paid     as Part of Publicly     Yet be Purchased     

2006     Repurchased     per Share     Announced Program(1)     Under the Program     
      (in thousands, except average price paid per share)     

October 1 through October 31  
      800 

         $ 7.21 
         800 

         $ 95,295 
      

November 1 through November 30  
      — 

         — 
         — 

         95,295 
      

December 1 through December 31  
      — 

         — 
         — 

         95,295 
      

Total  
      800 

                     800 
                  



Item 6.                         Selected Financial Data.  

The following selected consolidated financial data was derived from our consolidated financial statements. The data should be read in 
conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation” and the consolidated financial 
statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

   

(1)           Reflects the accretion of liquidation dividends on Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock at a 3% annual rate, compounded 
quarterly, and the accretion of a dividend related to the beneficial conversion feature in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force 
(“EITF”) Issue No. 98-5. During  
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      Year Ended December 31,     
      2002     2003     2004     2005     2006     
      (in thousands, except per share amounts)     

Statement of operations data:                                   
Revenues     $ 1,357,421 

   $ 1,401,930 
   $ 1,382,202 

   $ 1,290,072 
   $ 1,301,267 

   
Operating costs and expenses     1,517,442    1,468,894    1,271,444    1,125,576    1,225,625    
Income (loss) from operations     (160,021 )  (66,964 )  110,758    164,496    75,642    
Net income (loss)     (148,033 )  (62,194 )  111,009    142,780    4,987    
Deductions for accretion  

dividends(1)     (19,987 )  (4,586 )  —    —    —    
Net income (loss) attributable to 

common stockholders     $ (168,020 )  $ (66,780 )  $ 111,009 
   $ 142,780 

   $ 4,987 
   

Basic net income (loss)  
per share     $ (1.11 )  $ (0.42 )  $ 0.72 

   $ 1.04 
   $ 0.04 

   
Diluted net income (loss) per share     $ (1.11 )  $ (0.42 )  $ 0.70 

   $ 1.02 
   $ 0.04 

   
Basic weighted average  

common shares outstanding     151,355    157,321    154,233    137,080    128,790    
Diluted weighted average common 

shares outstanding     151,355    157,321    157,815    139,950    130,583    

Cash flow data:                                   
Cash provided by operating  

activities     $ 18,958 
   $ 101,728 

   $ 188,152 
   $ 188,704 

   $ 115,249 
   

Cash provided by (used in) 
investing activities     3,126    25,003    (69,070 )  (65,081 )  (283,064 ) 

Cash (used in) provided by 
financing activities     (24,485 )  (88,882 )  (108,912 )  (169,239 )  152,890    

      As of December 31,     
   

   2002     2003     2004     2005     2006     
      (in thousands)     

Balance sheet data:                                   
Cash and cash equivalents     $ 170,891 

   $ 208,740 
   $ 218,910 

   $ 173,294 
   $ 158,369 

   
Investments in marketable 

securities(2)     344,546    279,125    312,060    248,825    236,407    
Cash and marketable  

securities     515,437    487,865    530,970    422,119    394,776    

Total assets     1,023,553    827,020    805,450    749,149    968,039    
Long-term debt, including long-

term portion of capital leases     937    342    287    1,067    258,984    
Total liabilities     331,253    283,357    257,843    227,285    509,375    
Accumulated deficit     (1,236,991 )  (1,303,771 )  (1,192,762 )  (1,049,982 )  (1,044,995 ) 
Stockholders’  equity     692,300    543,663    547,607    521,864    458,664    



2003, Sprint converted all remaining shares of Series A and Series B convertible preferred stock into common stock. Consequently, there 
are currently no shares of Series A or Series B convertible preferred stock outstanding and no associated dividend obligations.  

(2)           Investments in marketable securities consist of debt securities classified as available-for-sale and have maturities greater than 90 days 
from the date of acquisition. We have invested primarily in government agency notes, asset-backed debt securities (including auction rate 
debt securities), corporate notes and commercial paper, all of which bear a minimum short-term rating of A1/P1 or a minimum long-term 
rating of A/A2.  

Item 7.                         Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation.  

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial 
statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

Safe Harbor Statement  

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis and other portions of this Annual Report include “forward-looking” statements (rather than 
historical facts) that are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those described. Although we 
believe that the expectations expressed in these forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot promise that our expectations will turn 
out to be correct. Our actual results could be materially different from and worse than our expectations. With respect to such forward-looking 
statements, we seek the protections afforded by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These risks include, without limitation, 
(1) that we may not successfully enhance existing or develop new products and services in a cost-effective manner to meet customer demand in 
the rapidly evolving market for Internet, wireless and IP-based voice communications services, including new products and services offered in 
connection with our voice and municipal broadband network growth initiatives, and we expect these growth initiatives to not be profitable in 
their early stages; (2) that our service offerings may fail to be competitive with existing and new competitors; (3) that competitive product, 
price or marketing pressures could cause us to lose existing customers to competitors (churn), or may cause us to reduce prices for our services 
which could adversely impact average revenue per user; (4) that we may be unsuccessful in making and integrating acquisitions into our 
business, which could result in operating difficulties, losses and other adverse consequences; (5) that the continued decline of our narrowband 
revenues could adversely affect our profitability and adversely impact our ability to invest in our growth initiatives; (6) that we may not be able 
to successfully manage the costs associated with delivering our wireline broadband services, which could adversely affect our ability to grow or 
sustain revenues and our profitability; (7) that companies may not provide last mile broadband access to us on a wholesale basis or on terms or 
at prices that allow us to grow and be profitable; (8) that our commercial and alliance arrangements may be terminated or may not be as 
beneficial as anticipated, which could adversely affect our ability to increase our subscriber base; (9) that our business may suffer if our third-
parties for technical and customer support and certain billing services are unable to provide these services, cannot expand to meet our needs or 
terminate their relationships with us; (10) that service interruptions or impediments could harm our business; (11) that government regulations 
could force us to change our business practices; (12) that changes in, or interpretations of, laws regarding consumer protection could subject us 
to liability or cause us to change our practices; (13) that we may not be able to protect our proprietary technologies or successfully defend 
infringement claims and may be required to enter licensing arrangements on unfavorable terms; (14) that we may be accused of infringing upon 
the intellectual property rights of third parties, which is costly to defend and could limit our ability to use certain technologies in the future; 
(15) that we could face substantial liabilities if we are unable to successfully defend against legal actions; (16) that our business depends on the 
continued development of effective business support systems, processes and personnel; (17) that we may be unable to  
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hire and retain sufficient qualified personnel, and the loss of any of our key executive officers could adversely affect us; (18) that we may not 
be successful in entering into arrangements with municipalities to build out and operate municipal wireless broadband networks and we may 
not obtain a sufficient number of customers to generate the returns anticipated on our investments to construct and deploy municipal wireless 
broadband networks; (19) that municipal wireless networks may not perform as expected or may result in unanticipated costs, which could 
increase our churn and our cost of providing services; (20) that we may experience difficulties in constructing, upgrading and maintaining our 
municipal wireless network, which could adversely affect customer satisfaction, increase subscriber churn and reduce our revenues; (21) that 
the market for VoIP services may not develop as anticipated, which would adversely affect our ability to execute our voice strategy; (22) that 
certain aspects of our VoIP service are not the same as traditional telephone service, which may limit the acceptance of our services by 
mainstream consumers and our potential for growth; (23) that our E911 emergency services are different from those offered by traditional 
wireline telephone companies and may expose us to significant liability; (24) that our ability to provide our VoIP service is dependent upon 
third-party facilities and equipment, the failure of which could cause delays or interruptions of our service, damage our reputation, cause us to 
lose customers and limit our growth; (25) that we may not realize the benefits we are seeking from our investments in the HELIO joint venture 
or other investment activities as a result of lower than predicted revenues or subscriber levels of the companies in which we invest, larger 
funding requirements for those companies or otherwise; (26) that our stock price has been volatile historically and may continue to be volatile; 
(27) that our indebtedness could adversely affect our financial health and limit our ability to react to changes in our industry or to implement 
our strategic initiatives; (28) that we may be unable to repurchase our convertible senior notes for cash when required by the holders, including 
following a fundamental change, or to pay the cash portion of the conversion value upon conversion of any notes by the holders; (29) that the 
convertible note hedge and warrant transactions may affect the value of our common stock; and (30) that some provisions of Delaware law, our 
second restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws may be deemed to have an anti-takeover effect and may delay or 
prevent a tender offer to takeover attempt that a stockholder might consider in its best interest.  

Overview  

EarthLink, Inc. is a total communications provider, providing integrated communication services and related value-added services to 
individual consumers and business customers utilizing Internet Protocol, or IP, based technologies. Our core service offerings are dial-up and 
wireline broadband Internet access services and value-added services. Our growth initiatives include IP-based voice services, municipal 
wireless broadband services and our services for business customers.  

We also have a joint venture with SK Telecom Co., Ltd. (“SK Telecom”), HELIO. HELIO is a non-facilities-based mobile virtual network 
operator (MVNO) offering mobile communications services and handsets to consumers in the U.S. HELIO was formed in March 2005 and 
began offering its products and services during April 2006.  

Industry Background  

Since the inception of our business, we have expanded from a traditional dial-up Internet service provider to a total communications 
provider. The Internet access market in the U.S. grew dramatically from the mid-1990s through 2000 but has recently experienced slower 
growth, as the market has reached a mature stage of growth. Since 2000, broadband Internet access has been steadily replacing dial-up. During 
2006, the number of households with broadband access surpassed the number of households with dial-up connections. Focused, value-priced 
narrowband access, which provides service with a limited set of features at a lower cost, is still attracting households new to the Internet or 
current Internet users interested in reducing their cost of Internet access.  
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Consumers continue to migrate to broadband due to the faster connection and download speeds provided by broadband access, the ability 
to free up their phone lines and the more reliable and “always on” connection. The pricing for broadband services, particularly for introductory 
promotional periods, services bundled with cable and telephone services, and services with slower speeds, has been declining and is 
approaching prices for traditional dial-up services, making it a more viable option for consumers that continue to rely on dial-up connections 
for Internet access. In addition, advanced applications such as online gaming, music downloads and photo sharing require greater bandwidth 
for optimal performance, which adds to the demand for broadband.  

Currently, most residential broadband consumers access the Internet via DSL or cable, but an increasing array of alternative broadband 
access technologies, such as wireless broadband and broadband over power lines, are now available. The availability of these alternatives is 
expected to further encourage future broadband deployment and market penetration. The growth of mobile devices that support email and sales 
of laptop computers and other mobile devices create an increasing need for portable and mobile Internet access. In addition, one of the 
outgrowths from the rapid deployment of broadband connectivity has been the adoption of Voice over Internet Protocol (“VoIP”). VoIP is a 
technology that enables voice communications over the Internet through the conversion of voice signals into data packets. VoIP technology 
presents several advantages over the technology used in traditional wireline telephone networks and enables VoIP providers to operate with 
lower capital expenditures and operating costs while offering both traditional and innovative service features.  

Revenue Sources  

We provide narrowband access services (including traditional, fully-featured narrowband access and value-priced narrowband access); 
broadband access services (including high-speed access via DSL, cable and wireless technologies and IP-based voice); advertising and other 
value-added services; and web hosting services. Our subscriber base remained consistent at approximately 5.3 million paying subscribers as of 
December 31, 2005 and 2006, while total revenues increased from $1,290.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2005 to $1,301.3 
million during the year ended December 31, 2006. The increase in total revenues was primarily due to an increase in broadband revenues due 
to our acquisition of New Edge Holding Company (“New Edge”) and due to our expanded broadband footprint and offerings, and an increase 
in advertising and other value-added services. Our traditional, premium-priced narrowband subscriber base and revenues have been declining 
due to the maturity of this service. In addition, the mix of our narrowband customers continues to shift towards value-priced narrowband 
access.  

We derive substantially all of our revenues from communications services, and such revenues represented 98% or more of total revenues 
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006. The remaining revenues relate to sales of equipment and devices used by 
our subscribers to access our services. We had approximately 3.3 million narrowband subscribers, 1.9 million broadband subscribers and 
112,000 web hosting accounts as of December 31, 2006. Narrowband access revenues, broadband access revenues, advertising and other value-
added services revenues and web hosting revenues represented 47%, 43%, 7% and 3%, respectively, of total revenues for the year ended 
December 31, 2006.  

Business Strategy  

Our business strategy is to generate profits from our existing core access services and to reinvest the cash generated from these services in 
our various growth initiatives with the objective of generating revenue growth and earnings growth in future periods; to continue to expand our 
presence in growth markets, such as VoIP services, municipal wireless broadband services and business services; to support our HELIO joint 
venture with SK Telecom; and to market high quality, differentiated products and services.  
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We believe the most important factors for us to execute our business strategy are the following:  

•        continuing to identify opportunities to improve the cost structure of our business without impacting the quality of services we provide;  

•        maximizing the return on our subscriber acquisition costs by balancing aggressive promotional pricing with the number of subscribers 
we are able to add and/or retain while continuing to reduce and leverage operating costs;  

•        continuing the growth of our PeoplePC-branded, value-priced narrowband access and our broadband service offerings in spite of 
competition from current and new competitors;  

•        renewing, extending or otherwise entering into wholesale broadband access agreements with telecommunications providers at 
competitive and improved wholesale broadband access prices and, in the event there are adverse changes in the retail pricing 
environment for broadband access services, at wholesale broadband access prices that decrease sufficiently to at least coincide with 
declines in retail prices;  

•        successfully entering into arrangements with municipalities to build out and operate municipal wireless broadband networks and 
successfully constructing, upgrading and maintaining our municipal wireless networks;  

•        growing our subscriber base for our IP-based voice and wireless broadband services to generate revenues and profits;  

•        exploring, identifying and investing in additional growth opportunities and successfully implementing strategies to deliver these 
services cost effectively;  

•        differentiating our products and services to enable us to deliver high quality services that improve customers’ Internet experiences, 
including bundling our various communications services; and  

•        exploring and evaluating potential strategic transactions that we believe may complement our current and future business activities, and 
successfully integrating any new acquisitions and investments into our business  

Challenges and Risks  

The primary challenges we face in executing our business strategy are maintaining profitability in our existing services, successfully 
implementing new products and services, competition and purchasing cost-effective wholesale broadband access.  

Profitability of existing services.    We have been focused on and have been successful in improving operating margins. During 2006, our 
core access services continued to provide operating cash flow. This cash flow is instrumental to our ability to fund future investments in our 
growth initiatives. We generate lower percentage gross profit margins on our broadband access services than on our other principal forms of 
Internet access and related services. In addition, customer and technical support costs per subscriber for broadband services generally exceed 
those of our other services. We continue to work towards reducing telecommunications costs per customer in all product lines and reducing 
total operations and customer support expenses. We will also continue to evaluate opportunities to more cost effectively provide customer and 
technical support to broadband customers and manage direct sales and marketing expenses required to add new broadband customers.  

New products and services.    The market for Internet and telecommunications services is characterized by rapidly changing technology, 
evolving industry standards, changes in customer needs and frequent new service and product introductions. We are currently focused on 
utilizing VoIP technologies to deliver voice services and utilizing technologies to deploy wireless networks to deliver broadband services, 
among  
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others. However, these communications mediums are still in growth stages. The success of these growth initiatives depends on the adoption of 
our services by customers, our ability to develop and use technologies effectively, our ability to enhance our existing services and to develop 
new services that meet changing customer needs on a timely and cost-effective basis, and our ability to employ sales and marketing efforts to 
add customers. We will continue to evaluate the feasibility of new technologies and technological advancements and develop new service 
offerings that allow us to expand our service offerings or deliver our services more cost effectively.  

Competition.    We operate in a highly competitive market for each of our service offerings, and the competitive environment impacts the 
churn rates we experience as well as the number of new customers we are able to add. The largest competitors in broadband access are the 
cable companies and regional bell operating companies (“RBOCs”) offering broadband access over their own cable or telephone lines. 
However, to attract and retain customers, we continue to focus on improving the high-quality Internet experience EarthLink offers, including 
providing superior customer and technical support and differentiating our products and services with innovative and useful tools that improve 
the Internet experience. We also continue to seek out new marketing partners and distribution opportunities in our efforts to compete more 
effectively in adding customers. We expect competitive pressures will result in continued aggressive promotional pricing offers on our service 
offerings, which may adversely impact our ability to sustain or grow revenues.  

Purchasing cost-effective wholesale broadband access.    The profitability of our broadband services is dependent upon cost-effectively 
purchasing wholesale broadband access and managing the costs associated with delivering broadband services. The costs associated with 
delivering broadband services include recurring service costs such as telecommunications and customer support costs as well as costs incurred 
to add new broadband customers, such as sales and marketing and installation and hardware costs. While we continuously evaluate cost 
reduction opportunities associated with the delivery of broadband access services to improve our profitability, our overall profitability would be 
adversely affected if we are unable to continue to manage and reduce recurring service costs associated with the delivery of broadband services 
and costs incurred to add new broadband customers.  

2006 Highlights  

As discussed above, total revenues during the year ended December 31, 2006 increased compared to the prior year due to an increase in 
broadband revenues and an increase in advertising and other value-added services revenues, offset by a decrease in narrowband revenues. We 
continued to generate profits and operating cash flow from our core access services. However, overall operating expenses increased during the 
year ended December 31, 2006 compared to the prior year due to the investments in our IP-based voice, municipal wireless and business 
services growth initiatives. Specifically, we launched DSL and Home Phone service in 12 markets in the U.S. covering approximately 10.0 
million households; launched wireless broadband networks in four cities and were selected by four additional cities to build and operate 
wireless broadband networks; completed the acquisition of New Edge and integrated its operations with our existing business; and increased 
product offerings and distribution channels for our business services. Overall operating expenses also increased due to the adoption of 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS’’) No. 123(R), “Share Based Payment,” on January 1, 2006. Additionally, our net losses 
of equity affiliate related to our HELIO joint venture increased as HELIO incurred losses due to the start-up nature of their business. The 
increase in overall operating costs and expenses and net losses of HELIO caused overall profits to decrease during the year ended 
December 31, 2006 compared to the prior year.  

Looking Ahead  

We expect overall profits to be adversely affected in 2007 as we continue to expand our new products and services. Implementation of 
new services involves initial product development and infrastructure costs,  
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followed by sales and marketing costs to add customers who generate recurring revenues. In 2007, we expect to increase sales and marketing 
efforts for our IP-based voice, municipal broadband services and business services and incur increased customer support and 
telecommunications costs to provide these services. However, we believe management can exercise discretion in deploying product 
development and sales and marketing resources to manage the expense associated with development of IP-based voice and municipal 
broadband customer bases. In addition, we expect to grow our IP-based voice and wireless broadband subscriber bases to increase revenues and 
we expect to expand our wireless broadband footprint. We also expect HELIO to incur additional losses in 2007 due to the continuing start-up 
nature of its business. We record our proportionate share of HELIO’s losses in our results of operations, so our results of operations in 2007 
will also be adversely impacted because of HELIO’s losses.  

Growth Initiatives  

IP-based voice.    In October 2005, we began offering the next generation of our VoIP services, EarthLink trueVoice . EarthLink 
trueVoice is a competitive alternative to traditional telephone service and is available to EarthLink and non-EarthLink high-speed Internet 
access subscribers. In late 2005 and 2006, we launched DSL and Home Phone Service, a new DSL and VoIP service, which uses Covad 
Communications Group, Inc.’s (“Covad”) line-powered voice access that allows us to offer consumers low-cost phone services along with 
high-speed Internet access. In March 2006, we invested $50.0 million in Covad to fund the network build-out of this service. The service is 
now available in 12 markets in the U.S. covering approximately 10.0 million households.  

We are actively marketing EarthLink DSL and Home Phone Service and will expand our marketing efforts to promote these services 
during 2007. We will also continue to invest in the development of additional applications and services and the marketing efforts for our IP-
based voice services.  

Municipal wireless broadband.    We are investing in wireless, or Wi-Fi, broadband access to deploy a competitive alternative to DSL and 
cable for delivering broadband Internet access services. We began this initiative during 2005 by winning proposals to finance, build and 
manage wireless broadband networks for the cities of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania and Anaheim, California. During 2006 and early 2007, we 
completed the initial phase for these networks and began offering our municipal wireless broadband services. We also launched service in 
Milpitas, California and New Orleans, Louisiana, and were selected by the cities of Alexandria, Virginia; San Francisco, California; Atlanta, 
Georgia; Houston, Texas; and St. Petersburg, Florida to build, own and operate a wireless broadband network in those cities.  

We expect to expand our wireless broadband footprint and grow our wireless broadband subscriber base to increase revenues, with the 
target of offering service to 1.5 million households by the end of 2007. These initiatives may result in significant capital expenditures and 
operating costs in future periods to develop, implement and build wireless broadband networks in these municipalities, as well as increased 
costs to market the new services.  

Business services.    In April 2006, we acquired New Edge, a single-source national provider of secure multi-site managed data networks 
and dedicated Internet access for businesses and communications carriers. The acquisition of New Edge expands our service offerings to small 
and medium-sized enterprises. During 2006, we introduced new products, including Small Office DSL and hosted Virtual Private Networks 
(“VPN”). In 2007, we expect to build upon our existing portfolio of business solutions, by expanding our product offerings and our distribution 
channels.  

Joint Venture  

We have a joint venture with SK Telecom, HELIO. HELIO is a non-facilities-based mobile virtual network operator (MVNO) offering 
mobile communications services and handsets to consumers in the U.S. EarthLink and SK Telecom invested an aggregate of $166.0 million of 
cash and non-cash assets upon  
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completing the formation of HELIO in March 2005, invested an aggregate of $78.0 million of cash in August 2005, invested an aggregate 
$157.0 million in 2006 and have committed to invest additional cash of $39.0 million in 2007, including $27.0 million that was invested in 
February 2007. As of December 31, 2006, EarthLink and SK Telecom each had an approximate 48% economic ownership interest and a 50% 
voting interest in HELIO. HELIO will require additional funding in the future and we expect we may invest additional cash in HELIO.  

During 2006, HELIO launched its first three handheld devices, which are based on products SK Telecom offers in Korea. HELIO targets 
young, connected consumers with an extensive array of features, including MySpace Mobile, video services, 3D and multiplayer games, and 
video, picture and text messaging, in addition to its wireless voice and data services. HELIO is currently marketing its services through a 
variety of means. By the end of 2006, HELIO had distribution of its devices in over 2,700 retail and agent locations and began its national 
television and print marketing campaign.  

Acquisition  

In April 2006, we acquired New Edge. The acquisition of New Edge expands our service offerings for businesses and communications 
carriers. Under the terms of the merger agreement, we acquired 100% of New Edge in a merger transaction for 1.7 million shares of EarthLink 
common stock and $108.7 million in net cash, including cash to be used to satisfy certain New Edge liabilities and direct transaction costs.  

Marketing Alliances  

We have an agreement with Time Warner Cable and Bright House Networks, companies whose networks pass more than 19 million 
homes, to offer our broadband Internet access services over their systems. In connection with the agreement, Time Warner Cable and Bright 
House Networks receive consideration from EarthLink for carrying the EarthLink service and related Internet traffic. As of December 31, 2005 
and 2006, more than 25% of our broadband subscribers were serviced via either the Time Warner Cable or Bright House Networks network.  

We have a marketing relationship with Embarq Corporation (“Embarq”), a spin-off of Sprint Nextel Corporation’s local communications 
business. The relationship provides that EarthLink is the wholesale high-speed ISP for Embarq’s local residential and small business 
customers. In addition, we provide Embarq with wholesale narrowband access services. The contracts associated with these arrangements 
expire in April 2007. During 2006, we and Embarq decided not to renew the wholesale broadband contract. During the years ended 
December 31, 2005 and 2006, our relationship with Embarq generated more than 10% of our total gross organic subscriber additions. As of 
December 31, 2006, our broadband subscriber count and total subscriber count included approximately 755,000 subscribers under the 
marketing relationship. During the year ended December 31, 2006, the relationship generated revenues of approximately $28.9 million.  
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Key Operating Metrics  

We utilize certain non-financial and operating measures to assess our financial performance. Terms such as churn and average revenue per 
user (“ARPU”) are terms commonly used in our industry. The following table sets forth subscriber and operating data for the periods indicated: 

   

(a)            Subscriber counts do not include nonpaying customers. Customers receiving service under promotional programs that include periods of 
free service at inception are not included in subscriber counts until they become paying customers.  

(b)           Acquired subscribers for the year ended December 31, 2006 includes approximately 58,000 broadband subscribers acquired in the New 
Edge merger transaction.  

(c)            Effective March 24, 2005, we transferred approximately 27,000 wireless subscribers to HELIO in connection with completing the 
formation of HELIO.  

(d)           Churn rate is used to measure the rate at which subscribers discontinue service on a voluntary or involuntary basis. Churn rate is 
computed by dividing the average monthly number of subscribers that discontinued service during the year by the average subscribers for 
the year.  
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      As of December 31,     
      2004     2005     2006     

Subscriber Data (a)  
                     

Narrowband subscribers  
   3,880,000 

   3,580,000 
   3,301,000 

   
Broadband subscribers  

   1,364,000 
   1,608,000 

   1,886,000 
   

Web hosting accounts  
   144,000 

   127,000 
   112,000 

   
Total subscribers at end of year  

   5,388,000 
   5,315,000 

   5,299,000 
   

   
      Year Ended December 31,     
      2004     2005     2006     

Subscriber Activity  
                     

Subscribers at beginning of year  
   5,206,000 

   5,388,000 
   5,315,000 

   
Gross organic subscriber additions  

   3,137,000 
   2,766,000 

   2,700,000 
   

Acquired subscribers (b)  
   12,000 

   147,000 
   162,000 

   
Adjustment (c)  

   — 
   (27,000 )  — 

   
Churn  

   (2,967,000 )  (2,959,000 )  (2,878,000 )  
Subscribers at end of year  

   5,388,000 
   5,315,000 

   5,299,000 
   

Churn rate (d)  
   4.6% 

   4.6% 
   4.5% 

   
Narrowband Data  

                     
Average subscribers (e)  

   3,965,000 
   3,726,000 

   3,390,000 
   

ARPU (f)  
   $ 18.37 

   $ 16.61 
   $ 15.49 

   
Churn rate (d)  

   5.3% 
   5.5% 

   5.6% 
   

Broadband Data  
                     

Average subscribers (e)  
   1,215,000 

   1,495,000 
   1,825,000 

   
ARPU (f)  

   $ 28.77 
   $ 24.62 

   $ 24.93 
   

Churn rate (d)  
   2.5% 

   2.6% 
   2.5% 

   
Web Hosting Data  

                     
Average accounts (e)  

   153,000 
   136,000 

   118,000 
   

ARPU (f)  
   $ 25.84 

   $ 24.97 
   $ 25.55 

   
Churn rate (d)  

   2.4% 
   2.2% 

   2.0% 
   



(e)            Average subscribers or accounts is calculated by averaging the ending monthly subscribers or accounts for the thirteen months preceding 
and including the end of the year.  

(f)              ARPU represents the average monthly revenue per user (subscriber). ARPU is computed by dividing average monthly revenue for the 
period by the average number of subscribers for the period. Average monthly revenue used to calculate ARPU includes recurring service 
revenue as well as nonrecurring revenues associated with equipment and other charges associated with initiating or discontinuing services. 

Results of Operations  

The following table sets forth statement of operations data, cash flow data and employee data for the periods indicated:  

*                      denotes percentage is not meaningful or is not calculable  

#                    Represents full-time equivalents  
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      Year Ended December 31,     2005 vs. 2004     2006 vs. 2005     
      2004     2005     2006     $ Change     % Change     $ Change     % Change    
      (dollars in thousands)     

Statement of operations data:  
                                                         

Revenues:  
                                                         

Narrowband access  
   $ 874,010 

   $ 742,757 
   $ 617,963 

   $ (131,253 )  
   -15 %  

   $ (124,794 )  
   -17 %  

   
Broadband access  

   419,411 
   441,736 

   559,681 
   22,325 

      5 %  
   117,945 

      27 %  
   

Advertising and other value-added services  
   41,234 

   64,909 
   88,140 

   23,675 
      57 %  

   23,231 
      36 %  

   
Web hosting  

   47,547 
   40,670 

   35,483 
   (6,877 )  

   -14 %  
   (5,187 )  

   -13 %  
   

Total revenues  
   1,382,202 

   1,290,072 
   1,301,267 

   (92,130 )  
   -7 %  

   11,195 
      1 %  

   
Operating costs and expenses:  

                                                         
Telecommunications service and quipment 

costs  
   431,162 

   366,654 
   424,425 

   (64,508 )  
   -15 %  

   57,771 
      16 %  

   
Sales incentives  

   10,040 
   8,973 

   10,916 
   (1,067 )  

   -11 %  
   1,943 

      22 %  
   

Total cost of revenues  
   441,202 

   375,627 
   435,341 

   (65,575 )  
   -15 %  

   59,714 
      16 %  

   
Sales and marketing  

   417,250 
   389,522 

   389,079 
   (27,728 )  

   -7 %  
   (443 )  

   0 %  
   

Operations and customer support  
   255,192 

   233,907 
   260,941 

   (21,285 )  
   -8 %  

   27,034 
      12 %  

   
General and administrative  

   105,043 
   112,173 

   128,479 
   7,130 

      7 %  
   16,306 

      15 %  
   

Amortization of intangible assets  
   24,363 

   12,267 
   11,902 

   (12,096 )  
   -50 %  

   (365 )  
   -3 %  

   
Facility exit and restructuring costs  

   28,394 
   2,080 

   (117 )  (26,314 )  
   -93 %  

   (2,197 )  
   -106 %  

   
Total operating costs and expenses  

   1,271,444 
   1,125,576 

   1,225,625 
   (145,868 )  

   -11 %  
   100,049 

      9 %  
   

Income from operations  
   110,758 

   164,496 
   75,642 

   53,738 
      49 %  

   (88,854 )  
   -54 %  

   
Net losses of equity affiliate  

   — 
   (15,608 )  (84,782 )  (15,608 )  

   * 
      (69,174 )  

   * 
      

Gain (loss) on investments in other companies, 
net  

   (1,420 )  2,877 
   377 

   4,297 
      * 

      (2,500 )  
   -87 %  

   
Interest income and other, net  

   6,131 
   13,491 

   14,636 
   7,360 

      120 %  
   1,145 

      8 %  
   

Income before income taxes  
   115,469 

   165,256 
   5,873 

   49,787 
      43 %  

   (159,383 )  
   -96 %  

   
Provision for income taxes  

   4,460 
   22,476 

   886 
   18,016 

      * 
      (21,590 )  

   -96 %  
   

Net income  
   $ 111,009 

   $ 142,780 
   $ 4,987 

   $ 31,771 
      29 %  

   $ (137,793 )  
   -97 %  

   
Cash flow data:  

                                                         
Cash provided by operating activities  

   $ 188,152 
   $ 188,704 

   $ 115,249 
                                       

Cash used in investing activities  
   $ (69,070 )  $ (65,081 )  $ (283,064 )  

                                    
Cash (used in) provided by financing activities  

   $ (108,912 )  $ (169,239 )  $ 152,890 
                                       

Employee data:  
                                                         

Number of employees at year end (#)  
   2,067 

   1,732 
   2,210 

                                       



Narrowband access revenues  

Narrowband access revenues primarily consist of monthly fees charged to customers for dial-up Internet access. Narrowband revenues 
decreased 15% to $742.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2005 and decreased 17% to $618.0 million during the year ended 
December 31, 2006, compared to the prior years. The decreases in narrowband revenues in both years were due to decreases in narrowband 
ARPU and decreases in average narrowband subscribers. Revenues also decreased during the year ended December 31, 2005 due to the transfer 
of wireless operations to HELIO effective March 24, 2005, which caused narrowband access revenues to decrease by $17.8 million and 
contributed to the decrease in average narrowband subscribers compared to the year ended December 31, 2004.  

ARPU.    Narrowband ARPU decreased from $18.37 during the year ended December 31, 2004 to $16.61 during the year ended 
December 31, 2005 and to $15.49 during the year ended December 31, 2006. These decreases were due to the shift in the mix of our 
narrowband subscriber base from premium narrowband access services, which are typically priced at $21.95 per month, to our PeoplePC value-
priced narrowband access services, which are generally priced at $10.95 per month. During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 
2006, average PeoplePC access subscribers were 0.6 million, 1.1 million and 1.4 million, respectively, representing 16%, 29% and 42%, 
respectively, of our average narrowband customer base. Also contributing to the decreases in narrowband service ARPU, although to a lesser 
extent, was the increased use of promotional pricing for our service offerings.  

Subscribers.    The following table summarizes narrowband subscriber activity for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006:  

(a)            Effective March 24, 2005, we transferred approximately 27,000 wireless subscribers to HELIO in connection with completing the 
formation of HELIO.  

Average narrowband subscribers were 4.0 million, 3.7 million and 3.4 million during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, 
respectively. In addition to the overall decrease in average narrowband subscribers over the past three years, the mix of customers shifted from 
premium narrowband subscribers to PeoplePC narrowband subscribers because the growth in our average PeoplePC narrowband subscribers 
was offset by a decline in our average premium narrowband customers, the combination of which resulted in a change in the composition of 
our narrowband customer base. Average premium narrowband subscribers decreased by 0.7 million and 0.7 million during 2005 and 2006, 
respectively, while average PeoplePC subscribers increased 0.4 million and 0.4 million, respectively. The decreases in premium narrowband 
subscribers resulted from the migration of subscribers to broadband services and the continued maturing and ongoing competitiveness of the 
market for narrowband Internet access. We expect the mix of our narrowband subscriber base to continue to shift from premium narrowband 
access services to PeoplePC access services for the foreseeable future.  
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      Year Ended December 31,     
      2004     2005     2006     

Subscribers at beginning of year  
   3,984,000 

   3,880,000 
   3,580,000 

   
Gross organic subscriber additions  

   2,450,000 
   2,131,000 

   1,978,000 
   

Acquired subscribers  
   12,000 

   147,000 
   104,000 

   
Narrowband subscribers converted to our broadband 

services, net  
   (15,000 )  (88,000 )  (44,000 ) 

Adjustment (a)  
   — 

   (27,000 )  — 
   

Churn  
   (2,551,000 )  (2,463,000 )  (2,317,000 ) 

Subscribers at end of year  
   3,880,000 

   3,580,000 
   3,301,000 

   



Our results of operations are significantly affected by subscriber cancellations, or “churn.” Our average monthly churn rates for 
narrowband subscribers were 5.3%, 5.5% and 5.6% during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. The increase in 
churn over the past few years was due to early-life churn related to the high level of gross subscriber additions, particularly for our PeoplePC 
access services whose shorter-tenured customers comprise an increasingly greater proportion of our customer base and an increased number of 
subscribers who are migrating to broadband services. If churn rates continue to be at or above the rate experienced in 2006, our narrowband 
subscriber base may decrease at an accelerated rate which could adversely affect our business.  

Broadband access revenues  

Broadband access revenues consist of retail and wholesale fees charged for high-speed, high-capacity access services including DSL, 
cable, satellite and wireless services; fees charged for high-speed data networks to businesses and communications carriers; fees charged for IP-
based voice services; installation fees; termination fees; fees for equipment; and regulatory surcharges billed to customers. Broadband revenues 
increased 5% to $441.7 million and 27% to $559.7 million during the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively, compared to the 
prior years. The increases were primarily due to increases in average broadband subscribers.  

Subscribers.    The following table summarizes broadband subscriber activity for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006:  

(a)            Acquired subscribers for year ended December 31, 2006 represents broadband subscribers acquired in the New Edge merger transaction.  

The average number of broadband subscribers was 1.2 million, 1.5 million and 1.8 million during the years ended December 31, 2004, 
2005 and 2006, respectively. The average number of broadband subscribers increased over the past three years primarily due to the continued 
growth in the market for broadband access and our and our partners’ efforts to promote broadband services. Also contributing to the increase in 
average broadband subscribers during the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to the prior year was the acquisition of New Edge and the 
addition of IP-based voice subscribers due to the launch of EarthLink DSL and Home Phone Service in several markets during 2006.  

ARPU.    Broadband ARPU depends on a variety of factors including changes in the mix of customers and their related pricing plans; the 
use of promotions and discounted pricing plans to obtain or retain subscribers; increases or decreases in the prices of our existing services; and 
the addition of new services. We currently offer several broadband access services at different price plans, we offer our broadband access 
services to consumers and businesses, and we provide services through retail and wholesale relationships. All of these have an effect on our 
overall broadband ARPU.  

In a retail relationship, we market the service directly to consumers and businesses under an EarthLink brand, have latitude in establishing 
price, and are responsible for most aspects of providing the service, including first tier customer support. In a wholesale relationship, a 
telecommunications partner markets the service, has latitude in establishing price and pays us to provide underlying broadband access  
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      Year Ended December 31,     
      2004     2005     2006     

Subscribers at beginning of year  
   1,061,000 

   1,364,000 
   1,608,000 

   
Gross organic subscriber additions  

   660,000 
   616,000 

   708,000 
   

Acquired subscribers (a)  
   — 

   — 
   58,000 

   
Narrowband subscribers converted to our broadband services, 

net  
   15,000 

   88,000 
   44,000 

   
Churn  

   (372,000 )  (460,000 )  (532,000 ) 
Subscribers at end of year  

   1,364,000 
   1,608,000 

   1,886,000 
   



or Internet services such as authentication, email, web space, news and varying degrees of customer support. In a retail relationship, we 
generally recognize the amount the subscriber is billed as revenue, but in a wholesale relationship, we recognize the amount due from the 
wholesale partner as revenue. Consumer retail broadband services are generally priced above $35 per month per subscriber to cover all of the 
costs of the service; however, certain retail relationships, such as those with EarthLink Experience and certain cable customers, generate per 
month revenues that are less than $20 and have negligible telecommunications service and equipment costs. Consumer retail voice services are 
generally priced between $25 and $70 per month and consumer retail wireless broadband services are generally priced at $22 per month. 
Consumer wholesale broadband relationships are priced between $3 and $6 per month recognizing the limited set of activities performed by 
EarthLink. Retail business services generally have an ARPU between $110 and $130 for non-networked solutions and an ARPU between $175 
and $225 for networked solutions. Wholesale business services generally have an ARPU between $60 and $80. The pricing for small and 
medium enterprises depends upon customer requirements for different service delivery methods, amounts of bandwidth, quality of service and 
distance from the points of presence, and may vary widely from these ranges. The number of customers being added or served at any point in 
time through our wholesale efforts is subject to the business and marketing circumstances of our telecommunications partners.  

Broadband ARPU declined 14% during the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to the prior year due primarily to lower retail DSL 
ARPU resulting from the increased use of promotional pricing and general declines in retail DSL prices introduced as a result of declines in 
costs from our DSL service providers. Also contributing to the decrease in broadband ARPU was a shift in the mix of our broadband subscriber 
base from retail services to wholesale services. The shift in the mix of our broadband customer base was attributable to growing our wholesale 
DSL customer base at a faster rate during 2005 than our retail customer base.  

Broadband ARPU increased 1% during the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to the prior year due primarily to the addition of 
higher ARPU New Edge subscribers. Offsetting these increases was lower retail DSL ARPU resulting from the increased use of promotional 
pricing; general declines in retail DSL prices introduced as a result of declines in costs from our DSL service providers; and a shift in the mix 
of our broadband subscriber base from retail services to wholesale services and, within our retail broadband customer base, from retail DSL 
subscribers to retail cable subscribers.  

The pricing of our retail broadband access services is subject to competitive pressures that are beyond our control. Incumbent local 
exchange carriers (“ILECs”) have generally reduced retail prices for their broadband service offerings. Such competitive pressures may cause 
us to decrease the price of our retail broadband access services which may cause our service offerings to be uneconomical in certain markets 
and may result in a decrease in overall broadband ARPU and/or a reduction in gross margin dollars per subscriber. Any of these could 
materially adversely affect our business.  

We purchase broadband access from ILECs, competitive local exchange carriers (“CLECs”), and cable providers. Please refer to 
“Regulatory Environment” in Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of Part I for further discussion of 
the regulatory environment and further discussion regarding our contracts with broadband access providers.  

Advertising and other value-added services revenues  

Advertising and other value-added services revenues consist of revenues from promotional arrangements with advertisers, retailers, 
service providers and content providers. We earn these revenues by paid placements for searches; delivering traffic to our partners in the form 
of subscribers, page views or e-commerce revenues; advertising our partners’ products and services in our various online properties and 
electronic publications, including the Personal Start Page ; and referring our customers to our partners’  
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products and services. Advertising and other value-added services revenues also include certain ancillary services sold as add-on features to our 
Internet services, such as email storage, security products and Internet call waiting.  

Advertising and other value-added services revenues increased 57% to $64.9 million and 36% to $88.1 million during the years ended 
December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively, compared to the prior years due primarily to increased search advertising revenues and revenues 
from our promotional arrangements, resulting from increased use of the Internet as an advertising medium. Also contributing to the increases 
were increases of $9.0 million and $5.7 million in ancillary services revenues during the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, 
respectively, compared to the prior years. We expect our advertising and other value-added services to continue to grow as we continue to 
develop and market new products.  

Web hosting revenues  

We earn web hosting revenues by leasing server space and providing web services to individuals and businesses wishing to present a web 
or e-commerce presence on the Internet. Web hosting revenues decreased 14% to $40.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2005 and 
decreased 13% to $35.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2006, compared to the prior year periods. The decreases were primarily 
due to decreases in average web hosting accounts, which were 153,000, 136,000 and 118,000 during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 
and 2006, respectively. Contributing to the decrease during the year ended December 31, 2005 was a 3% decrease in ARPU, from $25.84 
during the year ended December 31, 2004 to $24.97 during the year ended December 31, 2005. The decrease during the year ended 
December 31, 2006 was offset by an increase in ARPU, which increased 2% from $24.97 during the year ended December 31, 2005 to $25.55 
during the year ended December 31, 2006, due to the launch of new products with higher price points.  

Cost of revenues  

Telecommunications service and equipment costs are the primary component of our cost of revenues and consist of telecommunications 
fees, set-up fees, network equipment costs incurred to provide our Internet access services and depreciation of our network equipment. 
Telecommunications service and equipment costs also include the cost of equipment and devices used by our subscribers to access our services. 
Our principal providers for narrowband telecommunications services are Level 3 Communications, Inc. and Sprint Nextel Corporation, and our 
largest providers of broadband connectivity are Covad and Time Warner Cable. We also do lesser amounts of business with a wide variety of 
local, regional and other national providers. EarthLink purchases broadband access from ILECs, CLECs and cable providers.  

Telecommunications service and equipment costs decreased 15% to $366.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2005, and 
decreased as a percentage of total revenues from 31.2% to 28.4%. The decrease in telecommunications service and equipment costs was 
primarily a result of more favorable agreements with telecommunications service providers as well as optimizing network capacity to reduce 
costs. In general, the telecommunications cost per subscriber has declined over time, resulting from improvements in communications 
technology, the increasing scale of Internet-related business, and competition among telecommunications providers. Also contributing to the 
decrease was a $6.1 million decline in equipment and related costs primarily due to the transfer of wireless operations to HELIO in 
March 2005; an $8.4 million decrease in depreciation expense due to network-related assets becoming fully depreciated and lower capital 
expenditures in recent years; and the shift in the mix of our broadband customer base to wholesale and certain retail cable customers who have 
nominal telecommunications service and equipment costs.  

Telecommunications service and equipment costs increased 16% from $366.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2005 to $424.4 
million during the year ended December 31, 2006, and increased as a percentage of total revenues from 28.4% to 32.6%. This was due to an 
increase in average monthly costs  
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per subscriber, primarily a result of acquired New Edge subscribers who have a higher average cost per subscriber as New Edge provides high-
speed data networks to small and medium-sized businesses. Offsetting this increase were reduced costs resulting from more favorable 
agreements with telecommunications service providers as well as optimizing network capacity to reduce costs.  

Our retail broadband access and managed data networks services have a higher telecommunications cost of revenue per subscriber than 
our other principal forms of Internet access and related services. As a result, we expect telecommunications service and equipment costs per 
subscriber to increase in 2007 as we seek to grow our managed data networks services. We expect that there may be additional, although 
limited, opportunities to reduce such costs by continuing to eliminate higher cost providers, reducing costs from the remaining vendors, and 
achieving higher utilization of existing telecommunications capacity. These initiatives may offset the negative effect expected to result from the 
increase in telecommunications service and equipment costs per subscriber.  

Cost of revenues also includes sales incentives. We frequently offer sales incentives such as free Internet access on a trial basis and 
modems. Sales incentives decreased 11% from $10.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2004 to $9.0 million during the year ended 
December 31, 2005 due to a decline in modem prices and a decrease in the number of modems provided to customers as a result of a decrease 
in retail DSL gross adds. Sales incentives increased 22% to $10.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2006 due to an increase in 
modems and other equipment provided to customers resulting from the launch of our IP-based voice services during 2006.  

Sales and marketing  

Sales and marketing expenses include advertising and promotion expenses, fees paid to distribution partners to acquire new paying 
subscribers, personnel-related expenses and telemarketing costs incurred to acquire and retain subscribers. Sales and marketing expenses 
decreased 7% to $389.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to the prior year. The decrease was primarily due to 
declines in amounts payable to our distribution partners as a result of declines in gross subscriber additions and continued declines in our 
telemarketing sales expenses, which were favorably impacted by the closing of four contact centers during the first quarter of 2004. These 
decreases were offset by an increase in our sales and marketing expenses for PeoplePC and broadband services.  

Sales and marketing expenses remained relatively constant at $389.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to the 
prior year. This was primarily due to sales and marketing expenses to launch our IP-based voice products and municipal wireless broadband 
services, an increase in sales and marketing for our value-added services, the inclusion of New Edge sales and marketing expenses, and stock-
based compensation expense from the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123(R), “Share-Based 
Payment,” on January 1, 2006. Sales and marketing expenses for the year ended December 31, 2006 included $3.3 million of stock-based 
compensation expense. Substantially offsetting these increases was a decrease in sales and marketing for our premium narrowband services. 
Sales and marketing expenses may increase during 2007 as we increase marketing efforts for our voice services and to launch our municipal 
wireless broadband services in additional markets.  

Operations and customer support  

Operations and customer support expenses consist of costs associated with technical support and customer service, providing our 
subscribers with toll-free access to our technical support and customer service centers, maintenance of customer information systems, software 
development and network operations. Operations and customer support expenses decreased 8% to $233.9 million during the year ended 
December 31, 2005 compared to the prior year. The decrease during the year ended December 31, 2005 was primarily due to decreases in 
outsourcing costs resulting from lower rates from service providers as well as continued cost savings from the contact center closings 
completed during the first quarter of 2004 .  
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Operations and customer support expenses increased 12% from $233.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2005 to $260.9 
million during the year ended December 31, 2006. The increase was primarily the result of the inclusion of New Edge operations and customer 
support expenses, expenses associated with our municipal wireless broadband growth initiative, an increase in operations expense for our 
value-added services and an increase due to stock-based compensation expense from the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) on January 1, 2006. 
Operations and customer support expenses for the year ended December 31, 2006 included $6.5 million of stock-based compensation expense. 
Partially offsetting these increases was a decrease in operations and customer support expenses for our premium narrowband services, 
including a decrease in communications costs for providing subscribers with toll-free access to our technical support and customer service 
centers.  

General and administrative  

General and administrative expenses consist of fully burdened costs associated with the executive, finance, legal and human resources 
departments; outside professional services; payment processing; credit card fees; collections and bad debt. General and administrative expenses 
increased 7% to $112.2 million and 15% to $128.5 million during the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively, compared to the 
prior years. The increase during the year ended December 31, 2005 was primarily due to an increase in legal fees, increased professional and 
investment advisor fees resulting from the formation of the HELIO joint venture in March 2005 and certain state sales tax refunds received 
during 2004. These increases were partially offset by decreases in bad debt and payment processing expenses and depreciation expense.  

The increase during the year ended December 31, 2006 was primarily due to the inclusion of New Edge general and administrative 
expenses; increases in personnel, professional fees and travel costs resulting from the implementation of our various growth initiatives; and an 
increase due to stock-based compensation expense from the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) on January 1, 2006. General and administrative 
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2006 included $4.4 million of stock-based compensation expense.  

Amortization of intangible assets  

Amortization of intangible assets represents the amortization of definite lived intangible assets acquired in purchases of businesses and 
purchases of customer bases from other companies. Definite lived intangible assets, which primarily consist of subscriber bases and customer 
relationships, acquired software and technology and other assets, are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which 
range from one to six years. Amortization of intangible assets decreased 50% from $24.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2004 to 
$12.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2005 and decreased 3% to $11.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2006. The 
decreases were primarily the result of several subscriber base assets becoming fully amortized over the past three years and a decrease in 
subscriber base acquisitions in recent years. Additionally, contributing to the decrease during the year ended December 31, 2005 was the 
subscriber base acquired in the Cidco Incorporated (“Cidco”) transaction becoming fully amortized in November 2004. Offsetting the decrease 
during the year ended December 31, 2006 was an increase due to amortization of identifiable definite lived intangible assets resulting from the 
acquisition of New Edge.  

Facility exit and restructuring costs  

2004 costs.    During the first quarter of 2004, we executed a plan to restructure and further streamline our contact center operations (the 
“2004 Plan”). Under the 2004 Plan, we closed contact center operations in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania; Roseville, California; San Jose, 
California; and Pasadena, California; and reduced contact center operations in Atlanta, Georgia. Approximately 1,140 employees were directly 
impacted, primarily customer support personnel. In connection with the 2004 Plan, we recorded facility  
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exit costs of $30.2 million, including $10.5 million for employee, personnel and related costs; $11.3 million for real estate and 
telecommunications costs; and $8.4 million in asset disposals.  

We evaluate and adjust our estimates for facility exit costs as events occur and record such adjustments as facility exit costs. During the 
year ended December 31, 2004, we reduced our estimates for real estate commitments associated with our facility exit and restructuring plans 
by $2.0 million and realized additional expense of $0.2 million associated with the disposal and write-down of fixed assets, net of proceeds 
received. As a result of the 2004 Plan and the subsequent changes in estimates to the 2003 Plan and 2004 Plan, we recorded facility exit costs 
of $28.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2004.  

2005 costs.    During the third quarter of 2005, we executed plans to further streamline operations by outsourcing certain contact center 
and credit and collections activities (the “2005 Plans”). Approximately 227 employees were directly impacted. As a result of the 2005 Plans, 
we recorded restructuring costs of $1.4 million for severance and personnel related costs.  

During year ended December 31, 2005, we increased our estimate for real estate commitments associated with the 2004 Plan by $0.7 
million, primarily associated with estimates of operating expenses for various facilities. As a result of the 2005 Plans and the subsequent 
changes in estimates to the liabilities recorded for our contact center restructurings, we recorded facility exit and restructuring costs of 
$2.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2005.  

Net losses of equity affiliate  

We account for our investment in HELIO under the equity method of accounting because we can exert significant influence over HELIO’s 
operating and financial policies. Accordingly, we record our proportionate share of HELIO’s net losses. These equity method losses are offset 
by increases in the carrying value of our investment associated with amortizing the difference between the book value of non-cash assets 
contributed to HELIO and their fair value. These increases, which result in decreases in the net losses of equity affiliate in our statements of 
operations, are being recorded over the estimated useful lives of the non-cash assets contributed. Net losses of equity affiliate for the years 
ended December 31, 2005 and 2006 of $15.6 million and $84.8 million, respectively, included our proportionate share of HELIO’s net losses 
offset by amortization associated with recognizing the difference between the carrying value and fair value of non-cash assets contributed. Due 
to the start-up nature of HELIO’s operations and HELIO’s product launches in 2006, we expect HELIO’s net loss to continue to increase, and, 
as a result, we expect our net losses of equity affiliate to increase as we record our proportionate share of HELIO’s net losses.  

Gain (loss) on investments in other companies, net  

During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, we recorded losses of $1.4 million and $0.9 million, respectively, on certain of our 
investments in other companies as a result of declines in fair value that were considered to be other than temporary.  

During the year ended December 31, 2005, we received $4.4 million in cash distributions from eCompanies Venture Group, L.P. 
(“EVG”). In applying the cost method, we recorded $0.6 million as a return of our investment based on the carrying value of our investment in 
EVG, and gains of $3.8 million were included in gain (loss) on investments in other companies, net. During the year ended December 31, 2006 
we recorded a $0.4 million gain on investments due to an additional EVG distribution.  

Except for HELIO, we do not exercise significant influence or control over the operating and financial policies of the companies in which 
we have invested. We are not the primary beneficiary for any of the companies in which we have invested. Accordingly, we use the cost 
method to account for our investments in other companies.  
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Interest income and other, net  

Interest income and other, net, increased from $6.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2004 to $13.5 million during the year 
ended December 31, 2005 primarily due to an increase in investment yields, offset by a decrease in our average cash and marketable securities 
balances. Our weighted average investment yields increased from approximately 1.6% during year ended December 31, 2004 to approximately 
3.1% during the year ended December 31, 2005, as the U.S. Federal Reserve Bank has increased interest rates. Our average cash and 
marketable securities balance decreased from $507.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2004 to $446.5 million during the year ended 
December 31, 2005. Our cash and investment balances decreased as a result of repurchases of our common stock, investments in the HELIO 
joint venture, capital expenditures and the purchases of businesses and subscriber bases, offset by cash provided by operations.  

Interest income and other, net, increased from $13.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2005 to $14.6 million during the year 
ended December 31, 2006 primarily due to an increase in investment yields and an increase due to interest income from our investment in 
Covad, substantially offset by a decrease in our average cash and marketable securities balances. Our weighted average investment yields 
increased from approximately 3.1% during year ended December 31, 2005 to approximately 4.8% during the year ended December 31, 2006, 
as the U.S. Federal Reserve Bank has increased interest rates. Our average cash and marketable securities balance decreased from $446.5 
million during the year ended December 31, 2005 to $295.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2006. Our cash and investment 
balances decreased as a result of repurchases of our common stock, investments in the HELIO joint venture, our investment in Covad to fund 
line-powered voice, capital expenditures, the acquisition of New Edge and purchases of subscriber bases from other companies, offset by cash 
provided by operations and cash provided by the issuance of convertible senior notes.  

Provision for income taxes  

The provision for income taxes was $4.5 million, $22.5 million and $0.9 million during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 
2006, respectively. Although we utilized net operating loss carryforwards to offset taxable income in those years, state income and federal and 
state alternative minimum tax (“AMT”) amounts aggregating $5.4 million were payable in 2005, and the AMT was payable primarily due to 
the net operating loss carryforward limitations associated with the AMT calculation. Although certain of the AMT amounts can be used in 
future periods to offset taxable income, we established a valuation allowance for the AMT amounts payable due to uncertainty regarding their 
realizability, which resulted in an income tax provision of $2.6 million in 2005. The provision for income taxes in 2005 also includes a non-
cash deferred tax provision of $17.1 million associated with the utilization of net operating loss carryforwards which were acquired in 
connection with the acquisitions of OneMain, PeoplePC and Cidco. The increase in the provision for income taxes during the year ended 
December 31, 2005 compared to the prior year was primarily due to the realization of NOLs of acquired companies and the mix of organic and 
acquired NOLs realized, because the realization of NOLs of acquired companies results in non-cash, deferred income tax expense. The 
provision for income taxes during the year ended December 31, 2006 primarily consisted of state income tax amounts due in jurisdictions 
where we do not have NOLs.  

We continue to maintain a full valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets, consisting primarily of net operating loss 
carryforwards, and we may recognize deferred tax assets in future periods when they are determined to be realizable.  

Stock-Based Compensation  

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for stock-based compensation issued to employees using the intrinsic value method. Generally, no 
stock-based employee compensation cost related to stock options  
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was reflected in net income, as all options granted under stock-based compensation plans had an exercise price equal to the market value of the 
underlying common stock on the grant date. Compensation cost related to restricted stock units granted to non-employee directors and certain 
key employees was reflected in net income as services were rendered.  

On January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123(R), which requires measurement of compensation cost for all stock awards at fair value on 
the date of grant and recognition of compensation over the requisite service period for awards expected to vest. The fair value of our stock 
options is estimated using the Black-Scholes valuation model, and the fair value of restricted stock units is determined based on the number of 
shares granted and the quoted price of our common stock on the date of grant . Such value is recognized as expense over the requisite service 
period, net of estimated forfeitures, using the straight-line attribution method. The estimate of awards that will ultimately vest requires 
significant judgment, and to the extent actual results or updated estimates differ from management’s current estimates, such amounts will be 
recorded as a cumulative adjustment in the period estimates are revised. We consider many factors when estimating expected forfeitures, 
including types of awards, employee class and historical employee attrition rates. Actual results, and future changes in estimates, may differ 
substantially from our current estimates.  

We adopted SFAS 123(R) using the modified prospective method which requires the application of the accounting standard as of 
January 1, 2006. Our consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006 reflects the impact of SFAS 123(R). In 
accordance with the modified prospective method, the consolidated financial statements for the prior years have not been restated to reflect, and 
do not include, the impact of SFAS 123(R). The cumulative effect of adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) was not material. Stock-based 
compensation expense under SFAS No. 123(R) was $14.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2006, of which $12.2 million related to 
stock options and $2.0 million related to restricted stock units. Stock-based compensation during the year ended December 31, 2006 is 
classified within the same operating expense line items as cash compensation paid to employees. Stock-based compensation expense was $0.6 
million and $1.5 million during the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively, which related to restricted stock units and 
modifications of stock options.  

Facility Exit and Restructuring Costs  

During the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005, we executed plans to streamline our contact center facilities and operations. 
Under the 2003 Plan, we closed contact centers in Dallas, Texas; Sacramento, California; Pasadena, California; and Seattle, Washington. The 
closure of the four contact centers resulted in the termination of 1,220 employees and a net reduction of 920 employees, primarily customer 
support personnel. Under the 2004 Plan, EarthLink closed contact center operations in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania; Roseville, California; San 
Jose, California; and Pasadena, California; and reduced contact center operations in Atlanta, Georgia. Approximately 1,140 employees were 
directly impacted, primarily customer support personnel. Under the 2005 Plans, we outsourced certain contact center and credit and collections 
activities. Approximately 227 employees were directly impacted. We realized reduced costs following the years of the restructurings as a result 
of completing the various plans.  

As of December 31, 2006, we had paid all telecommunications service termination costs and employee and personnel related costs related 
to the 2003 Plan, the 2004 Plan and the 2005 Plans. As of December 31, 2006, we had $1.2 million and $2.6 million remaining for real estate 
commitments associated with the 2003 Plan and the 2004 Plan, respectively. We expect to incur future cash outflows for real estate obligations 
through 2010 related to the 2003 Plan and through 2008 related to the 2004 Plan.  
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Liquidity and Capital Resources  

The following table sets forth summarized cash flow data for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006:  

   

Operating activities  

Net cash provided by operating activities was relatively constant during the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, but decreased 
during the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to the prior years. This was primarily due to an increase in costs related to our broadband 
initiatives, including municipal wireless broadband and IP-based voice services, as we used cash generated from our core access services to 
fund these initiatives. Cash flows from operating activities are expected to be adversely affected in 2007 as we continue to fund our strategic 
initiatives in the form of increased operating and sales and marketing expenses; however, we must seek to effectively manage expenses 
associated with our core access services and our working capital to mitigate the adverse impact our growth initiatives are expected to have on 
our operating cash flows.  

Non-cash items include items that are not expected to generate or require the use of cash, such as depreciation and amortization relating to 
our network, facilities and intangible assets, net losses of equity affiliate, deferred income taxes, stock-based compensation, non-cash disposals 
and impairments of fixed assets and gain (loss) on investments in other companies, net. Non-cash items decreased during the year ended 
December 31, 2005 due to decreases in depreciation and amortization expense, offset by net losses of equity affiliate related to our investment 
in HELIO and deferred income taxes associated with the utilization of acquired net operating loss carryforwards. Non-cash items increased 
during the year ended December 31, 2006 due to an increase in net losses of equity affiliate and stock-based compensation expense from the 
adoption of SFAS No. 123(R).  

Changes in working capital requirements include changes in accounts receivable, prepaid and other assets, accounts payable, accrued and 
other liabilities and deferred revenue. Cash used for working capital requirements increased during 2005 primarily due to declines in accrued 
liabilities for telecommunications costs due largely to decreases in such costs and payments for contractual commitments associated with 
facility exit and restructuring costs. Cash used for working capital requirements increased during 2006 primarily due to an increase in prepaid 
expenses and other assets.  

Investing activities  

Net cash used for investing activities was relatively constant during the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, but increased during 
the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to the prior years. This was primarily due to investments in our strategic initiatives, including 
municipal wireless broadband, IP-based voice services and New Edge, and investments in HELIO. Additionally, over the past few years we 
have invested significantly in our network and technology center infrastructure, and we expect to  
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      Year Ended December 31,     
      2004     2005     2006     
      (in thousands)     

Net income  
   $ 111,009 

   $ 142,780 
   $ 4,987 

   
Non-cash items  

   119,597 
   100,844 

   169,207 
   

Changes in working capital  
   (42,454 )  (54,920 )  (58,945 ) 

Net cash provided by operating activities  
   $ 188,152 

   $ 188,704 
   $ 115,249 

   
Net cash used in investing activities  

   $ (69,070 )  $ (65,081 )  $ (283,064 ) 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities  
   $ (108,912 )  $ (169,239 )  $ 152,890 

   



continue to invest capital to enhance the reliability and capacity of our network, to improve the efficiency of our technical and customer 
support services and to build out municipal wireless broadband networks.  

Our investing activities used cash of $69.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2004. This consisted primarily of $33.7 million 
for purchases of investments in marketable securities, net of sales and maturities, as a result of investing cash flows generated by operating 
activities in marketable securities; $29.9 million for capital expenditures, primarily associated with network and technology center related 
projects; $3.8 million for investments in other companies; and $2.4 million for acquiring subscriber bases from other companies, primarily 
related to paying liabilities incurred in the acquisitions of subscriber bases during 2003.  

Our investing activities used cash of $65.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2005. This consisted primarily of $82.3 million 
for our investment in HELIO. In addition, we used $33.9 million for capital expenditures, primarily associated with network and technology 
center related projects; $9.4 million to purchase the assets of Aluria; and $6.7 million for acquiring subscriber bases from other companies. 
Offsetting these investing outlays were proceeds of $63.5 million from sales and maturities of investments in marketable securities, net of 
purchases, and $4.4 million of distributions received from our equity investments in other companies.  

Our investing activities used cash of $283.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2006. This consisted of $108.7 million for our 
acquisition of New Edge; $79.0 million for our investment in HELIO; $60.0 million for investments in other companies, including our 
investment in Covad; $38.9 million for capital expenditures, primarily associated with network and technology center related projects; and $8.9 
million for acquiring subscriber bases from other companies. Management continuously reviews industry and economic conditions to identify 
opportunities to pursue acquisitions of subscriber bases and invest in and acquire other companies. Offsetting these investing outlays were 
proceeds of $12.7 million from sales and maturities of investments in marketable securities, net of purchases.  

Financing activities  

Our financing activities used cash of $108.9 million and $169.2 million during the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, 
respectively. This consisted primarily of $125.7 million and $192.6 million, respectively, used to repurchase 12.7 million and 20.5 million 
shares, respectively, of our common stock. Offsetting cash used for repurchases were proceeds from the exercise of stock options and from the 
sale of common stock pursuant to our employee stock purchase plan of $17.7 million and $23.4 million during the years ended December 31, 
2004 and 2005, respectively. Our financing activities provided cash of $152.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2006. This consisted 
primarily of $251.6 million from the issuance of convertible senior notes in November 2006, net of issuance costs. Approximately $15.1 
million of the proceeds from the issuance of convertible senior notes were used for hedging transactions to reduce the potential dilution upon 
conversion. The remaining proceeds will be used for general corporate purposes. We also received $4.0 million in proceeds from the exercise 
of stock options. Offsetting this cash provided was $85.6 million used to repurchase 11.3 million shares of our common stock.  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

As of December 31, 2006, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or 
future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital 
expenditures or capital resources that are material to investors.  
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments  

As of December 31, 2006, we had the following contractual commitments:  

(1)   These amounts represent base rent payments under non-cancelable operating leases for facilities and equipment that expire in various 
years through 2014, as well as an allocation for operating expenses. Not included in these amounts is contracted sublease income of $3.6 
million, $2.5 million, $1.7 million, $1.2 million and $0.1 million during the years ending December 31, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011, 
respectively.  

(2)   These amounts represent non-cancelable network service agreements with third-party providers of Internet access that expire at various 
dates through 2009 and other purchase commitments.  

(3)   During November 2006, we issued $258.8 million aggregate principal amount of Convertible Senior Notes due November 15, 2026 (the 
“Notes”) in a registered offering, which includes the exercise by the underwriters of their option to purchase an additional $33.8 million to 
cover over-allotments. The Notes bear interest at 3.25% per year on the principal amount of the Notes until November 15, 2011, and 
3.50% interest per year on the principal amount of the Notes thereafter, payable semi-annually in May and November of each year.  

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we entered into a financing lease agreement with General Electric Capital Corporation to lease 
certain equipment necessary to build out our municipal wireless infrastructure in selected markets. Under the agreement, we can lease up to 
$75.0 million of assets. As of December 31, 2006, no equipment was leased pursuant to the financing agreement.  

Share Repurchase Program  

The Board of Directors has authorized a total of $550.0 million to repurchase our common stock under our share repurchase program. As 
of February 28, 2007, we had utilized approximately $454.7 million pursuant to the authorizations and had $95.3 million available under the 
current authorization. We may repurchase our common stock from time to time in compliance with the Securities and Exchange Commission’s 
regulations and other legal requirements, and subject to market conditions and other factors. The share repurchase program does not require us 
to acquire any specific number of shares and may be terminated by the Board of Directors at any time. We have not repurchased common stock 
under this program since October 2006.  

Income Taxes  

We continue to maintain a full valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets of $356.9 million, consisting primarily of net operating 
loss carryforwards, and we may recognize deferred tax assets in future periods when they are determined to be realizable. To the extent we may 
owe income taxes in future periods, we intend to use our net operating loss carryforwards to the extent available to reduce cash outflows for 
income taxes.  
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      Year Ending December 31,     
      2007     2008     2009     2010 –  

2014     
      (in millions)     

Non-cancelable operating leases(1)  
   $ 14.9 

   $ 11.1 
   $ 12.5 

   $ 50.5 
   

Non-cancelable network service agreements and purchase 
commitments(2)  

   55.6 
   37.1 

   5.1 
   — 

   
Long-term debt(3)  

   — 
   — 

   — 
   258.8 

   
   

   $ 70.5 
   $ 48.2 

   $ 17.6 
   $ 309.3 

   



Future Uses of Cash and Funding Sources  

We expect to use and invest cash during the year ending December 31, 2007 for a number of reasons, including building municipal 
wireless networks and growing our subscriber base for municipal wireless services, IP-based voice services and business services. This will 
primarily consist of increased operating and sales and marketing expenditures. We also expect to use cash for commitments pursuant to the 
Contribution and Formation Agreement for our HELIO joint venture, including cash contributions of $13.5 million paid in February 2007 and 
$6.0 million to be paid in August 2007, as well as for possible additional investments in HELIO.  

We have expended and will continue to expend significant resources enhancing our existing services and developing, acquiring, 
implementing and launching new services, such as IP-based voice services and wireless broadband services. We believe IP-based voice 
services and wireless broadband services represent significant growth opportunities and may require significant cash outlays. These uses of 
cash will be in the form of initial product development and infrastructure costs, followed by sales and marketing costs to add customers that 
will generate recurring revenues. Capital expenditures are expected to increase in 2007 as we invest in our growth initiatives. These initiatives 
may result in significant capital expenditures to develop, implement and build wireless broadband networks in various municipalities. We also 
expect to incur capital expenditures to maintain and upgrade our network and technology infrastructure. The actual amount of capital 
expenditures in 2007 as well as in future periods may fluctuate due to a number of factors which are difficult to predict and could change 
significantly over time, including, without limitation, the timing and extent of municipal wireless network build-outs and additional awards to 
build out networks. Additionally, technological advances may require us to make capital expenditures to develop or acquire new equipment or 
technology in order to replace aging or technologically obsolete equipment. We also expect to continue to use cash to acquire and retain new 
and existing subscribers for our core access services.  

HELIO is our joint venture with SK Telecom, that markets wireless voice and data services in the U.S. Pursuant to the Contribution and 
Formation Agreement, we invested $82.0 million of cash in 2005, invested $78.5 million of cash in 2006, invested $13.5 million in 
February 2007 and are committed to invest additional cash of $6.0 million in HELIO in August 2007. HELIO will require additional funding in 
the future and we expect we may invest additional cash in HELIO. We expect the future commitments to invest in HELIO to adversely affect 
our cash position.  

Our cash requirements depend on numerous factors, including the rate of market acceptance of our and HELIO’s services, our ability to 
successfully develop new revenue sources, our ability to maintain and expand our customer base, the rate of expansion of our network 
infrastructure, the size and types of acquisitions in which we may engage and the level of resources required to expand our sales and marketing 
programs.  

Our principal sources of liquidity are our cash, cash equivalents and investments in marketable securities, as well as the cash flow we 
generate from our core access operations. As of December 31, 2006, we had $158.4 million in cash and cash equivalents. In addition, we held 
short- and long-term investments in marketable securities valued at $214.9 million and $21.5 million, respectively. Short-term investments in 
marketable securities consist of investments that have maturity dates of up to one year from the balance sheet date and asset-backed, auction 
rate securities that have interest rate reset periods of up to one year from the balance sheet date, and long-term investments in marketable 
securities consist of investments that have maturity dates of more than one year from the balance sheet date.  

During November 2006, we issued $258.8 million aggregate principal amount of Convertible Senior Notes due November 15, 2026 in a 
registered offering, which includes the exercise by the underwriters of their option to purchase an additional $33.8 million to cover over-
allotments. We received net proceeds of $251.6 million after transaction fees of $7.2 million. We used $15.1 million of the proceeds for hedge  
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transactions and warrant transactions to reduce the potential dilution upon conversion of the convertible senior notes. The remaining proceeds 
will be used for general corporate purposes, including expenditures related to our growth initiatives.  

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we entered into a financing lease agreement with General Electric Capital Corporation to lease 
certain equipment necessary to build out our municipal wireless infrastructure in selected markets. Under the agreement, we can lease up to 
$75.0 million of assets. As of December 31, 2006, no equipment was leased pursuant to the financing agreement.  

Our available cash and marketable securities, together with our results of operations, are expected to be sufficient to meet our operating 
expenses, capital requirements and investment and other obligations for the next 12 months. However, as a result of our growth initiatives and 
other investment activities, we may seek additional financing in the future. Except for our financing lease agreement discussed above, we have 
no commitments for any additional financing and have no lines of credit or similar sources of financing. We cannot be sure that we can obtain 
additional financing on favorable terms, if at all, through the issuance of equity securities or the incurrence of additional debt. Additional equity 
financing may dilute our stockholders, and debt financing, if available, may restrict our ability to declare and pay dividends and raise future 
capital. If we are unable to obtain additional needed financing, we may be required to reduce our planned capital expenditures, suspend or 
reduce our investment activities and/or reduce any of our planned growth initiatives, which could materially and adversely affect our prospects 
for long-term growth.  

Related Party Transactions  

HELIO  

EarthLink and HELIO have entered into a services agreement pursuant to which we provide HELIO facilities, accounting, tax, billing, 
procurement, risk management, payroll, human resource, employee benefit administration and other support services in exchange for 
management fees. However, as HELIO develops its business, the extent to which HELIO relies on us to provide these services has decreased. 
We believe that providing these services to HELIO enabled HELIO to more quickly and cost effectively launch its business than if it were to 
purchase these services from third parties. The management fees were determined based on our costs to provide the services, and management 
believes such fees are reasonable. The total amount of fees that HELIO pays to us depends on the extent to which HELIO utilizes our services. 
Fees for services provided to HELIO are reflected as reductions to the associated expenses incurred by us to provide such services. During the 
years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, fees received for services provided to HELIO were $3.0 million and $2.3 million, respectively.  

We market HELIO’s products and services, and during the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, we generated revenues of $0.3 
million and $0.9 million, respectively, associated with marketing HELIO’s services.  

We purchase wireless Internet access devices and services from HELIO. During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, fees paid 
for products and services received from HELIO were $0.9 million and $0.9 million, respectively.  

As of December 31, 2005 and 2006, we had accounts receivable from HELIO of approximately $0.3 million and $0.8 million.  

Sprint  

Through its ownership interest in us, Sprint was considered a related party during the year ended December 31, 2004. Due to sales of 
shares of our common stock during the year ended December 31, 2005, Sprint is no longer considered a related party. We have a marketing 
relationship with Embarq, a  
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spin-off of Sprint’s local communications business. Our marketing relationship with Embarq generated approximately 10% of our total gross 
organic subscriber additions during the year ended December 31, 2004. In connection with our marketing relationship with Embarq, we 
provide wholesale broadband, narrowband and other services to Embarq. We received approximately $27.6 million during the year ended 
December 31, 2004 for these services. The prices for services provided by us to Embarq were negotiated at arms-length.  

Sprint is one of our principal telecommunications service providers. We paid Sprint approximately $57.6 million during the year ended 
December 31, 2004 associated with network and voice services agreements. The prices paid for services purchased from Sprint were negotiated 
at arms-length.  

Officers and Directors  

Our investments in other companies include an investment in EVG, a limited partnership formed to invest in domestic emerging Internet-
related companies. Sky Dayton, a member of our Board of Directors and a member of HELIO’s Board of Directors, is a founding partner in 
EVG. EVG also has an affiliation with eCompanies. Sky Dayton is a founder and director of eCompanies. During the years ended 
December 31, 2005 and 2006, we received $4.4 million and $0.4 million in cash distributions from EVG.  

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates  

Set forth below is a discussion of the accounting policies and related estimates that we believe are the most critical to understanding our 
consolidated financial statements, financial condition, and results of operations and which require complex management judgments, 
uncertainties and/or estimates. The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during a reporting period; however, actual results could differ from 
those estimates. Management has discussed the development, selection and disclosure of the critical accounting policies and estimates with the 
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. Information regarding our other accounting policies is included in the Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements.  

Revenue recognition  

Gross versus net revenue recognition.    We maintain relationships with certain telecommunications partners in which we provide services 
to customers using the “last mile” element of the telecommunications providers’ networks. The term “last mile” generally refers to the element 
of telecommunications networks that is directly connected to homes and businesses. In these instances, management evaluates the criteria 
outlined in Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 99-19, “Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an Agent,” in 
determining whether it is appropriate to record the gross amount of revenue and related costs or the net amount due from the 
telecommunications partner as revenue. Generally, when we are the primary obligor in the transaction with the subscriber, have latitude in 
establishing prices, are the party determining the service specifications or have several but not all of these indicators, we record the revenue at 
the amount billed the subscriber. If we are not the primary obligor and/or the telecommunications partner has latitude in establishing prices, we 
record revenue associated with the related subscribers on a net basis, netting the cost of revenue associated with the service against the gross 
amount billed the customer and recording the net amount as revenue. The determination of whether we meet many of the attributes specified in 
EITF Issue No. 99-19 for gross and net revenue recognition is judgmental in nature and is based on an evaluation of the terms of each 
arrangement. A change in the determination of gross versus net revenue recognition would have an impact on the gross amounts of revenues 
and cost of revenues we recognize and the gross profit margin percentages in the period in which such determination is made and in subsequent 
periods; however, such a change in determination of revenue recognition would not affect net income.  
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Sales incentives.    We have marketing arrangements with a number of leading hardware and software manufacturers to include our 
Internet access software pre-installed on or included with their products. We also market our products and services through retailers. We pay 
fees to retailers, manufacturers or other marketing partners for marketing our products and services. Depending on the nature of the 
arrangement, the marketing partners may purchase our products and services in addition to providing marketing services. For these types of 
arrangements, management uses the guidance provided in EITF Issue No. 01-9, “Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a 
Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products),” which states that cash consideration given by a vendor to a customer is presumed to 
be a reduction of the selling price of the vendor’s products or services and should be classified as a reduction of revenue. If the retailer or 
manufacturer does not purchase our products or services, we classify the fees as a sales and marketing expense when incurred because the 
retailer or manufacturer is not a reseller and the accounting in EITF Issue No. 01-9 does not apply. If the retailer or manufacturer purchases and 
then resells our products or services, we account for the fees as a reduction in revenue because the consideration is presumed to be a reduction 
of the selling price of our products or services; however, if we receive an identifiable benefit whose fair value can be reasonably estimated in 
exchange for the fees, we classify the fees as operating expenses. Management applies judgment in determining whether a retailer or 
manufacturer is reselling our products and services or solely providing marketing services. Any change in this determination would have an 
impact on the gross amounts of revenues and cost of revenues we recognize and the gross profit margin percentages in the period in which such 
determination is made and in subsequent periods; however, such a change in determination of revenue recognition would not generally affect 
net income.  

Allowance for doubtful accounts  

We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make payments. With 
respect to receivables due from consumers, our policy is to specifically reserve for all consumer receivables 60 days or more past due and 
provide additional reserves for receivables less than 60 days past due based on expected write-offs. We provide reserves for commercial 
accounts receivable and periodically evaluate commercial accounts receivable and provide specific reserves when accounts are deemed 
uncollectible. Commercial accounts receivable are written off when management determines there is no possibility of collection.  

In judging the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts, we consider multiple factors including the aging of our receivables, 
historical write-off experience and the general economic environment. Management applies considerable judgment in assessing the realization 
of receivables, including assessing the probability of collection and the current creditworthiness of classes of customers. If the financial 
condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be 
required.  

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance  

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities using estimated future tax rates for the effect of temporary differences between the book 
and tax bases of recorded assets and liabilities, including net operating loss carryforwards. Management assesses the realizability of deferred 
tax assets and records a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Based 
on management’s assessment, a valuation allowance has been established for all of our deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2006, primarily 
net operating loss carryforwards, due to uncertainty regarding their realization. We consider the probability of future taxable income and our 
historical profitability, among other factors, in assessing the amount of the valuation allowance. However, adjustments could be required in the 
future if we estimate that the amount of deferred tax assets to be realized is more than the net amount we have recorded. Any decrease in the 
valuation allowance could  
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have the effect of increasing stockholders’ equity, reducing goodwill and/or increasing or decreasing the income tax provision in the statement 
of operations based on the nature of the deferred tax asset deemed realizable in the period in which such determination is made.  

Recoverability of noncurrent assets  

Our indefinite lived intangible assets consist primarily of goodwill. As of December 31, 2006, the carrying value of goodwill was $202.3 
million. We account for intangible assets in accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” which requires that 
goodwill be tested for impairment at least annually. We perform an impairment test of our goodwill annually during the fourth quarter of our 
fiscal year or when events and circumstances indicate the indefinite lived intangible assets might be permanently impaired. Impairment testing 
of goodwill is tested at the reporting unit level by comparing the reporting unit’s carrying amount, including goodwill, to the fair value of the 
reporting unit. The fair values of the reporting unit are estimated using discounted projected cash flows. If the carrying amount of the reporting 
unit exceeds its fair value, goodwill is considered impaired and a second step is performed to measure the amount of the impairment loss, if 
any. Based on our test during the fourth quarter of 2006, we concluded that there was no impairment of our goodwill and other indefinite lived 
intangible assets. Application of the goodwill impairment test requires judgment, including the identification of reporting units, assigning assets 
and liabilities to reporting units, assigning goodwill to reporting units, and determining the fair value of each reporting unit. Significant 
judgments required to estimate the fair value of reporting units include estimating future cash flows, determining appropriate discount rates, 
growth rates and other assumptions. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could materially affect the determination of fair value for each 
reporting unit which could trigger an impairment. Additionally, if management determines that events or circumstances have occurred which 
could result in an other than temporary impairment of goodwill, we may be required to record a significant impairment adjustment, which 
would reduce earnings.  

For noncurrent assets such as property and equipment, purchased intangible assets and investments in other companies, we perform tests 
of impairment when certain events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Our tests involve 
critical estimates reflecting management’s best assumptions and estimates related to, among other factors, subscriber additions, churn, prices, 
marketing spending, operating costs and capital spending. Significant judgment is involved in estimating these factors, and they include 
inherent uncertainties. Management periodically evaluates and updates the estimates based on the conditions that influence these factors. The 
variability of these factors depends on a number of conditions, including uncertainty about future events, and thus our accounting estimates 
may change from period to period. If other assumptions and estimates had been used in the current period, the balances for noncurrent assets of 
$215.7 million could have been materially impacted. Furthermore, if management uses different assumptions or if different conditions occur in 
future periods, future operating results could be materially impacted.  

Investments  

From time to time, we make investments in other companies. At the date we become involved with an entity and upon changes in the 
capital structure and corporate governance provisions of the entity, management evaluates investments in other companies to determine if we 
must consolidate the results of the investee pursuant to Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation 
of Variable Interest Entities”. Variable interest entities (“VIEs”) are entities that either do not have equity investors with proportionate 
economic and voting rights or have equity investors that do not provide sufficient financial resources for the entity to support its activities. 
Consolidation is required if we are the primary beneficiary of the VIE, meaning we absorb a majority of the expected losses and/or receive a 
majority of the expected returns. In determining if an equity investee is a VIE and whether we  
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must consolidate its results, management evaluates whether the equity of the entity is sufficient to absorb its expected losses and whether we 
are the primary beneficiary. If management determines the investee is not a VIE or if it is a VIE and we are not the primary beneficiary, 
management evaluates whether we should include our proportionate share of the investee’s operating results in our results pursuant to 
Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 18, “The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments In Common Stock,” and related 
interpretations because we may be able to significantly influence financial and operating policies of the investee or whether we should 
consolidate the results based on our ability to control the operating and financial policies of the investee.  

The assessment as to whether the investee is a VIE, whether we are the primary beneficiary, and whether we can exert significant 
influence over or control the operating and financial policies of the investee requires estimates and judgments. Management has determined 
that we are not required to consolidate any of our investments. In addition, management determined that except with respect to our investment 
in HELIO, we cannot significantly influence the operating and financial policies of any our investees. Consequently, investments in other 
companies, other than our investment in HELIO, are included in other long-term assets and are accounted for under the cost method. Under the 
cost method of accounting, investments in private companies are carried at cost and are only adjusted for other-than-temporary declines in fair 
value and distributions of earnings. We have investments in companies accounted for under the cost method whose stock has a readily 
determinable market value. When our investments have a readily determinable market value based on quoted prices on a national exchange, we 
adjust the carrying value of the investment to market value through “unrealized gains (losses) on investments” which is included as a 
component of stockholders’ equity.  

With respect to our investment in the HELIO joint venture, management determined HELIO did not qualify as a VIE, but we are able to 
exert significant influence over HELIO’s operating and financial policies. As a result, we apply the equity method to our investment in HELIO 
and record our proportionate share of HELIO’s net income (loss) in our statement of operations as “net earnings (losses) of equity affiliates,” 
which is expected to adversely affect our net results in the near term. However, this accounting treatment is subject to change as HELIO enters 
into financial and operating arrangements that impact the joint venture partners’ economic and voting interests.  

Stock-based compensation  

Effective January 1, 2006 we adopted SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective method and therefore have not restated prior 
periods’ results. Under the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123R, we recognize stock-based compensation net of an estimated 
forfeiture rate and therefore only recognize compensation cost for those shares expected to vest over the service period of the award. Prior to 
SFAS No. 123(R) adoption, we accounted for share-based payments under APB No. 25 and accordingly, recognized stock-based compensation 
expense related to restricted stock units and modifications of stock options and accounted for forfeitures as they occurred.  

Calculating stock-based compensation expense requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected term of the 
stock-based awards, stock price volatility and the pre-vesting option forfeiture rate. We estimate the expected life of options granted based on 
historical exercise patterns, which we believe are representative of future behavior. We estimate the volatility of our common stock on the date 
of grant based on historical volatility and on the implied volatility of publicly traded options on our common stock, with a term of one year or 
greater. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of stock-based awards represent our best estimates, but these estimates involve 
inherent uncertainties and the application of management judgment. As a result, if factors change and we use different assumptions, our stock-
based compensation expense could be materially different in the future. In addition, we are required to estimate the expected forfeiture rate and 
only recognize expense for those shares expected to vest. We estimate the forfeiture rate based on historical experience of our stock-based 
awards that are granted,  
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exercised and cancelled. If our actual forfeiture rate is materially different from our estimate, the stock-based compensation expense could be 
significantly different from what we have recorded in the current period.  

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements  

In June 2006, the FASB ratified the consensus reached in EITF Issue No. 06-2, “Accounting for Sabbatical Leave and Other Similar 
Benefits Pursuant to FASB Statement No. 43.” EITF Issue No. 06-2 provides recognition guidance on the accrual of employees’ rights to 
compensated absences under a sabbatical or other similar benefit arrangement. EITF Issue No. 06-2 is effective for the Company for all 
financial statements after December 31, 2006. We are currently assessing the impact of the adoption of EITF Issue No. 06-2 on our financial 
statements.  

In July 2006, the FASB issued FIN No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,” which prescribes a comprehensive model for 
how a company should recognize, measure, present and disclose in its financial statements uncertain tax positions that the company has taken 
or expects to take on a tax return (including a decision whether to file or not to file a return in a particular jurisdiction). The accounting 
provisions of FIN No. 48 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. We will adopt FIN No. 48 on January 1, 2007 and 
we do not believe its adoption will result in a material cumulative-effect adjustment.  

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”, which establishes a framework for reporting fair value 
and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning 
after November 15, 2007 and interim periods within those fiscal years. We are currently assessing the impact of the adoption of this standard 
on our financial statements.  

Item 7A.   Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.  

Interest Rate Risk  

We are exposed to interest rate risk with respect to our investments in marketable securities. A change in prevailing interest rates may 
cause the fair value of our investments to fluctuate. For example, if we hold a security that was issued with a fixed interest rate at the then-
prevailing rate and the prevailing interest rate later rises, the fair value of its investment may decline. To minimize this risk, we have 
historically held many investments until maturity, and as a result, we receive interest and principal amounts pursuant to the underlying 
agreements. To further mitigate risk, we maintain a portfolio of investments in a variety of securities, including government agency notes, 
asset-backed debt securities (including auction rate debt securities), corporate notes and commercial paper, all of which bear a minimum short-
term rating of A1/P1 or a minimum long-term rating of A/A2. As of December 31, 2005 and 2006, net unrealized losses in these investments 
were not material. In general, money market funds are not subject to market risk because the interest paid on such funds fluctuates with the 
prevailing interest rate. In addition, we invest in relatively short-term securities and, therefore, changes in short-term interest rates impact the 
amount of interest income included in the statements of operations.  
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The following table presents the amounts of our cash equivalents and short- and long-term investments that are subject to interest rate risk 
by range of expected maturity and weighted-average interest rates as of December 31, 2005 and 2006. This table does not include money 
market funds because those funds are not subject to interest rate risk.  

*       The maturity of asset-backed, auction rate securities for purposes of this calculation is consistent with management’s view as to the 
availability of such securities to fund current operating activities.  

We are also exposed to interest rate risk with respect to our convertible senior notes due November 15, 2026. The fair value of our 
convertible senior notes may be adversely impacted due to a rise in interest rates. In general, securities with longer maturities are subject to 
greater interest rate risk than those with shorter maturities. Our convertible senior notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 3.25% per year until 
November 15, 2011, and 3.50% interest per year thereafter. As of December 31, 2006, the carrying value of our convertible senior notes was 
$258.8 million and the fair value was approximately $277.3 million, which was based on the quoted market price.  

Equity Risk  

We are exposed to equity price risk as it relates to changes in the market value of our equity investments and call options. We invest in 
equity instruments of public and private companies for operational and strategic purposes. In connection with the issuance of our convertible 
senior notes, we purchased call options to cover approximately 28.4 million shares of our common stock, subject to adjustment in certain 
circumstances, which is the number of shares underlying the notes. These securities are subject to significant fluctuations in fair market value 
due to volatility of the stock market and the industries in which the companies operate. We typically do not attempt to reduce or eliminate our 
market exposure in these equity instruments.  

The following table presents the carrying value and fair value of our financial instruments subject to equity risk as of December 31, 2005 
and 2006:  

   

62  
 

 

      As of December 31, 2005     As of December 31, 2006     
            Estimated           Estimated     
      Amortized    Fair     Amortized     Fair     
      Cost     Value     Cost     Value     
      (dollars in thousands)     

Included in cash and cash equivalents  
   $ 66,068 

   $ 66,068 
   $ 46,289 

   $ 46,289 
   

Weighted average interest rate  
   4.3% 

         5.3% 
         

Weighted average maturity (mos.)  
   1.2 

         1.0 
         

Included in marketable securities-short-term  
   $ 208,265 

   $ 207,845 
   $ 215,181 

   $ 214,947 
   

Weighted average interest rate  
   4.0% 

         5.2% 
         

Weighted average maturity (mos.)*  
   3.9 

         2.7 
         

Included in marketable securities-long-term  
   $ 41,130 

   $ 40,980 
   $ 21,497 

   $ 21,460 
   

Weighted average interest rate  
   4.2% 

         5.2% 
         

Weighted average maturity (mos.)  
   22.1 

         19.3 
         

      As of December 31, 2005     As of December 31, 2006     
            Estimated           Estimated     
      Carrying     Fair     Carrying     Fair     
         Amount           Value           Amount           Value        
      (dollars in thousands)     

Investments in other companies for which it is:  
                                                   

Practicable to estimate fair value  
      $ 417 

         $ 417 
         $ 48,325 

         $ 48,325 
      

Not practicable to estimate fair value  
      1,000 

         — 
         11,000 

         — 
      

Call options  
      — 

         — 
         47,162 

         58,361 
      



Item 8.                         Financial Statements And Supplementary Data.  

EARTHLINK, INC.  
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

The Board of Directors and  
Stockholders of EarthLink, Inc.  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of EarthLink, Inc. as of December 31, 2005 and 2006, and the related 
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the three years in the 
period ended December 31, 2006. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An 
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of EarthLink, Inc. at December 31, 2005 and 2006, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the 
three years in the period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  

As discussed in Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, in 2006 the Company adopted Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised), Share-Based Payment .  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
effectiveness of EarthLink, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated 
February 28, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.  
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/s/ Ernst & Young LLP  

Atlanta, Georgia  
February 28, 2007  



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON  
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING  

The Board of Directors and  
Stockholders of EarthLink, Inc.  

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial 
Reporting, that EarthLink, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(the COSO criteria). EarthLink, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s 
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial 
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, 
evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such 
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of 
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide 
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of 
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized 
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of 
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, 
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

In our opinion, management’s assessment that EarthLink, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2006 is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, EarthLink, Inc. maintained, in all 
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 based on the COSO criteria.  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and 
comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006 of EarthLink, Inc. and our 
report dated February 28, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.  
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/s/ Ernst & Young LLP  
Atlanta, Georgia  
February 28, 2007  



EARTHLINK, INC.  

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

(in thousands, except per share data)  

   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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      December 31,     
      2005     2006     

ASSETS  
Current assets:                 

Cash and cash equivalents     $ 173,294 
   $ 158,369 

   
Investments in marketable securities     207,845    214,947    
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $8,054 and $8,062 as of 

December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively     36,033    51,054    
Prepaid expenses     14,225    14,831    
Other current assets     13,121    17,549    

Total current assets     444,518    456,750    

Long-term investments in marketable securities     40,980    21,460    
Property and equipment, net     73,177    96,620    
Investment in equity affiliate     67,143    61,743    
Investments in other companies     1,417    59,325    
Purchased intangible assets, net     16,278    59,798    
Goodwill     101,125    202,277    
Other long-term assets     4,511    10,066    

Total assets     $ 749,149 
   $ 968,039 

   
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

Current liabilities:                 
Trade accounts payable     $ 31,578 

   $ 41,298 
   

Accrued payroll and related expenses     37,741    41,079    
Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities     84,139    94,882    
Deferred revenue     58,359    53,511    

Total current liabilities     211,817    230,770    

Long-term debt     —    258,750    
Other long-term liabilities     15,468    19,855    

Total liabilities     227,285    509,375    

Commitments and contingencies (See Note 14)                 

Stockholders’  equity:                 
Convertible preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 100,000 shares authorized, 

0 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2005 and 2006     —    —    
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 300,000 shares authorized, 181,962 and 

184,545 shares issued as of December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively, and 
131,390 and 122,634 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2005 and 2006, 
respectively     1,820    1,845    

Additional paid-in capital     1,997,906    2,016,578    
Warrants to purchase common stock     259    259    
Accumulated deficit     (1,049,982 )  (1,044,995 )  
Treasury stock, at cost, 50,572 and 61,911 shares, respectively, as of 

December 31, 2005 and 2006     (422,619 )  (508,232 )  
Unrealized losses on investments     (653 )  (6,791 )  
Deferred compensation     (4,867 )  —    

Total stockholders’ equity     521,864    458,664    
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity     $ 749,149 

   $ 968,039 
   



EARTHLINK, INC.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  

67  
 

 

      Year Ended December 31,     
      2004     2005     2006     
      (in thousands, except per share data)     

Revenues  
   $ 1,382,202 

   $ 1,290,072 
   $ 1,301,267 

   
Operating costs and expenses:  

                     
Telecommunications service and equipment costs  

   431,162 
   366,654 

   424,425 
   

Sales incentives  
   10,040 

   8,973 
   10,916 

   
Total cost of revenues  

   441,202 
   375,627 

   435,341 
   

Sales and marketing  
   417,250 

   389,522 
   389,079 

   
Operations and customer support  

   255,192 
   233,907 

   260,941 
   

General and administrative  
   105,043 

   112,173 
   128,479 

   
Amortization of intangible assets  

   24,363 
   12,267 

   11,902 
   

Facility exit and restructuring costs  
   28,394 

   2,080 
   (117 ) 

Total operating costs and expenses  
   1,271,444 

   1,125,576 
   1,225,625 

   
Income from operations  

   110,758 
   164,496 

   75,642 
   

Net losses of equity affiliate  
   — 

   (15,608 )  (84,782 ) 
Gain (loss) on investments in other companies, net  

   (1,420 )  2,877 
   377 

   
Interest income and other, net  

   6,131 
   13,491 

   14,636 
   

Income before income taxes  
   115,469 

   165,256 
   5,873 

   
Provision for income taxes  

   4,460 
   22,476 

   886 
   

Net income  
   $ 111,009 

   $ 142,780 
   $ 4,987 

   
Basic net income per share  

   $ 0.72 
   $ 1.04 

   $ 0.04 
   

Diluted net income per share  
   $ 0.70 

   $ 1.02 
   $ 0.04 

   
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding  

   154,233 
   137,080 

   128,790 
   

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding  
   157,815 

   139,950 
   130,583 

   



EARTHLINK, INC.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND  COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)  

   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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                                                Unrealized           Total     Total     
                  Additional           Accumu-                 Gains (Losses)     Deferred     Stock-     Compre-     
      Common Stock     Paid-in           lated     Treasury Stock     on Invest-     Compen-     holders’     hensive     
      Shares     Amount     Capital     Warrants    Deficit     Shares     Amount     ments     sation     Equity     Income (Loss)     
      (in thousands)       

Balance as of December 31, 2003  
   176,410 

      $ 1,764 
         $ 1,949,105 

         $ 1,223 
      $ (1,303,771 )  (17,368 )  $ (104,344 )  

   $ (117 )  
      $ (197 )  

   $ 543,663 
               

Issuance of common stock pursuant to exercise of stock options and vesting of 
restricted stock units  

   2,132 
      22 

         15,845 
         — 

      — 
   — 

   — 
      — 

         — 
      15,867 

               
Issuance of common stock pursuant to employee stock purchase plan  

   223 
      2 

         1,694 
         — 

      — 
   — 

   — 
      — 

         — 
      1,696 

               
Issuance of restricted stock units and phantom share units  

   — 
      — 

         4,564 
         — 

      — 
   — 

   — 
      — 

         (4,431 )  
   133 

               
Amortization of deferred compensation  

   — 
      — 

         — 
         — 

      — 
   — 

   — 
      — 

         633 
      633 

               
Repurchase of common stock  

   — 
      — 

         — 
         — 

      — 
   (12,677 )  (125,712 )  

   — 
         — 

      (125,712 )  
            

Unrealized holding gains on certain investments  
   — 

      — 
         — 

         — 
      — 

   — 
   — 

      318 
         — 

      318 
      $ 318 

      
Net income  

   — 
      — 

         — 
         — 

      111,009 
   — 

   — 
      — 

         — 
      111,009 

      111,009 
      

Total comprehensive income  
                                                                                                $ 111,327 

      
Balance as of December 31, 2004  

   178,765 
      1,788 

         1,971,208 
         1,223 

      (1,192,762 )  (30,045 )  (230,056 )  
   201 

         (3,995 )  
   547,607 

               
Issuance of common stock pursuant to exercise of stock options and vesting of 

restricted stock units  
   3,150 

      32 
         22,876 

         — 
      — 

   — 
   — 

      — 
         — 

      22,908 
               

Issuance of common stock pursuant to employee stock purchase plan  
   47 

      — 
         444 

         — 
      — 

   — 
   — 

      — 
         — 

      444 
               

Issuance of restricted stock units and phantom share units  
   — 

      — 
         2,048 

         — 
      — 

   — 
   — 

      — 
         (2,001 )  

   47 
               

Amortization of deferred compensation  
   — 

      — 
         — 

         — 
      — 

   — 
   — 

      — 
         1,129 

      1,129 
               

Stock-based compensation expense  
   — 

      — 
         366 

         — 
      — 

   — 
   — 

      — 
         — 

      366 
               

Repurchase of common stock  
   — 

      — 
         — 

         — 
      — 

   (20,527 )  (192,563 )  
   — 

         — 
      (192,563 )  

            
Expiration of warrants  

   — 
      — 

         964 
         (964 )  

   — 
   — 

   — 
      — 

         — 
      — 

               
Unrealized holding losses on certain investments  

   — 
      — 

         — 
         — 

      — 
   — 

   — 
      (854 )  

      — 
      (854 )  

   $ (854 )  
   

Net income  
   — 

      — 
         — 

         — 
      142,780 

   — 
   — 

      — 
         — 

      142,780 
      142,780 

      
Total comprehensive income  

                                                                                                $ 141,926 
      

Balance as of December 31, 2005  
   181,962 

      1,820 
         1,997,906 

         259 
      (1,049,982 )  (50,572 )  (422,619 )  

   (653 )  
      (4,867 )  

   521,864 
               

Issuance of common stock pursuant to exercise of stock options and vesting of 
restricted stock units  

   844 
      8 

         4,023 
         — 

      — 
   — 

   — 
      — 

         — 
      4,031 

               
Issuance of common stock for acquisition of New Edge  

   1,739 
      17 

         20,177 
         — 

      — 
   — 

   — 
      — 

         — 
      20,194 

               
Issuance of phantom share units  

   — 
      — 

         43 
         — 

      — 
   — 

   — 
      — 

         — 
      43 

               
Reclass of deferred compensation  

   — 
      — 

         (4,867 ) 
      — 

      — 
   — 

   — 
      — 

         4,867 
      — 

               
Stock-based compensation expense  

   — 
      — 

         14,242 
         — 

      — 
   — 

   — 
      — 

         — 
      14,242 

               
Tax provision from stock options  

   — 
      — 

         117 
         — 

      — 
   — 

   — 
      — 

         — 
      117 

               
Purchase of call options  

   — 
      — 

         (47,162 ) 
      — 

      — 
   — 

   — 
      — 

         — 
      (47,162 )  

            
Issuance of warrants  

   — 
      — 

         32,099 
         — 

      — 
   — 

   — 
      — 

         — 
      32,099 

               
Repurchase of common stock  

   — 
      — 

         — 
         — 

      — 
   (11,339 )  (85,613 )  

   — 
         — 

      (85,613 )  
            

Unrealized holding losses on certain investments  
   — 

      — 
         — 

         — 
      — 

   — 
   — 

      (6,138 )  
      — 

      (6,138 )  
   $ (6,138 )  

   
Net income  

   — 
      — 

         — 
         — 

      4,987 
   — 

   — 
      — 

         — 
      4,987 

      4,987 
      

Total comprehensive loss  
                                                                                                $ (1,151 )  

   
Balance as of December 31, 2006  

   184,545 
      $ 1,845 

         $ 2,016,578 
         $ 259 

      $ (1,044,995 )  (61,911 )  $ (508,232 )  
   $ (6,791 )  

      $ — 
      $ 458,664 

               



EARTHLINK, INC.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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      Year Ended December 31,     
      2004     2005     2006     
      (in thousands)     

Cash flows from operating activities:                       
Net income     $ 111,009 

   $ 142,780 
   $ 4,987 

   
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating 

activities:                       
Depreciation and amortization     79,219    47,138    46,287    
Bad debt expense     26,253    22,622    23,033    
Loss (gain) on disposals and impairments of fixed assets     10,103    (73 )  1,351    
Loss (gain) on investments in other companies, net     1,420    (2,877 )  (377 ) 
Net losses of equity affiliate     —    15,608    84,782    
Stock-based compensation     633    1,542    14,285    
Deferred income taxes     1,969    17,139    588    
Other adjustments     —    (255 )  (375 ) 
Increase in accounts receivable     (21,401 )  (28,876 )  (26,131 ) 
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and other assets     74    4,630    (3,968 ) 
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued and other liabilities     (11,746 )  (22,306 )  (24,060 ) 
Decrease in deferred revenue     (9,381 )  (8,368 )  (5,153 ) 

Net cash provided by operating activities     188,152    188,704    115,249    

Cash flows from investing activities:                       
Purchases of property and equipment     (29,890 )  (33,879 )  (38,852 ) 
Purchases of subscriber bases     (2,419 )  (6,690 )  (8,879 ) 
Proceeds from sales of fixed assets     733    124    8    
Investments in marketable securities                       

Purchases     (540,881 )  (411,006 )  (179,165 ) 
Sales and maturities     507,222    474,512    191,882    

Investments in and net advances to equity affiliate     —    (82,301 )  (79,020 ) 
Purchase of business, net of cash acquired     —    (9,352 )  (108,663 ) 
Investments in other companies     (3,835 )  —    (60,000 ) 
Distributions received from investments in other companies     —    4,440    377    
Other     —    (929 )  (752 ) 

Net cash used in investing activities     (69,070 )  (65,081 )  (283,064 ) 

Cash flows from financing activities:                       
Principal payments under capital lease obligations     (896 )  (28 )  (31 ) 
Repayment of note payable     —    —    (2,000 ) 
Proceeds from issuance of convertible senior notes, net     —    —    251,568    
Purchase of call options     —    —    (47,162 ) 
Proceeds from issuance of warrants     —    —    32,099    
Proceeds from exercises of stock options and other     17,696    23,352    4,029    
Repurchases of common stock     (125,712 )  (192,563 )  (85,613 ) 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities     (108,912 )  (169,239 )  152,890    

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     10,170    (45,616 )  (14,925 ) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year     208,740    218,910    173,294    
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year     $ 218,910 

   $ 173,294 
   $ 158,369 

   



EARTHLINK, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

1.    Organization  

EarthLink, Inc. (“EarthLink” or the “Company”) is a total communications provider, providing integrated communication services and 
related value-added services to individual consumers and business customers utilizing Internet Protocol, or IP, based technologies. EarthLink’s 
core service offerings are dial-up and wireline broadband Internet access services and value-added services. EarthLink’s growth initiatives 
include IP-based voice services, municipal wireless broadband services and services for business customers.  

2.    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

Basis of Consolidation  

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of EarthLink and all wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions 
and balances have been eliminated.  

Use of Estimates in Preparation of Financial Statements  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statement and accompanying footnotes. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its 
estimates, including, but not limited to, those related to the allowance for doubtful accounts; the use, recoverability, and/or realizability of 
certain assets, including deferred tax assets; useful lives of intangible assets and property and equipment; the fair values of assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed in acquisitions of businesses, including acquired intangible assets; facility exit and restructuring liabilities; fair values of 
investments; stock-based compensation; contingent liabilities and long-lived asset impairments. The Company bases its estimates on historical 
experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable. Actual results could differ from those estimates.  

Revenues  

General.    EarthLink recognizes revenue in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Staff Accounting Bulletin 
(“SAB”) No. 104, “Revenue Recognition.” Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, 
the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectibility is probable. Generally, these criteria are met monthly as EarthLink’s service is 
provided on a month-to-month basis and collection for the service is generally made within 30 days of the service being provided. Revenues 
are recorded as earned. Deferred revenue is recorded when payments are received in advance of EarthLink performing its service obligations 
and recognized ratably over the service period.  

Narrowband access revenues consist of monthly fees charged to customers for dial-up Internet access. Broadband access revenues consist 
of retail and wholesale fees charged for high-speed, high-capacity access services including DSL, cable, satellite, wireless and dedicated circuit 
services; fees charged for high-speed data networks to businesses and communications carriers; fees charged for IP-based voice services; 
installation fees; fees for equipment; early termination fees; and regulatory surcharges billed to customers. Web hosting revenues consist of 
fees charged for leasing server space and providing web services to companies and individuals wishing to present a web or e-commerce 
presence. Advertising and other value-added services revenues consist of revenues earned from promotional arrangements with advertisers,  
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)  

retailers, service providers and content providers. Advertising and other value-added services revenues also include revenues from certain 
ancillary services sold as add-on features to the Company’s Internet services, such as email storage and security products.  

Advertising and other value-added services revenues include amounts derived from selling other companies’ products and services to 
EarthLink subscribers, subscribers using and buying other vendors’ products and services, and other companies purchasing advertising on 
EarthLink’s online properties, among other activities. Advertising revenues are recorded when earned based on the per unit contractual rate and 
the number of units sold, number of subscriber impressions, or number of subscriber purchases or actions.  

Gross versus net revenue recognition.    EarthLink maintains relationships with certain telecommunications partners (including cable 
companies) in which it provides services to customers using the “last mile” element of the telecommunication providers’ networks. The term 
“last mile” generally refers to the element of telecommunications networks that is directly connected to homes and businesses. In these 
instances, EarthLink evaluates the criteria outlined in Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 99-19, “Reporting Revenue Gross as a 
Principal versus Net as an Agent,” in determining whether it is appropriate to record the gross amount of revenue and related costs or the net 
amount due it from the telecommunications partner. Generally, when EarthLink is the primary obligor in the transaction with the subscriber, 
has latitude in establishing prices, is the party determining the service specifications or has several but not all of these indicators, EarthLink 
records the revenue at the amount billed the subscriber. If EarthLink is not the primary obligor and/or the telecommunications partner has 
latitude in establishing prices, EarthLink records revenue associated with the related subscribers on a net basis, netting the cost of revenue 
associated with the service against the gross amount billed the customer and recording the net amount as revenue.  

Cost of Revenues  

Cost of revenues include telecommunications service and equipment costs and sales incentives. Telecommunications service and 
equipment costs include telecommunications fees and network operations costs incurred to provide the Company’s Internet access services; 
fees paid to content providers for information provided on the Company’s online properties, including the Company’s Personal Start Page ; 
the costs of equipment sold to customers for use with the Company’s services; activation and deactivation fees paid to the Company’s network 
providers for the provisioning and disconnection of services; depreciation of network equipment; and surcharges due to regulatory agencies.  

Sales incentives include the cost of promotional products and services provided to potential and new subscribers, including free Internet 
access on a trial basis and free modems and other hardware. EarthLink accounts for sales incentives in accordance with EITF Issue No. 01-09, 
“Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products),” which requires the costs of 
sales incentives to be classified as cost of revenues.  

The Company also pays fees to retailers, manufacturers or other marketing partners for marketing EarthLink’s products and services. 
Depending on the nature of the arrangement, the marketing partners may purchase EarthLink’s products and services in addition to providing 
marketing services. If the retailer or manufacturer does not purchase EarthLink’s products or services, the Company classifies the fees as sales 
and marketing expenses when incurred. In this scenario, the retailer or manufacturer is not a reseller and the accounting in EITF Issue No. 01-
09 does not apply. If the retailer or manufacturer purchases and  
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then resells EarthLink’s products or services, the Company accounts for the fees as a reduction in revenue in accordance with EITF Issue 
No. 01-09 because the consideration is presumed to be a reduction of the selling price of EarthLink’s products or services; however, if the 
Company receives an identifiable benefit whose fair value can be reasonably estimated in exchange for the fees, the Company classifies the 
fees as operating expenses.  

Sales and Marketing  

Sales and marketing expenses include advertising and promotion expenses, fees paid to distribution partners to acquire new paying 
subscribers, personnel-related expenses for sales and marketing personnel and telemarketing costs incurred to acquire and retain subscribers. 
The Company’s marketing strategies include national branding campaigns comprised of television, radio, Internet, print and outdoor 
advertising. Marketing and advertising costs to promote the Company’s products and services are expensed in the period incurred. The 
Company also uses direct mail advertising, and the Company incurs production, printing, mailing and postage related to its direct mail 
advertising activities. Media and direct mail production costs are expensed the first time the advertisement is run. Media and agency costs are 
expensed over the period the advertising runs. Advertising expenses were $224.4 million, $245.7 million and $242.0 million during the years 
ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. Prepaid advertising expenses were $2.0 million and $3.6 million as of December 31, 
2005 and 2006, respectively.  

During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, EarthLink incurred various shipping charges in connection with providing 
welcome kits to new customers and shipping equipment. The Company classifies shipping and handling charges associated with welcome kits 
as sales and marketing expenses, which were $1.8 million, $1.2 million and $1.0 million during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 
2006, respectively, because the Company does not invoice the customer for the welcome kits or the associated shipping. All other shipping and 
handling costs are included in cost of revenues.  

Software Development Costs  

EarthLink accounts for research and development costs in accordance with several accounting pronouncements, including Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 2, “Accounting for Research and Development Costs,” and SFAS No. 86, “Accounting for the 
Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed.” SFAS No. 86 specifies that costs incurred internally in creating a 
computer software product should be charged to expense when incurred as research and development until technological feasibility has been 
established for the product. Once technological feasibility is established, all software costs should be capitalized until the product is available 
for general release to customers. Judgment is required in determining when the technological feasibility of a product is established. The 
Company has determined that technological feasibility for its products is reached very shortly before the products are released. Costs incurred 
after technological feasibility is established are not material, and, accordingly, the Company expenses research and development costs when 
incurred.  

EarthLink accounts for costs incurred to develop software for internal use in accordance with Statement of Position 98-1, “Accounting for 
the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use,” which requires such costs be capitalized and amortized over the 
estimated useful life of the software. Costs related to design or maintenance of internal-use software are expensed as incurred.  
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Income Taxes  

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for operating loss carryforwards, tax credit carryforwards and the estimated 
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 
respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the temporary 
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce the carrying amounts of net deferred tax assets 
if there is uncertainty regarding their realization. EarthLink considers many factors when assessing the likelihood of future realization including 
the Company’s recent cumulative earnings experience by taxing jurisdiction, expectations of future taxable income, the carryforward periods 
available to the Company for tax reporting purposes and other relevant factors.  

Net Income per Share  

Net income per share has been computed according to SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share,” which requires a dual presentation of basic 
and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”). Basic EPS represents net income divided by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during a reported period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue 
common stock, including stock options, warrants, restricted stock units, phantom share units and contingently issuable shares (collectively 
“Common Stock Equivalents”), were exercised or converted into common stock. The dilutive effect of outstanding stock options, warrants and 
restricted stock units is reflected in diluted earnings per share by application of the treasury stock method. Phantom share units and 
contingently issuable shares are reflected on an if-converted basis. EarthLink’s convertible debt instruments were excluded from the calculation 
of diluted earnings per share as their effect was antidilutive. In applying the treasury stock method for stock-based compensation arrangements 
during the year ended December 31, 2006, the assumed proceeds were computed as the sum of the amount the employee must pay upon 
exercise and the amounts of compensation cost attributed to future services and not yet recognized.  

The following table sets forth the computation for basic and diluted net income per share for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 
and 2006:  

   

During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, approximately 8.7 million, 9.9 million and 21.2 million, respectively, options 
and warrants were excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS because the exercise prices exceeded the Company’s average stock price 
during the respective years. These options and warrants could be dilutive in future periods. In addition, approximately 28.4 million shares 
underlie the Company’s convertible debt instruments, which could be dilutive in future periods.  
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      Year Ended December 31,     
      2004     2005     2006     
      (in thousands, except per share data)     

Net income (A)  
   $ 111,009 

   $ 142,780 
   $ 4,987 

   
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding (B)  

   154,233 
   137,080 

   128,790 
   

Dilutive effect of Common Stock Equivalents  
   3,582 

   2,870 
   1,793 

   
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding (C)  

   157,815 
   139,950 

   130,583 
   

Basic net income per share (A/B)  
   $ 0.72 

   $ 1.04 
   $ 0.04 

   
Diluted net income per share (A/C)  

   $ 0.70 
   $ 1.02 

   $ 0.04 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)  

Stock-Based Compensation  

As of December 31, 2006, EarthLink had various stock-based compensation plans, which are more fully described in Note 11, “Stock-
Based Compensation.” Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method, which 
follows the recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to 
Employees,” and Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 44, “Accounting for Certain Transactions 
Involving Stock Compensation.” Generally, no stock-based employee compensation cost related to stock options was reflected in net income 
(loss) prior to January 1, 2006, as all options granted under stock-based compensation plans had an exercise price equal to the market value of 
the underlying common stock on the grant date. However, to the extent that the Company modified stock options subsequent to the grant date, 
the Company recorded compensation expense based on the modification, as required by SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation,” and APB Opinion No. 25. Compensation cost related to restricted stock units granted to non-employee directors and certain 
key employees was reflected in net income as services were rendered.  

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment,” using the modified prospective method, which 
requires measurement of compensation cost for all stock awards at fair value on the date of grant and recognition of compensation over the 
requisite service period for awards expected to vest. In accordance with the modified prospective method, the Company’s financial statements 
for periods prior to implementation have not been restated to reflect, and do not include, the impact of SFAS No. 123(R). The Company 
estimates the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes valuation model, and determines the fair value of restricted stock units based 
on the number of shares granted and the quoted price of EarthLink’s common stock on the date of grant . Such value is recognized as expense 
over the requisite service period, net of estimated forfeitures, using the straight-line attribution method. The estimate of awards that will 
ultimately vest requires significant judgment, and to the extent actual results or updated estimates differ from the Company’s current estimates, 
such amounts will be recorded as a cumulative adjustment in the period estimates are revised. The Company considers many factors when 
estimating expected forfeitures, including types of awards, employee class and historical employee attrition rates. Actual results, and future 
changes in estimates, may differ substantially from the Company’s current estimates.  

In March 2005, the SEC published SAB No. 107, which provides the Staff’s views on a variety of matters relating to stock-based 
payments. SAB No. 107 requires stock-based compensation to be classified in the same expense line items as cash compensation. The 
Company has classified stock-based compensation expense during the year ended December 31, 2006 within the same operating expense line 
items as cash compensation paid to employees.  

In November 2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) No. FAS 123(R)-3, “Transition Election Related to Accounting for Tax 
Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards,” which provides an elective transition method for calculating the initial pool of excess tax benefits 
available to absorb tax deficiencies recognized subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). Companies were permitted to take up to one 
year from the effective date of this FASB Staff Position to evaluate the available transition alternatives and make a one-time election as to 
which method to adopt. The Company elected to use the alternative method provided in FSP No. FAS 123(R)-3.  

The cumulative effect of adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective transition method, which resulted from estimating 
forfeitures on nonvested shares of restricted stock rather than  
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accounting for forfeitures as they occurred, was not material. Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), deferred compensation relating to 
restricted stock units was presented as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) on January 1, 2006, 
the deferred compensation balance of $4.9 million was reclassified to additional paid-in capital.  

Stock-based compensation expense under SFAS No. 123(R) was $14.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2006, of which $12.2 
million related to stock options and $2.0 million related to restricted stock units. Stock-based compensation expense during the year ended 
December 31, 2005 was $1.5 million, of which $1.1 million related to restricted stock units and $0.4 million was stock-based compensation 
expense arising from modifications to extend the exercise periods of certain vested stock options for EarthLink employees transferring to 
HELIO. As a result of adopting SFAS No. 123(R) on January 1, 2006, the Company’s income from operations and net income for the year 
ended December 31, 2006 were $12.3 million lower than if it had continued to account for share-based compensation using the intrinsic 
method of accounting under APB Opinion No. 25. Basic and diluted net income per share for the year ended December 31, 2006 were $0.10 
per share and $0.09 per share lower, respectively, than if the Company had continued to account for share-based compensation using the 
intrinsic method of accounting under APB Opinion No. 25. The incremental impact of SFAS No. 123(R) during the year ended December 31, 
2006 represents stock-based compensation expense related to stock options and the impact of estimating forfeitures related to nonvested shares 
of restricted stock.  

If the Company had elected to adopt the optional recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, which uses the fair value based method for 
stock-based compensation, and amortized the grant date fair value of stock options to compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the 
vesting period of the options, net income and basic and diluted net income per share for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 would 
have been changed to the pro forma amounts indicated below:  

   

75  
 

 

      Year Ended December 31,     
      2004     2005     
      (in thousands, except  

per share data)     
Net income, as reported  

   $ 111,009 
   $ 142,780 

   
Add: Stock-based compensation expense associated with stock options 

included in reported net income  
   — 

   366 
   

Deduct: Stock-based compensation expense determined using a fair value 
based method for all stock options  

   (23,311 )  (15,900 )  
Pro forma net income  

   $ 87,698 
   $ 127,246 

   
Basic net income per share:  

               
As reported  

   $ 0.72 
   $ 1.04 

   
Pro forma  

   $ 0.57 
   $ 0.93 

   
Diluted net income per share:  

               
As reported  

   $ 0.70 
   $ 1.02 

   
Pro forma  

   $ 0.57 
   $ 0.92 
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Cash and Cash Equivalents  

All highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at the date of acquisition are considered cash equivalents. 
These investments primarily consist of money market funds and commercial paper.  

Investments in Marketable Securities  

Investments in marketable securities are accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt 
and Equity Securities.” All investments with original maturities greater than 90 days are classified as investments in marketable securities. 
Investments in marketable securities with maturities less than one year from the balance sheet date are considered short-term investments. 
Short-term investments also include investments in asset-backed, auction rate debt securities with interest rate reset periods of 90 days or less 
but whose underlying agreements have original maturities of more than 90 days, based on the provisions of Accounting Research Bulletin 
No. 43, Chapter 3A, Working Capital-Current Assets and Liabilities, which allows classification of investments based on management’s view. 
Investments in marketable securities with maturities greater than one year from the balance sheet date, excluding investments in asset-backed, 
auction rate debt securities with interest reset periods of 90 days or less, are considered long-term investments. The Company has invested in 
government agency notes, asset-backed debt securities (including auction rate debt securities), corporate notes and commercial paper, all of 
which bear a minimum short-term rating of A1/P1 or a minimum long-term rating of A/A2.  

The Company has classified all short- and long-term investments in marketable securities as available-for-sale. The Company may or may 
not hold its investments in marketable securities until maturity. In response to changes in the availability of and the yield on alternative 
investments as well as liquidity requirements, the Company occasionally sells its investments in marketable securities prior to their stated 
maturities. Available for sale securities are carried at fair value, with any unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, included in unrealized gains 
(losses) on investments as a separate component of stockholders’ equity and in total comprehensive income (loss). Realized gains and losses 
are included in interest income and other, net, in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and are determined on a specific identification 
basis.  

The Company periodically evaluates whether declines in fair values of its investments below their cost are potentially other than 
temporary. This evaluation consists of several qualitative and quantitative factors regarding the severity and duration of the unrealized loss as 
well as the Company’s ability and intent to hold the investment for a period of time which may be sufficient for an anticipated recovery in 
market value.  

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts  

EarthLink maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of EarthLink’s customers to make 
payments. In assessing the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts, management considers multiple factors including the aging of its 
receivables, historical write-offs, the credit quality of its customers, the general economic environment and other factors that may affect 
customers’ ability to pay. If the financial condition of EarthLink’s customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to 
make payments, additional allowances may be required. The Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts was $8.1 million as of December 31, 
2005 and 2006. The Company recorded bad debt expense of $26.3 million, $22.6 million and $23.0 million during the years  
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ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. The Company’s write-offs of uncollectible accounts were $24.3 million, $22.4 million 
and $25.2 million during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. The Company acquired a $2.2 million allowance 
for doubtful accounts in its acquisition of New Edge Holding Company (“New Edge”).  

Property and Equipment  

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation expense is determined using the straight-line 
method over the estimated useful lives of the various asset classes, which are generally three to five years for computers, telecommunications 
equipment and furniture and other office equipment and 15 years for buildings. Leasehold improvements are depreciated using the straight-line 
method over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the remaining term of the lease. When leases are extended, the remaining useful lives 
of leasehold improvements are increased as appropriate, but not for a period in excess of the remaining lease term. Expenditures for 
maintenance and repairs are charged to operating expense as incurred. Upon retirements or sales, the original cost and related accumulated 
depreciation are removed from the respective accounts, and the gains and losses are included in interest income and other, net, or as facility exit 
and restructuring costs, as appropriate. Upon impairment, the Company accelerates depreciation of the asset and such cost is included in 
operating expenses.  

Investments in Other Companies  

Minority investments in other companies are classified as investments in other companies in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and are 
accounted for under the cost method of accounting because the Company does not have the ability to exercise significant influence over the 
companies’ operations. Under the cost method of accounting, investments in private companies are carried at cost and are only adjusted for 
other-than-temporary declines in fair value and distributions of earnings. For cost method investments in public companies that have readily 
determinable fair values, the Company classifies its investments as available-for-sale in accordance with SFAS No. 115 and, accordingly, 
records these investments at their fair values with unrealized gains and losses included as a separate component of stockholders’ equity and in 
total comprehensive income (loss). Upon sale or liquidation, realized gains and losses are included in the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations.  

Management regularly evaluates the recoverability of its investments in other companies based on the performance and the financial 
position of those companies as well as other evidence of market value. Such evaluation includes, but is not limited to, reviewing the investee’s 
cash position, recent financings, projected and historical financial performance, cash flow forecasts and financing needs. During the years 
ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, the Company recognized losses due to other-than-temporary declines of the value of investments of $1.4 
million and $0.9 million, respectively. These losses are included in gain (loss) on investments in other companies, net, in the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations. During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company did not recognize any losses due to other-than-temporary 
declines of the value of investments.  

Variable Interest Entities  

The Company applies the guidance prescribed in FIN No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” to determine if the Company 
must consolidate the results of companies in which the Company has invested. Variable interest entities (“VIEs”) are entities that either do not 
have equity investors with proportionate economic and voting rights or have equity investors that do not provide sufficient financial  
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resources for the entity to support its activities. Consolidation is required if it is determined that the Company absorbs a majority of the 
expected losses and/or receives a majority of the expected returns. In determining if an investee is a VIE and whether EarthLink must 
consolidate its results, management evaluates whether the equity of the entity is sufficient to absorb its expected losses and whether EarthLink 
is the primary beneficiary. Management generally performs this assessment at the date EarthLink becomes involved with the entity and upon 
changes in the capital structure or related governing documents of the entity. Management has concluded that the Company does not have any 
arrangements with entities that would require consolidation pursuant to FIN No. 46.  

Investment in Equity Affiliate  

The Company has a joint venture with SK Telecom Co., Ltd. (“SK Telecom”), HELIO. HELIO is a non-facilities-based mobile virtual 
network operator (“MVNO”) offering mobile communications services and handsets to U.S. consumers. EarthLink and SK Telecom each have 
an equal voting and economic ownership interest in HELIO. EarthLink and SK Telecom, as partners, invested an aggregate of $166.0 million 
of cash and non-cash assets upon completing the formation of HELIO in March 2005, invested an aggregate of $78.0 million of cash in 
August 2005, invested an aggregate $157.0 million in 2006 and have committed to invest additional cash of $39.0 million in 2007, including 
$27.0 million that was invested in February 2007.  

The Company accounts for its investment in HELIO under the equity method of accounting because the Company can exert significant 
influence over HELIO’s operating and financial policies. The Company determined that HELIO does not qualify as a VIE under FIN No. 46, 
so consolidation pursuant to FIN No. 46 is not required. In accordance with the equity method of accounting, EarthLink’s investment in 
HELIO was recorded at original cost and is adjusted to recognize EarthLink’s proportionate share of HELIO’s net income (loss), amortization 
of basis differences and additional contributions made.  

Goodwill and Purchased Intangible Assets  

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired in business combinations accounted for 
under the purchase method of accounting pursuant to SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations.” Purchased intangible assets consist primarily 
of subscriber bases and customer relationships, acquired software and technology and other assets acquired in conjunction with the purchases 
of businesses and subscriber bases from other companies. Subscriber bases acquired directly are valued at cost plus assumed service liabilities, 
which approximates fair value at the time of purchase. When management determines material intangible assets are acquired in conjunction 
with the purchase of a company, EarthLink engages an independent third party to determine the allocation of the purchase price to the 
intangible assets acquired. Intangible assets determined to have definite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
lives.  

The Company accounts for goodwill and intangible assets in accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” 
which prohibits the amortization of goodwill and certain intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives. SFAS No. 142 requires the 
Company to test its goodwill for impairment at least annually. The Company performs an impairment test of its goodwill annually during the 
fourth quarter of its fiscal year or when events and circumstances indicate that goodwill might be permanently impaired. Impairment testing of 
goodwill is tested at the reporting unit level by comparing the reporting unit’s carrying amount, including goodwill, to the estimated fair value 
of the reporting unit. The fair values of the reporting unit are estimated using discounted expected future cash flows. If the  
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carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, goodwill is considered impaired and a second step is performed to measure the 
amount of the impairment loss, if any. The Company conducted its annual impairment test as of October 1, 2006 and determined that the 
estimated fair value exceeded the carrying value. There have not been any events or circumstances from the date of the Company’s assessment 
through December 31, 2006 that would cause the Company to retest its goodwill.  

Long-Lived Assets  

The Company accounts for long-lived assets in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets,” which addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment and disposition of long-lived assets, including property 
and equipment and purchased intangible assets. The Company evaluates the recoverability of long-lived assets for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Conditions that would necessitate an 
impairment assessment include a significant decline in the observable market value of an asset, a significant change in the extent or manner in 
which an asset is used, or a significant adverse change that would indicate the carrying amount of an asset or group of assets is not recoverable. 
For long-lived assets to be held and used, EarthLink recognizes an impairment loss only if its carrying amount is not recoverable through its 
undiscounted cash flows and measures the impairment loss, if any, based on the difference between the carrying amount and fair value. Long-
lived assets held for sale are reported at the lower of cost or fair value less costs to sell.  

Leases  

The Company accounts for lease agreements in accordance with SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for Leases,” which requires categorization of 
leases at their inception as either operating or capital leases depending on certain criteria. The Company recognizes rent expense for operating 
leases on a straight-line basis without regard to deferred payment terms, such as rent holidays or fixed escalations. Incentives are treated as a 
reduction of the Company’s rent costs over the term of the lease agreement. The Company records leasehold improvements funded by 
landlords under operating leases as leasehold improvements and deferred rent.  

Facility Exit and Restructuring Costs  

The Company accounts for facility exit and restructuring costs in accordance with SFAS No. 144 and SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for 
Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” which requires that a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be 
recognized when the liability is incurred. Facility exit and restructuring liabilities include estimates for, among other things, severance 
payments and amounts due under lease obligations, net of estimated sublease income, if any. Key variables in determining such estimates 
include operating expenses due under lease arrangements, the timing and amounts of sublease rental payments, tenant improvement costs and 
brokerage and other related costs. The Company periodically evaluates and, if necessary, adjusts its estimates based on currently-available 
information. Such adjustments are classified as facility exit and restructuring costs in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.  

Comprehensive Income (Loss)  

Comprehensive income (loss) as presented in the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
includes unrealized gains and losses which are excluded from the  
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Consolidated Statements of Operations in accordance with SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income.” For the years ended 
December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, these amounts included changes in unrealized gains and losses on certain investments classified as 
available-for-sale. The amounts are presented net of tax-related effects, which management estimated to be approximately zero.  

Certain Risks and Concentrations  

Credit Risk.    By their nature, all financial instruments involve risk, including credit risk for non-performance by counterparties. Financial 
instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist principally of cash, cash equivalents, investments in marketable 
securities, trade receivables and investments in other companies. The Company’s cash investment policy limits investments to investment 
grade instruments. Accounts receivable are typically unsecured and are derived from revenues earned from customers primarily located in the 
U.S. Credit risk with respect to trade receivables is limited due to the large number of customers comprising the Company’s customer base. 
Additionally, the Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and maintains allowances for potential credit losses. As of 
December 31, 2005 and 2006, two companies each accounted for more than 10% of gross accounts receivable. Management regularly evaluates 
the recoverability of its investments in other companies based on the performance and the financial position of those companies as well as other 
evidence of market value.  

Regulatory Risk.    EarthLink purchases broadband access from incumbent local exchange carriers, competitive local exchange carriers 
and cable providers. Please refer to “Regulatory Environment” in the Business section of this Annual Report on 10-K for a discussion of the 
regulatory environment as well as a discussion regarding the Company’s contracts with broadband access providers.  

Supply Risk.    The Company’s business substantially depends on the capacity, affordability, reliability and security of third-party 
telecommunications and data service providers. Only a small number of providers offer the network services the Company requires, and the 
majority of its telecommunications services are currently purchased from a limited number of telecommunications service providers. 
Telecommunications service providers have recently merged and may continue to merge, which would reduce the number of suppliers from 
which the Company could purchase telecommunications services. Although management believes that alternate telecommunications providers 
could be found in a timely manner, any disruption of these services could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, 
results of operations and cash flows.  

The Company also relies on the reliability, capacity and effectiveness of its outsourced contact center service providers. The Company 
purchases contact center services from several geographically dispersed service providers. The contact center service providers may become 
subject to financial, economic and political risks beyond the Company’s or the providers’ control which could jeopardize their ability to deliver 
services. Although management believes that alternate contact center service providers could be found in a timely manner, any disruption of 
these services could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows.  

Fair Value of Financial Instruments  

The carrying amounts of the Company’s cash, cash equivalents, trade receivables and trade payables approximate their fair values because 
of their nature and respective durations. The Company’s short- and long-term investments in marketable securities consist of available-for-sale 
securities and are carried at market value, which is based on quoted market prices, with unrealized gains and losses included in  
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stockholders’ equity. The Company’s equity investments in publicly-held companies are stated at fair value, which is based on quoted market 
prices, with unrealized gains and losses included in stockholders’ equity. The Company’s investments in privately-held companies are stated at 
cost, net of other-than-temporary impairments. The Company’s long-term debt is carried at cost, and the estimated fair value of the Company’s 
long-term debt is based on the quoted market price.  

Segments  

The Company operates in one principal business segment, IP-based access and communications services. Substantially all of the 
Company’s operating results and identifiable assets are in the U.S.  

Reclassifications  

Certain amounts in the prior year financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.  

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements  

In June 2006, the FASB ratified the consensus reached in EITF Issue No. 06-2, “Accounting for Sabbatical Leave and Other Similar 
Benefits Pursuant to FASB Statement No. 43.” EITF Issue No. 06-2 provides recognition guidance on the accrual of employees’ rights to 
compensated absences under a sabbatical or other similar benefit arrangement. EITF Issue No. 06-2 is effective for the Company for all 
financial statements after December 31, 2006. The Company is currently assessing the impact of the adoption of EITF Issue No. 06-2 on its 
financial statements.  

In July 2006, the FASB issued FIN No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,” which prescribes a comprehensive model for 
how a company should recognize, measure, present and disclose in its financial statements uncertain tax positions that the company has taken 
or expects to take on a tax return (including a decision whether to file or not to file a return in a particular jurisdiction). The accounting 
provisions of FIN No. 48 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company is currently assessing the impact that 
the adoption of FIN No. 48 will have, if any, on its consolidated financial statements.  

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements,” which establishes a framework for reporting fair value 
and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning 
after November 15, 2007 and interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company is currently assessing the impact of the adoption of this 
standard on its financial statements.  

3.                  Acquisitions and Asset Purchases  

Aluria Software LLC  

In September 2005, the Company acquired the assets of Aluria Software LLC (“Aluria”), a privately held developer and provider of 
protection and security products for consumers, small businesses and enterprise customers, for $13.4 million, which consisted of $9.3 million 
in cash and notes payable of $4.1 million. The Company repaid $2.0 million of the notes payable during the year ended December 31, 2006. 
The acquisition of Aluria enabled EarthLink to enhance and improve its suite of protection applications.  

The acquisition was accounted for pursuant to SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations.” The Company assumed net liabilities of 
approximately $0.1 million and allocated $3.1 million to identifiable  
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definite lived intangible assets, primarily acquired software and technology, resulting in $10.4 million of goodwill. The amounts of identifiable 
intangible assets acquired were based on a third-party appraisal. The purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
based on their estimated fair values, including identifiable intangible assets. The acquired software and technology is being amortized on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from one to six years, from the date of the acquisition. The pro 
forma effect of the transaction was not material.  

New Edge  

In April 2006, EarthLink acquired New Edge, a single-source national provider of secure multi-site managed data networks and dedicated 
Internet access for businesses and communications carriers. Through this acquisition, EarthLink expanded its business in the small and 
medium-sized business market. New Edge is a wholly-owned subsidiary of EarthLink and continues to operate under its current name. The 
results of operations of New Edge are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of the acquisition.  

The acquisition was accounted for pursuant to SFAS No. 141. The total purchase price of $144.8 million consisted of $108.7 million net 
cash paid, including direct transaction costs of $3.7 million; $20.2 million in EarthLink, Inc. common stock, representing approximately 1.7 
million shares; and estimated net liabilities assumed of $15.9 million. In addition, approximately 0.9 million shares of EarthLink, Inc. common 
stock are being held in escrow and will be used to cover liabilities that may arise under EarthLink’s indemnification rights under the merger 
agreement. The fair value of EarthLink, Inc. common stock was determined based on the average market price per share the three days before 
and the three days after the announcement of the execution of the merger agreement.  

EarthLink allocated $37.0 million of the total purchase price to identifiable definite lived intangible assets, consisting of acquired 
customer relationships and software, and $7.8 million of the total purchase price to identifiable indefinite lived intangible assets, consisting of 
trade names. The fair values of identifiable intangible assets acquired were based on a third-party appraisal. The purchase price allocation 
resulted in $100.0 million of goodwill. The purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated 
fair values, including identifiable intangible assets. The acquired customer relationships and software are being amortized on a straight-line 
basis from the date of the acquisition over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from three to nine years. The weighted average 
amortizable life of the acquired intangible assets is 5.9 years. The acquired trade names were deemed to have indefinite useful lives. The 
amounts of liabilities assumed and identifiable assets acquired are subject to adjustment for up to one year from the date of acquisition. Any 
change will change the amount of purchase price allocable to goodwill. The pro forma effect of the transaction was not material.  
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4.   Investments  

Investments in Marketable Securities  

The following table summarizes unrealized gains and losses on the Company’s investments in marketable securities based on quoted 
market prices as of December 31, 2005 and 2006:  

   

The unrealized losses on the Company’s investments in marketable securities were caused primarily by changes in interest rates. The 
Company’s investment portfolio consists of government and high-quality corporate securities. Investments in both fixed rate and floating rate 
interest earning instruments carry a degree of interest rate risk. Fixed rate securities may have their fair market value adversely impacted due to 
a rise in interest rates, while floating rate securities may produce less income than expected if interest rates fall. The longer the term of the 
securities, the more susceptible they are to changes in market rates of interest and yields on bonds. Investments are reviewed periodically to 
identify possible other-than-temporary impairment. When evaluating the investments, the Company reviews factors such as the length of time 
and extent to which fair value has been below cost basis, the financial condition of the issuer and the Company’s ability and intent to hold the 
investment for a period of time which may be sufficient for anticipated recovery in market value. The Company believes its gross unrealized 
losses are temporary because management has the intent and ability to hold these investments until maturity, at which time the Company would 
expect to receive the amortized cost basis of the investment based on the underlying contractual arrangement. The Company has not 
experienced any significant realized gains or losses on its investments in marketable securities during the years presented.  
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   As of December 31, 2005     As of December 31, 2006     
            Gross     Gross     Estimated           Gross     Gross     Estimated     
      Amortized     Unrealized     Unrealized     Fair     Amortized     Unrealized     Unrealized     Fair     
      Cost     Losses     Gains     Value     Cost     Losses     Gains     Value     
      (in thousands)     

Short-term  
                                                                                                   

Government agency notes  
      $ 101,226 

         $ (376 )  
      $ —

         $ 100,850 
         $ 46,666 

         $ (154 )  
      $ —

         $ 46,512 
      

Asset-backed (including 
auction rate) securities  

      85,107 
         — 

         — 
         85,107 

         85,050 
         — 

         — 
         85,050 

      
Corporate notes  

      12,445 
         (24 )  

      3 
         12,424 

         8,498 
         (6 )  

      3 
         8,495 

      
Commercial paper  

      9,487 
         (23 )  

      — 
         9,464 

         74,967 
         (77 )  

      — 
         74,890 

      
   

      $ 208,265 
         $ (423 )  

      $ 3 
         $ 207,845 

         $ 215,181 
         $ (237 )  

      $ 3 
         $ 214,947 

      
Long-term  

                                                                                                   
Government agency notes  

      $ 20,110 
         $ (133 )  

      $ —
         $ 19,977 

         $ 20,997 
         $ (39 )  

      $ 1 
         $ 20,959 

      
Asset-backed securities  

      4,951 
         (13 )  

      — 
         4,938 

         — 
         — 

         — 
         — 

      
Corporate notes  

      16,069 
         (15 )  

      11 
         16,065 

         500 
         — 

         1 
         501 

      
      $ 41,130 

         $ (161 )  
      $ 11 

         $ 40,980 
         $ 21,497 

         $ (39 )  
      $ 2 

         $ 21,460 
      

Total  
                                                                                                   

Government agency notes  
      $ 121,336 

         $ (509 )  
      $ —

         $ 120,827 
         $ 67,663 

         $ (193 )  
      $ 1 

         $ 67,471 
      

Asset-backed (including 
auction rate) securities  

      90,058 
         (13 )  

      — 
         90,045 

         85,050 
         — 

         — 
         85,050 

      
Corporate notes  

      28,514 
         (39 )  

      14 
         28,489 

         8,998 
         (6 )  

      4 
         8,996 

      
Commercial paper  

      9,487 
         (23 )  

      — 
         9,464 

         74,967 
         (77 )  

      — 
         74,890 

      
      $ 249,395 

         $ (584 )  
      $ 14 

         $ 248,825 
         $ 236,678 

         $ (276 )  
      $ 5 

         $ 236,407 
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The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of the Company’s investments in marketable securities designated as available-
for-sale classified by the maturity of the security:  

   

Investments in Other Companies  

As of December 31, 2005 and 2006, minority investments in other companies were $1.4 million and $59.3 million, respectively, and are 
classified as investments in other companies in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Minority investments in other companies as of December 31, 
2005 and 2006 included $1.0 million and $11.0 million, respectively, of investments carried at cost, and $0.4 million and $48.3 million, 
respectively, of investments recorded at fair value. As of December 31, 2005, gross unrealized losses were $0.1 million and there were no gross 
unrealized gains. As of December 31, 2006, gross unrealized losses were $6.5 million and there were no gross unrealized gains.  

In March 2006, the Company invested $50.0 million in Covad Communications Group, LLC (“Covad”), which consisted of 6.1 million 
shares of Covad common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $10.0 million and $40.0 million aggregate principal amount of 12% Senior 
Secured Convertible Notes due 2011 (the “Covad Notes”). The Company cannot exert significant influence over Covad’s operating and 
financial policies and, as such, accounts for its investment in Covad under the cost method of accounting and classifies the investment as 
available-for-sale. The Company deferred $0.8 million of direct loan origination costs that are being recognized as a reduction in the effective 
yield over the term of the Covad Notes.  

In April 2006, the Company invested $10.0 million in Current Communications Group, LLC (“Current”), a privately-held broadband-
over-powerline provider. The Company accounts for its investment in Current under the cost method of accounting because the Company 
cannot exert significant influence over Current’s operating and financial policies.  

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company received $4.4 million in cash distributions from eCompanies Venture Group, 
L.P. (“EVG”), a limited partnership that invested in domestic emerging Internet-related companies. In applying the cost method, EarthLink 
recorded $0.6 million as a return of EarthLink’s investment based on the carrying value of the investment, and the gain of $3.8 million was 
included in gain (loss) on investments in other companies, net, in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 
2005. During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company recorded a $0.4 million gain on investments in other companies resulting from 
an additional EVG dividend.  

Investment in Equity Affiliate  

In March 2005, the Company completed the formation of a joint venture with SK Telecom, HELIO, to market and sell wireless voice and 
data services in the U.S. EarthLink and SK Telecom each have an equal voting and economic ownership interest in HELIO. Upon formation, 
the Company invested  
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      As of December 31,     
      2005     2006     
      (in thousands)     

Due within one year  
   $ 207,845 

   $ 214,947 
   

Due after one year through two years  
   32,934 

   19,466 
   

Due after two years through five years  
   8,046 

   1,994 
   

   
   $ 248,825 

   $ 236,407 
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$43.0 million of cash and contributed non-cash assets valued at $40.0 million, including 27,000 wireless customers, contractual arrangements 
and agreements to prospectively market HELIO’s services. The non-cash assets contributed were recorded by the Company as an additional 
investment of $0.5 million based on the Company’s carrying value of the assets. The Company recorded its initial investment at $43.5 million, 
reflecting the cash invested plus the carrying value of assets contributed. In addition, the Company paid HELIO to assume $0.9 million of net 
liabilities associated with wireless customers and related operations. The Company recorded no gain or loss in March 2005 associated with the 
contribution of non-cash assets, the transfer of net liabilities, or the associated payment to HELIO to assume the net liabilities upon completing 
the formation of HELIO.  

Pursuant to the HELIO Contribution and Formation Agreement, the Company contributed $122.0 million of cash and noncash assets 
during 2005, $78.5 million during 2006 and is committed to invest an additional $19.5 million of cash in HELIO during 2007, which includes 
$13.5 million that was contributed in February 2007. During 2006, HELIO received minority investments, which reduced EarthLink’s and SK 
Telecom’s economic ownership interest in HELIO from 50 percent at formation to approximately 48 percent as of December 31, 
2006. However, EarthLink’s and SK Telecom’s voting interest remains the same.  

The Company accounts for its investment in HELIO under the equity method of accounting because the Company can exert significant 
influence over HELIO’s operating and financial policies. As a result, the Company records its proportionate share of HELIO’s net loss in its 
Consolidated Statement of Operations. The Company is amortizing the difference between the book value and fair value of non-cash assets 
contributed to HELIO over their estimated useful lives. The amortization increases the carrying value of the Company’s investment and 
decreases the net losses of equity affiliate included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. During the years ended December 31, 2005 
and 2006, the Company recorded $15.6 million and $84.8 million, respectively, of net losses of equity affiliate related to its HELIO investment, 
which is net of amortization of basis differences and certain other equity method accounting adjustments.  

The following is summarized statement of operations information of HELIO for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006:  

   

The following is summarized balance sheet information of HELIO as of December 31, 2005 and 2006:  
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      Year Ended December 31,     
      2005     2006     
      (in thousands)     

Revenues  
   $ 16,365 

   $  46,580 
   

Operating loss  
   (45,658 )  (201,266 ) 

Net loss  
   (42,023 )  (191,755 ) 

      As of December 31,     
      2005     2006     
      (in thousands)     

Current assets  
   $ 164,377 

   $ 189,661 
   

Long-term assets  
   59,570 

   75,309 
   

Current liabilities  
   17,912 

   78,889 
   

Long-term liabilities  
   2,394 

   4,853 
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5.   Property and Equipment  

Property and equipment is recorded at cost and consisted of the following as of December 31, 2005 and 2006:  

   

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company wrote-down and retired abandoned and disposed property and equipment that 
had a cost basis and accumulated depreciation of $6.8 million.  

Depreciation expense charged to operations, which includes depreciation expense associated with property under capital leases, was $54.9 
million, $34.9 million and $34.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.  

6.   Goodwill and Purchased Intangible Assets  

Goodwill  

Pursuant to SFAS No. 142, the Company performs an impairment test annually during the fourth quarter of its fiscal year or when events 
and circumstances indicate goodwill might be permanently impaired. During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, the 
Company’s tests indicated its goodwill was not impaired.  

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the carrying amount of goodwill decreased $6.7 million. This consisted of a $17.1 million 
decrease in goodwill due to the realization of tax benefits associated with net operating loss carryforwards which were acquired in connection 
with acquisitions, offset by a $10.4 million increase in goodwill resulting from the acquisition of Aluria. During the year ended December 31, 
2006, the carrying amount of goodwill increased $101.2 million, which consisted of a $100.0 million increase in goodwill resulting from the 
acquisition of New Edge and $1.2 million of purchase accounting adjustments.  
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      As of December 31,     
      2005     2006     
      (in thousands)     

Data center and network equipment  
   $ 247,677 

   $ 286,805 
   

Office and other equipment  
   185,734 

   193,692 
   

Land and buildings  
   14,777 

   15,113 
   

Leasehold improvements  
   58,332 

   65,333 
   

Construction in progress  
   11,266 

   13,848 
   

   
   517,786 

   574,791 
   

Less accumulated depreciation  
   (444,609 )  (478,171 ) 

   
   $  73,177 

   $  96,620 
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Purchased Intangible Assets  

The following table presents the components of the Company’s acquired identifiable intangible assets included in the accompanying 
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2006:  

   

Amortization of intangible assets in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 
represents the amortization of definite lived intangible assets. The Company’s definite lived intangible assets primarily consist of subscriber 
bases and customer relationships, acquired software and technology and other assets acquired in conjunction with the purchases of businesses 
and subscriber bases from other ISPs that are not deemed to have indefinite lives. Definite lived intangible assets are amortized on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives, which are generally three to six years for subscriber bases and customer relationships and one to six 
years for acquired software and technology. As of December 31, 2006, the weighted average amortization periods were 3.3 years for subscriber 
bases and customer relationships and 4.1 years for software and technology. Based on the current amount of definite lived intangible assets, the 
Company expects to record amortization expense of approximately $13.8 million, $11.8 million, $9.0 million, $6.4 million, $6.0 million and 
$1.9 million during the years ending December 31, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011 and thereafter, respectively. Actual amortization expense to 
be reported in future periods could differ materially from these estimates as a result of asset acquisitions, changes in useful lives and other 
relevant factors. The Company’s indefinite lived intangible assets consist of trade names.  

In connection with the formation of HELIO and the transfer of 27,000 wireless subscribers to HELIO, EarthLink reclassified a subscriber 
base asset with a net book value of $0.4 million associated with certain wireless subscribers to its investment in HELIO during the year ended 
December 31, 2005. The subscriber base asset had a cost basis of $1.9 million and accumulated amortization of $1.5 million.  

7.   Facility Exit and Restructuring Costs  

During the year ended December 31, 2003, EarthLink executed a plan to streamline its contact center facilities (the “2003 Plan”). In 
connection with the 2003 Plan, EarthLink closed contact center facilities in Dallas, Texas; Sacramento, California; Pasadena, California; and 
Seattle, Washington. The closure of the four contact center facilities resulted in the termination of 1,220 employees and the net reduction of 
920 employees, primarily customer support personnel. In connection with the 2003 Plan, EarthLink recorded facility exit costs of $36.6 
million, including $10.7 million for employee, personnel and related costs; $18.2 million for real estate and telecommunications costs; and $7.7 
million in asset disposals. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had a $1.2 million liability remaining for real estate commitments. All other 
costs have been paid.  
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      As of December 31, 2005     As of December 31, 2006     
      Gross           Net     Gross           Net     
      Carrying     Accumulated     Carrying     Carrying     Accumulated     Carrying     
      Value     Amortization     Value     Value     Amortization     Value     
      (in thousands)     

Subscriber bases and customer 
relationships  

   $ 337,511 
      $ (327,020 ) 

   $ 10,491 
   $ 384,336 

      $ (337,708 ) 
   $ 46,628 

   
Software, technology and other  

   3,125 
      (338 ) 

   2,787 
   3,864 

      (1,551 ) 
   2,313 

   
Trade names  

   3,000 
      — 

      3,000 
   10,857 

      — 
      10,857 

   
Total  

   $ 343,636 
      $ (327,358 ) 

   $ 16,278 
   $ 399,057 

      $ (339,259 ) 
   $ 59,798 
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During the year ended December 31, 2004, EarthLink executed a plan to restructure and further streamline its contact center operations 
(the “2004 Plan”). Under the 2004 Plan, EarthLink closed contact center operations in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania; Roseville, California; San 
Jose, California; and Pasadena, California; and reduced its contact center operations in Atlanta, Georgia. Approximately 1,140 employees were 
directly impacted, primarily customer support personnel. As a result of the 2004 Plan, EarthLink recorded facility exit costs of $30.2 million, 
including $10.5 million for employee, personnel and related costs; $11.3 million for real estate and telecommunications costs; and $8.4 million 
in asset disposals. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had a $2.6 million liability remaining for real estate commitments. All other costs 
have been paid.  

During the year ended December 31, 2005, EarthLink executed plans to further streamline operations by outsourcing certain contact 
center and credit and collections activities (the “2005 Plans”). Approximately 227 employees were directly impacted. As a result of the 2005 
Plans, EarthLink recorded $1.4 million of restructuring costs for severance and personnel-related costs. As of December 31, 2006, all severance 
and personnel-related costs related to the 2005 Plans were paid and there was no remaining liability.  

EarthLink periodically evaluates and adjusts its estimates for facility exit and restructuring costs based on currently-available information. 
Such adjustments are included as facility exit and restructuring costs in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. During the years ended 
December 31, 2004 and 2006, EarthLink reduced its estimates for facility exit costs by $1.8 million and $0.1 million, respectively, based on 
events occurring during the periods. During the year ended December 31, 2005, EarthLink increased its estimates for facility exit costs by $0.7 
million based on events occurring during the period.  

Facility exit and restructuring liabilities due within one year of the balance sheet date are classified as other accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities and liabilities due after one year are classified as other long-term liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Of the unpaid balance 
as of December 31, 2006, approximately $2.1 million associated with the 2003 Plan and 2004 Plan was classified as long-term.  

8.   Other Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities  

Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities consisted of the following as of December 31, 2005 and 2006:  
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      As of December 31,     
      2005     2006     
      (in thousands)     

Accrued communications costs  
   $ 7,952 

   $ 14,052 
   

Accrued advertising  
   19,026 

   17,299 
   

Accrued taxes  
   7,923 

   11,874 
   

Accrued bounties  
   9,760 

   1,442 
   

Accrued professional fees and settlements  
   3,755 

   5,475 
   

Liabilities associated with non-cancelable operating leases  
   3,473 

   2,704 
   

Accrued outsourced customer support  
   10,088 

   8,021 
   

Subscriber base and fixed asset purchases  
   3,858 

   6,457 
   

Deposits and due to customers  
   4,088 

   5,654 
   

Other  
   14,216 

   21,904 
   

   
   $ 84,139 

   $ 94,882 
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9.   Long-Term Debt  

In November 2006, the Company issued $258.8 million aggregate principal amount of Convertible Senior Notes due November 15, 2026 
(the “Notes”) in a registered offering, which reflects the exercise by the underwriters of their option to purchase an additional $33.8 million of 
principal to cover over-allotments. The Company received net proceeds of $251.6 million after transaction fees of $7.2 million. The Notes bear 
interest at 3.25% per year on the principal amount of the Notes until November 15, 2011, and 3.50% interest per year on the principal amount 
of the Notes thereafter, payable semi-annually in May and November of each year. The Notes rank as senior unsecured obligations of the 
Company.  

The Notes are payable with cash and, if applicable, convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock based on an initial conversion 
rate, subject to adjustment, of 109.6491 shares per $1,000 principal amount of Notes (which represents an initial conversion price of 
approximately $9.12 per share). Upon conversion, a holder will receive cash up to the principal amount of the Notes and, at the Company’s 
option, cash, or shares of the Company’s common stock or a combination of cash and shares of common stock for the remainder, if any, of the 
conversion obligation. The conversion obligation is based on the sum of the “daily settlement amounts” for the 20 consecutive trading days that 
begin on, and include, the second trading day after the day the notes are surrendered for conversion. The Notes will be convertible only in the 
following circumstances: (1) during any calendar quarter after the calendar quarter ending December 31, 2006 (and only during such calendar 
quarter), if the closing sale price of the Company’s common stock for each of 20 or more trading days in a period of 30 consecutive trading 
days ending on the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter exceeds 130% of the conversion price in effect on the last 
trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter; (2) during the five consecutive business days immediately after any five consecutive 
trading day period in which the average trading price per $1,000 principal amount of Notes was equal to or less than 98% of the average 
conversion value of the Notes during the note measurement period; (3) upon the occurrence of specified corporate transactions; (4) if the 
Company has called the Notes for redemption; and (5) at any time from, and including, October 15, 2011 to, and including, November 15, 2011 
and at any time on or after November 15, 2024. The Company has the option to redeem the Notes, in whole or in part, for cash, on or after 
November 15, 2011, provided that the Company had made at least ten semi-annual interest payments. In addition, the holders may require the 
Company to purchase all or a portion of their notes on each of November 15, 2011, November 15, 2016 and November 15, 2021.  

As of December 31, 2006, the fair value of the Notes was approximately $277.3 million based on the quoted market price.  

In connection with the issuance of the Notes, the Company entered into separate convertible note hedge transactions and separate warrant 
transactions with respect to the Company’s common stock to reduce the potential dilution upon conversion of the Notes (collectively referred 
to as the “Call Spread Transactions”). The Company purchased call options to cover approximately 28.4 million shares of the Company’s 
common stock, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances, which is the number of shares underlying the Notes. In addition, the Company 
sold warrants permitting the purchasers to acquire up to approximately 28.4 million shares of the Company’s common stock, subject to 
adjustment in certain circumstances. See Note 10, “Shareholders’ Equity,” for more information on the Call Spread Transactions.  
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10.   Shareholders’ Equity  

Shareholder Rights Plan  

During 2002, the Board of Directors adopted a shareholder rights plan (the “Rights Plan”). In connection with the Rights Plan, the Board 
of Directors also declared a dividend of one right for each outstanding share of EarthLink’s common stock for stockholders of record at the 
close of business on August 5, 2002.  

Each right entitles the holder to purchase one one-thousandth (1 ⁄ 1000) of a share (a “Unit”) of EarthLink’s Series D Junior Preferred 
Stock at a price of $60.00 per Unit upon certain events. Generally, in the event a person or entity acquires, or initiates a tender offer to acquire, 
at least 15% of EarthLink’s then outstanding common stock, the rights will become exercisable for common stock having a value equal to two 
times the exercise price of the right, or effectively at one-half of EarthLink’s then-current stock price. The rights are redeemable under certain 
circumstances at $0.01 per right and will expire, unless earlier redeemed, on August 6, 2012.  

Share Repurchases  

Since the inception of the Company’s share repurchase program, the Board of Directors has authorized a total of $550.0 million for the 
repurchase of EarthLink’s common stock. During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, the Board of Directors also approved 
repurchasing common stock pursuant to plans under Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. As of December 31, 
2006, the Company had $95.3 million available under the current authorizations. The Company may repurchase its common stock from time to 
time in compliance with the SEC regulations and other legal requirements, including through the use of derivative transactions, and subject to 
market conditions and other factors. The share repurchase program does not require the Company to acquire any specific number of shares and 
may be terminated by the Board of Directors at any time.  

The following table summarizes share repurchases during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 pursuant to the share 
repurchase program, which have been recorded as treasury stock:  

   

Call Spread Transactions  

In connection with the issuance of the Notes (see Note 9, “Long-Term Debt”), the Company entered into separate convertible note hedge 
transactions and separate warrant transactions with respect to the Company’s common stock to minimize the impact of the potential dilution 
upon conversion of the Notes. The Company purchased call options in private transactions to cover approximately 28.4 million shares of the 
Company’s common stock at a strike price of $9.12 per share, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances, for $47.2 million. The call 
options generally allow the Company to receive shares of the Company’s common stock from counterparties equal to the number of shares of 
common stock payable to the holders of the Notes upon conversion. These call options will terminate the earlier of the maturity dates of the 
related senior convertible notes or the first day all of the related senior convertible notes are  
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      Year Ended December 31,     
      2004     2005     2006     
      (in thousands)     

Number of shares repurchased  
   12,628 

   20,527 
   11,339 

   
Aggregate purchase price  

   $ 125,286 
   $ 192,563 

   $ 85,613 
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no longer outstanding due to conversion or otherwise. As of December 31, 2006, the estimated fair value of the call options was $58.4 million.  

The Company also sold warrants permitting the purchasers to acquire up to approximately 28.4 million shares of the Company’s common 
stock at an exercise price of $11.20 per share, subject to adjustments in certain circumstances, in private transactions for total proceeds of 
approximately $32.1 million. The warrants expire at various dates in March 2012 through July 2012. The warrants provide for net share 
settlement. In no event shall the Company be required to deliver a number of shares in connection with the transaction in excess of twice the 
aggregate number of warrants. As of December 31, 2006, the estimated fair value of the warrants was $41.0 million.  

The Company has analyzed the Call Spread Transactions under EITF Issue No. 00-19, “Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments 
Indexed to, and Potentially Settled In, a Company’s Own Stock,” and other relevant literature, and determined that they meet the criteria for 
classification as equity transactions. As a result, the Company recorded the purchase of the call options as a reduction in additional paid-in 
capital and the proceeds of the warrants as an addition to paid-in capital, and the Company will not recognize subsequent changes in fair value 
of the agreements.  

11.   Stock-Based Compensation  

Stock Incentive Plans  

The Company has granted options to employees and directors to purchase the Company’s common stock under various stock incentive 
plans. The Company has also granted restricted stock units to employees and directors under various stock incentive plans. Under the plans, 
employees and non-employee directors are eligible to receive awards of various forms of equity-based incentive compensation, including stock 
options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, phantom share units and performance awards, among others. The plans are administered by the 
Board of Directors or the Leadership and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, which determine the terms of the awards 
granted. Stock options are generally granted with an exercise price equal to the market value of EarthLink, Inc. common stock on the date of 
grant, have a term of ten years or less, and vest over terms of four to six years from the date of grant. Restricted stock units generally vest over 
terms of three to six years from the date of grant. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had reserved 31.3 million shares of common stock 
for the issuance of equity-based incentive compensation under its stock incentive plans. As of December 31, 2006, approximately 20.5 million 
stock options, restricted stock units and phantom share units were outstanding under various stock incentive plans that expire in 2010 and 2016 
and approximately 10.8 million shares were available for grant.  

Deferred Compensation Plan  

The Company’s Second Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors and Certain Key Employees permits members of the Board of 
Directors and eligible employees to elect to defer receipt of shares of common stock pursuant to vested restricted stock units and various cash 
consideration, such as directors’ fees and bonuses. The cash consideration is converted into phantom share units at the closing price on the date 
the consideration would otherwise be paid, and vested restricted stock units are converted into phantom share units on a one-for-one basis. 
Phantom share units are fully vested at the date of grant and are converted to common stock upon the occurrence of various events. As of 
December 31, 2005 and 2006, approximately 18,000 and 29,000 phantom share units, respectively, were outstanding.  
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan  

In January 2005, the Company terminated its employee stock purchase plan (“ESPP”). Under the terms of the ESPP, eligible employees 
were able to have up to 15% of eligible compensation deducted from their pay to purchase EarthLink common stock. Under the ESPP, 
withholdings were used to purchase shares at the beginning of each quarter at a per share purchase price equal to 85% of the lesser of the 
closing price on the first trading day of the just completed quarter or the closing price on the last trading day of the just completed quarter. 
During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, employees purchased approximately 223,000 and 47,000 shares, respectively, pursuant 
to the ESPP at weighted average per share purchase prices of $7.58 and $9.14, respectively.  

Warrants  

Prior to December 31, 2000, the Company issued warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock to certain members of its 
Board of Directors, customers, consultants, lessors, creditors and others. As of December 31, 2006, warrants to purchase a total of 61,000 
shares of common stock were outstanding at exercise prices ranging from $4.02 to $5.50. The warrants are currently exercisable and expire at 
various dates through October 2007.  

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company sold warrants in connection with the issuance of Notes permitting the purchasers 
to acquire up to approximately 28.4 million shares of the Company’s common stock. See Note 10, “Stockholders’ Equity,” for a description of 
those warrants.  

Options Outstanding  

The following table summarizes information concerning stock option activity as of and for year ended December 31, 2006:  
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                  Weighted           
            Weighted     Average           
            Average     Remaining     Aggregate     
            Exercise     Contractual     Intrinsic     
      Stock Options     Price     Term (Years)     Value     
      (shares and dollars in thousands)     

Outstanding as of December 31, 2005  
      19,831 

         $ 11.90 
                              

Granted  
      3,729 

         7.94 
                              

Exercised  
      (717 )  

      6.00 
                              

Forfeited and expired  
      (2,373 )  

      12.88 
                              

Outstanding as of December 31, 2006  
      20,470 

         11.27 
         6.4 

         $ 4,559 
      

Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2006  
      18,691 

         $ 11.52 
         6.1 

         $ 4,386 
      

Exercisable as of December 31, 2006  
      12,200 

         $ 13.02 
         4.8 

         $ 2,947 
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The weighted average estimated fair value of stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2006 was $3.28 per share. The 
aggregate intrinsic value amounts in the table above represent the difference between the closing price of the Company’s common stock on 
December 31, 2006 and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-the-money stock options as of the same date. This represents the 
amount that would have been received by the stock option holders if they had all exercised their stock options on December 31, 2006. The total 
intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 was $6.1 million, $10.1 million and $2.4 
million, respectively.  

The following table summarizes the status of the Company’s stock options as of December 31, 2006:  

   

Valuation Assumptions for Stock Options  

The fair value of stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 was estimated using the Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model with the following assumptions:  

   

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 was $4.71, $4.65 
and $3.28, respectively.  

The dividend yield assumption is based on the Company’s history and expectation of future dividend payouts. The expected volatility is 
based on a combination of the Company’s historical stock price and implied volatility. The selection of implied volatility data to estimate 
expected volatility is based upon the availability of actively traded options on the Company’s stock. The risk-free interest rate assumption is 
based upon the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for periods corresponding with the expected life of the option. The 
expected life of employee stock options represents the weighted-average period the stock options are expected to remain outstanding.  
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                        Stock Options     
Stock Options Outstanding     Exercisable     

            Weighted                 
            Average     Weighted           Weighted     
            Remaining     Average           Average     

Range of     Number         Contractual             Exercise         Number         Exercise         
Exercise Prices         Outstanding         Life     Price         Exercisable         Price     

      (in thousands)                 (in thousands)           
$ 1.17  to  $ 5.56        1,845          5.7          $ 5.28 

         1,267          $ 5.36 
      

   5.81  to     6.72        907          5.6          6.17          808          6.19       
   6.90  to     7.82        2,716          9.1          7.07          262          7.72       
   7.99  to     9.24        2,664          7.5          8.93          1,373          8.87       
   9.25  to     9.93        2,659          6.8          9.58          1,373          9.64       
 10.06  to   10.06        2,290          3.7          10.06          2,290          10.06       
 10.36  to   10.51        2,322          8.3          10.37          871          10.37       
 10.56  to   15.00        2,410          6.8          11.67          1,299          12.22       
 15.63  to   51.44        2,657          3.0          26.98          2,657          26.98       
$ 1.17  to $51.44        20,470          6.4          $ 11.27 

         12,200          $ 13.02 
      

      Year Ended December 31,     
      2004     2005     2006     

Dividend yield  
   0 %  0 %  0 %  

Expected volatility  
   58 %  49 %  43 %  

Risk-free interest rate  
   3.59 %  4.03 %  4.86 %  

Expected life  
   4.3 years 

   4.7 years 
   4.3 years 
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Restricted Stock Units  

The following table summarizes the Company’s restricted stock units as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006:  

   

The fair value of restricted stock units is determined based on the closing trading price of EarthLink’s common stock on the grant date. 
The weighted-average grant date fair value of restricted stock units granted during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 was 
$8.90, $9.49 and $7.89, respectively. As of December 31, 2006, there was $7.0 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to 
nonvested share-based compensation arrangements. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.1 years. The 
total fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 was $0.1 million, $0.1 million and $1.2 million, 
respectively, which represents the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the vesting date multiplied by the number of restricted 
stock units that vested.  

12.    Profit Sharing Plans  

The Company sponsors the EarthLink, Inc. 401(k) Plan (“Plan”), which qualifies as a deferred salary arrangement under Section 401(k) of 
the Internal Revenue Code. Under the Plan, participating employees may defer a portion of their pretax earnings up to the Internal Revenue 
Service annual contribution limit. The Company makes a matching contribution of 50% of the first 6% of base compensation that a participant 
contributes to the Plan. The Company’s matching contributions vest over four years from the participant’s date of hire. The Company 
contributed $3.0 million, $2.8 million and $2.8 million during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.  
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            Weighted     
            Average     
      Restricted     Grant Date     
      Stock Units     Fair Value     

Nonvested as of December 31, 2005  
      658,000 

         $ 9.81 
      

Granted  
      831,000 

         7.89 
      

Vested  
      (165,000 ) 

      9.29 
      

Forfeited  
      (144,000 ) 

      9.52 
      

Nonvested as of December 31, 2006  
      1,180,000 

         8.57 
      



EARTHLINK, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)  

13.   Income Taxes  

The current and deferred income tax provisions were as follows for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006:  

   

During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, the Company utilized approximately $94.1 million and $123.8 million, respectively, 
of federal net operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”) and $88.6 million and $67.9 million, respectively, of state NOLs to offset taxable income; 
however, EarthLink owed state income and federal and state alternative minimum tax (“AMT”) aggregating $2.5 million and $5.3 million for 
the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively, and the AMT was payable primarily due to limitations associated with the 
utilization of NOLs in calculating AMT due. A valuation allowance of $1.8 million and $2.6 million has been provided for the years ended 
December 31, 2004 and 2005 for AMT amounts due, respectively, that may be used to offset tax due in future years. During the year ended 
December 31, 2006, the Company created federal NOLs of $34.5 million, and $124.2 million of state NOLs were utilized to offset state taxable 
income or expired. A valuation allowance of $12.1 million has been provided for the year ended December 31, 2006 for the federal NOLs 
created, that may be used to offset tax due in future years.  

Of the federal NOLs utilized during the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, $5.6 million and $49.0 million were acquired in 
connection with the acquisitions of OneMain.com, Inc., Cidco Incorporated and PeoplePC Inc. in 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively. Upon 
realization of these NOLs in 2004 and 2005, the associated reduction in the valuation allowance of $2.0 million and $17.1 million, respectively, 
was recorded as a reduction to goodwill in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” resulting in deferred income tax 
provisions of $2.0 million and $17.1 million, respectively.  
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      Year Ended December 31,     
      2004     2005     2006     
      (in thousands)     

Current  
                     

Federal  
   $ 1,608 

   $ 2,338 
   $ (328 ) 

State  
   883 

   2,999 
   626 

   
Total current  

   2,491 
   5,337 

   298 
   

Deferred  
                     

Federal  
   1,969 

   17,038 
   325 

   
State  

   — 
   101 

   263 
   

Total deferred  
   1,969 

   17,139 
   588 

   
Income tax provision  

   $ 4,460 
   $ 22,476 

   $ 886 
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The following table summarizes the significant differences between the U.S. federal statutory tax rate and the Company’s effective tax 
rate for financial statement purposes for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006:  

   

The Company acquired $49.5 million of deferred tax assets, primarily related to NOLs, in conjunction with the acquisition of New Edge 
in April 2006. These additional deferred tax assets and liabilities impact the net change to the valuation allowance.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities include the following as of December 31, 2005 and 2006:  

   

As of December 31, 2005 and 2006, the Company had NOLs for federal income tax purposes totaling approximately $386.9 million and 
$513.8 million, respectively, which begin to expire in 2017. As of December 31, 2005 and 2006, the Company had NOLs for state income tax 
purposes totaling approximately $231.1 million and $118.2 million, respectively, which started to expire in 2005. The Company also had $35.6 
million of foreign NOLs as of December 31, 2005. During the year ended December 31, 2006, all foreign entities were dissolved and the 
foreign deferred tax assets were reduced to zero. Under the Tax Reform Act of 1986, the Company’s ability to use its federal, state and foreign 
NOLs  
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      Year Ended December 31,     
      2004     2005     2006     
      (in thousands)     

Federal income tax provision at statutory rate  
   $ 40,414 

   $ 57,840 
   $ 2,056 

   
State income taxes, net of federal benefit  

   5,254 
   6,688 

   923 
   

Nondeductible expenses  
   361 

   1,087 
   5,046 

   
Net change to valuation allowance  

   — 
   — 

   (7,142 ) 
Change in valuation allowance associated with realized deferred tax assets  

   (45,360 )  (62,938 )  — 
   

Valuation allowance for realized deferred tax assets acquired in business 
combinations  

   1,969 
   17,139 

   — 
   

Increase in valuation allowance for AMT due  
   1,822 

   2,582 
   — 

   
Other  

   — 
   78 

   3 
   

   
   $ 4,460 

   $ 22,476 
   $ 886 

   

      As of December 31,     
      2005     2006     
      (in thousands)     

Deferred tax assets:  
               

Net operating loss carryforwards  
   $ 158,371 

   $ 184,805 
   

Accrued liabilities and reserves  
   17,773 

   16,696 
   

Subscriber base and other intangible assets  
   97,295 

   92,756 
   

Other  
   38,186 

   62,644 
   

Total deferred tax assets  
   311,625 

   356,901 
   

Valuation allowance  
   (311,625 )  (356,901 ) 

Net deferred tax asset  
   $ — 

   $ — 
   

Deferred tax liabilities:  
               

Indefinite lived intangible assets  
   $ — 

   $ (4,586 ) 
Net deferred tax liability  

   $ — 
   $ (4,586 ) 
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and federal and state tax credit carryforwards to reduce future taxable income and future taxes, respectively, is subject to restrictions 
attributable to equity transactions that have resulted in a change of ownership as defined in Internal Revenue Code Section 382. During the year 
ended December 31, 2006, the Company reduced deferred tax assets and the valuation allowance by $0.7 million based on an analysis of other 
deferred tax assets. As a result, the NOL amounts as of December 31, 2006 reflect the restriction on the Company’s ability to use its federal 
and state NOLs; however, the Company continues to evaluate potential changes to the Section 382 limitations associated with acquired federal 
and state NOLs. The utilization of these NOLs could be further restricted in future periods which could result in significant amounts of these 
NOLs expiring prior to benefiting the Company.  

As of December 31, 2006, the NOLs included $82.5 million related to the exercise of employee stock options and warrants. Any benefit 
resulting from the utilization of this portion of the NOLs will be credited directly to equity. As of December 31, 2006, the NOLs included 
$40.0 million of NOLs acquired in connection with business acquisitions that are currently available and additional NOLs of $118.9 million 
that could be utilized in future years. Any benefit resulting from the utilization of this portion of the NOLs will be credited to goodwill.  

The Company has provided a full valuation allowance for its deferred tax assets, including NOLs, because of uncertainty regarding their 
realization.  

14.   Commitments and Contingencies  

Leases  

The Company leases certain of its facilities and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases expiring in various years through 2014. 
The leases generally contain annual escalation provisions as well as renewal options. The total amount of base rent payments, net of allowances 
and incentives, is being charged to expense using the straight-line method over the terms of the leases. In addition to the base rent payments, 
EarthLink generally pays a monthly allocation of the buildings’ operating expenses. Total rent expense in the years ended December 31, 2004, 
2005 and 2006 for all operating leases, including operating expenses, was $17.8 million, $13.1 million and $14.5 million, respectively.  

Minimum lease commitments under non-cancelable leases, including estimated operating expenses, as of December 31, 2006 are as 
follows:  
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      Operating     
      Leases     

Year Ending December 31,          (in thousands)     
2007  

      $ 14,854 
      

2008  
      11,146 

      
2009  

      12,494 
      

2010  
      11,632 

      
2011  

      11,124 
      

Thereafter  
      27,705 

      
Total minimum lease payments, including estimated operating expenses  

      88,955 
      

Less aggregate contracted sublease income  
      (9,130 )  

   
   

      $ 79,825 
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During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company entered into a financing lease agreement with General Electric Capital 
Corporation to lease certain equipment necessary to build out its municipal wireless infrastructure in selected markets. Under the agreement, 
the Company can lease up to $75.0 million of assets. As of December 31, 2006, no equipment was leased pursuant to the financing agreement.  

Significant Agreements  

Access to the Internet for customers outside of the Company’s base of owned POPs is provided through capacity leased from a number of 
third-party providers such as Level 3 Communications, Inc. EarthLink is, in effect, buying this capacity in bulk at a discount, and providing 
access to EarthLink’s customer base. Certain amounts payable as of December 31, 2005 and 2006 under such agreements are included in 
accrued communications costs in Note 8, “Other Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities.” Minimum commitments under non-cancelable 
network service agreements and other purchase commitments are as follows as of December 31, 2006:  

   

Cost of revenues from these non-cancelable network service agreements totaled $132.6 million, $54.8 million and $50.8 million for the 
years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.  

HELIO  

As of December 31, 2006, the Company had committed to contribute a total of $19.5 million of cash to HELIO in 2007 pursuant to the 
Contribution and Formation Agreement, including $13.5 million that was contributed in February 2007 and $6.0 million to be contributed in 
August 2007.  

15.    Financial Instruments  

Fair Values of Financial Instruments  

The Company has estimated the fair value of its financial instruments as of December 31, 2005 and 2006 using available market 
information or other appropriate valuation methodologies. Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop the 
estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements are not necessarily 
indicative of the amounts the Company would realize in a current market exchange.  

The carrying amounts of the Company’s cash, cash equivalents, trade receivables and trade payables approximate their fair values because 
of their nature and respective durations. The Company’s short- and long-term investments in marketable securities consist of available-for-sale 
securities and are carried at market value, which is based on quoted market prices. The Company’s equity investments in publicly-held 
companies are stated at fair value, which is based on quoted market prices. The Company’s investments in privately-held companies are stated 
at cost, net of other-than-temporary impairments, because it is impracticable to estimate fair value. The estimated fair value of the Company’s 
long-term debt is based on quoted market prices. The estimated fair value of the Company’s purchased call options is based on the Black-
Scholes valuation model.  
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Year Ending December 31,                
2007  

   $ 55,621 
   

2008  
   37,106 

   
2009  

   5,102 
   

Total  
   $ 97,829 
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The following table presents the carrying value and fair value of the Company’s financial instruments as of December 31, 2005 and 2006:  

   

Concentrations of Credit Risk  

By their nature, all financial instruments involve risk, including credit risk for non-performance by counterparties. Financial instruments 
that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist principally of cash, cash equivalents, investments in marketable securities, trade 
receivables and investments in other companies. The Company’s cash investment policy limits investments to investment grade instruments. 
Accounts receivable are typically unsecured and are derived from revenues earned from customers primarily located in the U.S. Credit risk 
with respect to trade receivables is limited due to the large number of customers comprising the Company’s customer base. Additionally, the 
Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and maintains allowances for potential credit losses. Management regularly 
evaluates the recoverability of its investments in other companies based on the performance and the financial position of those companies as 
well as other evidence of market value.  

Market Risk  

The Company is exposed to market risk as it relates to changes in the market value of its equity investments. The Company invests in 
equity instruments of public and private companies for operational and strategic purposes. These securities are subject to significant 
fluctuations in fair market value due to volatility of the stock market and the industries in which the companies operate. These securities 
include an equity method investment classified as investment in equity affiliate in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and investments in 
privately-held securities, publicly-traded securities and convertible securities classified as investments in other companies in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets. As of December 31, 2005, the Company had $61.1 million of investments accounted for using the equity method of 
accounting, $0.4 million of fair value investments and $1.0 million of cost-method investments. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had 
$61.7 million of investments accounted for using the equity method of accounting, $48.3 million of fair value investments and $11.0 million of 
cost-method investments.  

Interest Rate Risk  

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk with respect to its investments in marketable securities. A change in prevailing interest rates 
may cause the fair value of the Company’s investments to fluctuate. For example, if the Company holds a security that was issued with a fixed 
interest rate at the then-  
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      As of December 31, 2005     As of December 31, 2006     
            Estimated           Estimated     
      Carrying     Fair     Carrying     Fair     
      Amount     Value     Amount     Value     
      (dollars in thousands)     

Cash and cash equivalents  
   $ 173,294 

   $ 173,294 
   $ 158,369 

   $ 158,369 
   

Investments in marketable securities-short-term  
   207,845 

   207,845 
   214,947 

   214,947 
   

Investments in marketable securities-long-term  
   40,980 

   40,980 
   21,460 

   21,460 
   

Investments in other companies for which it is:  
                           

Practicable to estimate fair value  
   417 

   417 
   48,325 

   48,325 
   

Not practicable to estimate fair value  
   1,000 

   — 
   11,000 

   — 
   

Long-term debt  
   — 

   — 
   258,750 

   277,253 
   

Call options  
   — 

   — 
   47,162 

   58,361 
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prevailing rate and the prevailing interest rate later rises, the fair value of its investment may decline. To minimize this risk, the Company has 
historically held many investments until maturity, and as a result, the Company receives interest and principal amounts pursuant to the 
underlying agreements. To further mitigate risk, the Company maintains its portfolio of investments in a variety of securities, including 
government agency notes, asset-backed debt securities (including auction rate debt securities), corporate notes and commercial paper, all of 
which bear a minimum short-term rating of A1/P1 or a minimum long-term rating of A/A2. As of December 31, 2005 and 2006, net unrealized 
losses in these investments were not material. In general, money market funds are not subject to market risk because the interest paid on such 
funds fluctuates with the prevailing interest rate. In addition, the Company invests in relatively short-term securities and, therefore, changes in 
short-term interest rates impact the amount of interest income included in the statements of operations.  

The Company is also exposed to interest rate risk with respect with respect to its long-term debt. A change in prevailing interest rates may 
cause the fair value of its long-term debt to fluctuate. The convertible senior notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 3.25% per annum until 
November 15, 2011, and 3.50% interest per annum thereafter.  

16.   Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information  

   

17.   Related Party Transactions  

HELIO  

Upon HELIO’s formation, EarthLink and HELIO entered into a services agreement for EarthLink to provide to HELIO facilities, 
accounting, tax, billing, procurement, risk management, payroll, human resource, employee benefit administration and other support services in 
exchange for management fees. However, as HELIO develops it business, the extent to which HELIO relies on EarthLink to provide these 
services has decreased. EarthLink believes that providing these services to HELIO enabled HELIO to more quickly and cost effectively launch 
its business than if it had purchased these services from third parties. The management fees were determined based on EarthLink’s costs to 
provide the services, and management believes such fees are reasonable. The total amount of fees that HELIO pays to EarthLink depends on 
the extent to which HELIO utilizes EarthLink’s services. Fees for services provided to HELIO are reflected as reductions to the associated 
expenses incurred by EarthLink to provide such services.  
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      Year Ended December 31,     
      2004     2005     2006     
      (in thousands)     

Significant non-cash transactions  
                     

Non-cash working capital adjustments to reduce goodwill  
   $ 5,300 

   $ 129 
   $ 1,187 

   
Additional cash flow information  

                     
Cash paid during the year for interest  

   $ 677 
   $ 383 

   $ 1,416 
   

Cash paid during the year for income taxes  
   1,778 

   5,507 
   850 

   
Purchase of businesses  

                     
Cash paid, net of cash acquired  

   $ — 
   $ 9,352 

   $ 108,663 
   

Issuance of common stock  
   — 

   — 
   20,194 

   
Net liabilities incurred and assumed  

   — 
   4,203 

   15,979 
   

Intangible assets acquired  
   $ — 

   $ 13,555 
   $ 144,836 
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During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, fees received for services provided to HELIO were $3.0 million and $2.3 million, 
respectively.  

EarthLink markets HELIO’s products and services, and during the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, EarthLink generated 
revenues of $0.3 million and $0.9 million, respectively, associated with marketing HELIO’s services.  

EarthLink purchases wireless Internet access devices and services from HELIO. During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, 
fees paid for products and services received from HELIO were $0.9 million and $0.9 million, respectively.  

As of December 31, 2005 and 2006, the Company had accounts receivable from HELIO of approximately $0.3 million and $0.8 million, 
respectively.  

Sprint Nextel  

Through its ownership interest in EarthLink, Sprint Nextel Corporation (“Sprint”) was considered a related party during the year ended 
December 31, 2004. Due to sales of EarthLink common stock during the year ended December 31, 2005, Sprint is no longer a related party. 
The Company has a marketing relationship with Embarq Corporation (“Embarq”), a spin-off of Sprint’s local communications business. 
During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company’s relationship with Embarq generated approximately 10% of EarthLink’s total gross 
organic subscriber additions.  

In connection with the Company’s wholesale and customer referral arrangements with Embarq, the Company received approximately 
$27.6 million during the year ended December 31 2004. The prices for services provided by the Company to Embarq were negotiated at arms-
length.  

EarthLink paid Embarq approximately $57.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2004 associated with network and voice 
services agreements. The prices paid for services purchased from Embarq were negotiated at arms-length.  

Officers and Directors  

As of December 31, 2001, the Company had made equity investments totaling $10.0 million in EVG, an affiliate of eCompanies, LLC 
(“eCompanies”). The carrying value of the investment in EVG as of December 31, 2005 and 2006 was zero. Sky Dayton, a member of 
EarthLink’s Board of Directors and HELIO’s Board of Directors, is a founding partner in EVG, a limited partnership formed to invest in 
domestic emerging Internet-related companies, and a founder and director of eCompanies. During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 
2006, the Company received $4.4 million and $0.4 million in cash distributions from EVG.  
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19.   Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)  

The following table sets forth certain unaudited quarterly consolidated financial data for the eight quarters in the period ended 
December 31, 2006. In the opinion of the Company’s management, this unaudited information has been prepared on the same basis as the 
audited consolidated financial statements and includes all material adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals and adjustments) 
necessary to present fairly the quarterly unaudited financial information. The operating results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of 
results for any future period.  

(1)    Because of the method used in calculating per share data, the quarterly net income (loss) per share amounts will not necessarily add to the net income per share computed for 
the year.  

Item 9.                         Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.  

None.  

Item 9A.                 Controls and Procedures.  

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures  

Pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), we carried out an evaluation, 
with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined under Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this report. 
Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are 
effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that are filed or submitted under the Exchange Act, is recorded, 
processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, and that 
such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as 
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  
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      Three Months Ended     
      Mar. 31,     June 30,     Sept. 30,     Dec. 31,     Mar. 31,     June 30,     Sept. 30,     Dec. 31,     
      2005     2005     2005     2005     2006     2006     2006     2006     
      (unaudited)     
      (in thousands, except per share data)     

Revenues  
   $ 334,740 

   $ 325,688 
   $ 316,996 

   $ 312,648 
   $ 309,712 

   $ 332,096 
   $ 331,309 

   $ 328,150 
   

Operating costs and expenses  
   297,940 

   277,835 
   273,968 

   275,833 
   289,983 

   304,864 
   311,683 

   319,095 
   

Income from operations  
   36,800 

   47,853 
   43,028 

   36,815 
   19,729 

   27,232 
   19,626 

   9,055 
   

Gain (loss) on investments in other 
companies, net  

   (915 )  3,352 
   — 

   440 
   — 

   352 
   25 

   — 
   

Net losses of equity affiliate  
   (257 )  (2,085 )  (4,592 )  (8,674 )  (7,591 )  (15,351 )  (26,174 )  (35,666 ) 

Interest income and other, net  
   2,875 

   2,936 
   3,400 

   4,280 
   4,216 

   4,334 
   3,272 

   2,814 
   

Income (loss) before income taxes  
   38,503 

   52,056 
   41,836 

   32,861 
   16,354 

   16,567 
   (3,251 )  (23,797 ) 

Provision (benefit) for income taxes  
   5,156 

   8,208 
   5,401 

   3,711 
   — 

   — 
   (69 )  955 

   
Net income (loss)  

   $ 33,347 
   $ 43,848 

   $ 36,435 
   $ 29,150 

   $ 16,354 
   $ 16,567 

   $ (3,182 )  $ (24,752 ) 

Basic net income (loss) per share (1)  
   $ 0.23 

   $ 0.32 
   $ 0.28 

   $ 0.22 
   $ 0.12 

   $ 0.12 
   $ (0.02 )  $ (0.20 ) 

Diluted net income (loss) per share (1)  
   $ 0.22 

   $ 0.31 
   $ 0.27 

   $ 0.22 
   $ 0.12 

   $ 0.12 
   $ (0.02 )  $ (0.20 ) 

Basic weighted average common shares 
outstanding  

   146,594 
   138,303 

   132,444 
   131,008 

   131,514 
   132,779 

   128,321 
   122,654 

   
Diluted weighted average common shares 

outstanding  
   149,425 

   140,867 
   134,709 

   134,687 
   133,489 

   134,897 
   128,321 

   122,654 
   



Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined 
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer 
and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the 
framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. 
Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework, our management concluded that our internal control 
over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2006.  

Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 has been 
audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.  

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the three months ended December 31, 2006 that have 
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.  

Item 9B.                Other Information.  

There was no information required to be disclosed in a report on Form 8-K during the three months ended December 31, 2006 covered by 
this Report on Form 10-K that was not reported.  

PART III  

Item 10.                  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.  

Information relating to the directors and nominees for directors of EarthLink will be set forth under the captions “Proposal 1—Election of 
Directors—Nominees Standing for Election” and “Proposal 1—Election of Directors—Directors Not Standing for Election” in our Proxy 
Statement for our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (“Proxy Statement”) or in a subsequent amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-
K. Information relating to our executive officers will be set forth under the caption “Executive Officers” in the above-referenced Proxy 
Statement or in a subsequent amendment to this Report on Form 10-K. Information regarding compliance by our directors and executive 
officers and owners of more than 10% of EarthLink’s common stock with the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, will be set forth under the caption “Executive Officers—Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934” in the above-referenced Proxy Statement or in a subsequent amendment to this Report. Information relating to 
EarthLink’s Code of Ethics for directors and officers will be set forth under the caption “Proposal 1—Election of Directors—Corporate 
Governance Matters—Codes of Ethics” in the above-referenced Proxy Statement or in a subsequent amendment to this Report on Form 10-K. 
Information relating to corporate governance will be set forth under the caption “Proposal 1—Election of Directors—Corporate Governance 
Matters” in the above-referenced Proxy Statement or in a subsequent amendment to this Report on Form 10-K. Such information is 
incorporated herein by reference.  
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Item 11.                  Executive Compensation.  

Information relating to compensation of our directors and executive officers will be set forth under the captions “Proposal 1-Election of 
Directors-Director Compensation” and “Executive Compensation” in our Proxy Statement referred to in Item 10 above or in a subsequent 
amendment to this Report. Such information is incorporated herein by reference, except for the information set forth under the caption 
“Executive Compensation—Leadership and Compensation Committee Report,” which specifically is not so incorporated by reference.  

Item 12.                  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.  

Information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management of our voting securities will be set forth under the 
caption “Beneficial Ownership of Common Stock” in our Proxy Statement referred to in Item 10 above or in a subsequent amendment to this 
Report on Form 10-K. Such information is incorporated herein by reference.  

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans  

The following table sets forth information as of December 31, 2006 concerning the shares of our common stock which are authorized for 
issuance under our equity compensation plans:  

(1)           This number includes shares available by plan as follows:  

   

The grants of 1.2 million restricted stock units and 28,989 phantom share units have been deducted from the number of securities available 
for future issuance.  

(2)           Pursuant to our merger agreement with New Edge Holding Company, we were required to grant options to purchase up to 657,000 shares 
of our Common Stock to New Edge employees. These options were “inducement grants” to new employees in connection with our 
acquisition of New Edge that qualified under the “inducement grant exception” to the shareholder approval requirement of NASD 
Marketplace Rule 4350(i)(1)(A). In connection with the closing, the Leadership and  
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                  Number of Securities     
                  Remaining Available for     
      Number of Securities     Weighted Average     Future Issuance Under     
      to Be Issued on Exercise     Exercise Price of     Equity Compensation Plans     
      of Outstanding Options     Outstanding Options     (Excluding Securities     

      and Warrants     and Warrants     Reflected in Column (a))     
Plan Category     (a)     (b)     (c)     
Equity Compensation Plans Approved 

By Stockholders  
      20,470,236 (2)  

      $ 11.27 
         10,781,370 (1)  

   
Equity Compensation Plans 

Not Approved By Stockholders  
      61,212 (3)  

      5.29 
         — 

      
Total  

      20,531,448 
         11.25 

         10,781,370 
      

      Securities     
      Available     
      for     
      Future     

Plan           Issuance     
EarthLink, Inc. 2006 Equity and Cash Incentive Plan  

   9,514,500 
   

EarthLink, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan  
   874,502 

   
EarthLink, Inc. Equity Plan for Non-Employee Directors  

   392,368 
   

   
   10,781,370 

   



Compensation Committee approved the EarthLink, Inc. Stock Option Plan for Inducement Awards Relating to the Acquisition of New 
Edge Holding Company. The Leadership and Compensation Committee then granted options to purchase 657,000 shares of our Common 
Stock to these New Edge employees in accordance with this plan. The options have an exercise price equal to the last reported price of our 
Common Stock on the closing date, which was $9.48, and vest 25 percent after 12 months and then 6.25 percent each quarter thereafter. 
The options have a term of 10 years. Approximately 250 New Edge employees received options under this plan.  

(3)           We do not currently have equity compensation plans that have not been approved by stockholders. However, included in the securities 
outstanding for equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders are 61,212 warrants granted during the year ended December 31, 
1997 to certain officers, consultants and investors. The warrants have terms of 10 years and have exercise prices ranging from $4.02 to 
$5.50 per share. All 61,212 warrants were exercisable as of December 31, 2006.  

Item 13.                  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.  

Information regarding certain relationships and transactions between EarthLink and certain of our affiliates is set forth under the caption 
“Executive Compensation—Leadership and Compensation Committee Interlocks” and “Executive Compensation—Certain Relationships and 
Related Transactions” in our Proxy Statement referred to in Item 10 above or in a subsequent amendment to this Report on Form 10-K. 
Information regarding director independence is set forth under the caption “Proposal I—Election of Directors—Director Independence” in our 
Proxy Statement referred to in Item 10 above or in a subsequent amendment to this Report on Form 10-K. Such information is incorporated 
herein by reference.  

Item 14.                  Principal Accounting Fees and Services.  

Information regarding our principal accounting fees and services is set forth under the caption “Proposal 2—Ratification of Appointment 
of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in our Proxy Statement referred to in Item 10 above or in a subsequent amendment to this 
Report on Form 10-K. Such information is incorporated herein by reference.  

PART IV  

Item 15.                  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.  

(a)           Documents filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K  

(1)   Financial Statements  

1.                  Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

2.                  Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2006  

3.                  Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006  

4.                  Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2004, 
2005 and 2006  

5.                  Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006  

6.                  Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
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(2)   Financial Statement Schedules  

The Financial Statement Schedule(s) described in Regulation S-X are omitted from this Annual Report on Form 10-K because they are 
either not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable.  

(3)   Listing of Exhibits  
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1.1—  Underwriting Agreement, dated November 13, 2006, by and among EarthLink, Inc., UBS 
Securities LLC and Banc of America Securities LLC (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 1.1 to EarthLink’s Report on Form 8-K dated November 13, 2006—File No. 001-
15605).  

2.1—  Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated December 12, 2005, by and among EarthLink, Inc., 
New Edge Holding Company and New Edge Merger Corporation (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 2.1 to EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated December 12, 2005—File 
No. 001-15605).  

3.1—  Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation of EarthLink, Inc. (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 3.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-3 of EarthLink, Inc.—File No. 333-
109691).  

3.2—  Amended and Restated Bylaws of EarthLink, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 
of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004—File 
No. 001-15605).  

4.1—  Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the 
Registration Statement on Form S-8 of EarthLink, Inc.—File No. 333-30024).  

4.2—  Rights Agreement, dated as of August 6, 2002, between EarthLink, Inc. and American Stock 
Transfer and Trust Co. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to EarthLink, Inc.’s Report 
on Form 8-K dated August 6, 2002—File No. 001-15605).  

4.3—  Indenture, dated November 17, 2006, by and between EarthLink, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank, 
N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K 
dated November 17, 2006—File No. 001-15605).  

10.1#—  EarthLink, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 
of EarthLink, Inc.’s Post Effective Amendment to Registration Statement on Form S-8—File 
No. 333-39456).  

10.2#—  EarthLink, Inc. Equity Plan for Non-Employee Directors, as amended (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 4.4 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Post Effective Amendment to Registration 
Statement on Form S-8—File No. 333-108065).  

10.3#—  EarthLink, Inc. 2006 Equity and Cash Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 to EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated May 5, 2006).  

10.4#—  EarthLink, Inc. Stock Option Plan for Inducement Awards Relating to the Acquisition of 
New Edge Holding Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to EarthLink, Inc.’s 
Report on Form 8-K dated April 14, 2006).  

10.5#—  EarthLink, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors and Certain Key Employees, as 
amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K 
dated February 17, 2006—File No. 001-15605).  

10.6#—  Summary of amendment to the EarthLink, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors 
and Certain Key Employees (incorporated by reference to EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on 
Form 8-K dated December 13, 2004—File No. 001-15605).  
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10.7#—  Summary of EarthLink, Inc. Second Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors and Certain 
Key Employees (incorporated by reference to EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated 
December 13, 2004—File No. 001-15605).  

10.8#—  1995 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 of EarthLink, Inc.’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-8—File No. 333-30024).  

10.9#—  MindSpring Enterprises, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan, as amended (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 4.5 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-8—File 
No. 333-30024).  

10.10#—  MindSpring Enterprises, Inc. 1995 Directors Stock Option Plan, as amended (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 4.6 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-8—File 
No. 333-30024).  

10.11#—  Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of 
EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2005—
File No. 001-15605).  

10.12#—  Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of 
EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2005—
File No. 001-15605).  

10.13#—  Form of Performance Accelerated Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.3 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period 
ended September 30, 2005—File No. 001-15605).  

10.14#—  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of 
EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2005—
File No. 001-15605).  

10.15#—  Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for Nonemployee Directors (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.5 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period 
ended September 30, 2005—File No. 001-15605).  

10.16#—  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Nonemployee Directors (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.6 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period 
ended September 30, 2005—File No. 001-15605).  

10.17#—  Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the EarthLink, Inc. 2006 Equity and Cash 
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on 
Form 8-K dated May 5, 2006).  

10.18#—  Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the EarthLink, Inc. 2006 Equity and 
Cash Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on 
Form 8-K dated May 5, 2006).  

10.19#—  Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for Directors under the EarthLink, Inc. 2006 
Equity and Cash Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to 
EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated May 5, 2006).  

10.20#—  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the EarthLink, Inc. 2006 Equity and Cash 
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on 
Form 8-K dated May 5, 2006).  

10.21#—  Form of Award Agreement under EarthLink, Inc. Stock Option Plan for Inducement Awards 
Relating to the Acquisition of New Edge Holding Company (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 4.4 to the Registration Statement of Form S-8—File No. 333-133870).  
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10.22—  Office Lease Agreement dated November 16, 1999, between Kingston Atlanta Partners, L.P. 
and MindSpring Enterprises, Inc., as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of 
EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2001—File 
No. 001-15605).  

10.23—  Fourth Amendment to Office Lease between California State Teacher’s Retirement System 
and EarthLink, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on 
Form 8-K dated December 30, 2004—File No. 001-15605).  

10.24—  Office Lease by and between The Mutual Life Insurance Company of New York, and 
EarthLink Network, Inc., dated September 20, 1996, as amended (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.2 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended 
March 31, 2001—File No. 001-15605).  

10.25—  Lease Agreement Between WHMNY Real Estate Limited Partnership and EarthLink, Inc. 
Dated September 19, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of EarthLink, Inc.’s 
Report on Form 8-K dated October 14, 2005—File No. 001-15605).  

10.26—  Contribution and Formation Agreement Among SK Telecom International, Inc., SK Telecom 
Co., Ltd. and EarthLink, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of EarthLink, Inc.’s 
Report on Form 8-K dated January 26, 2005—File No. 001-15605).  

10.27—  Form of Certificate of Incorporation of SK-EarthLink Management Corp. (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.3 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated January 26, 2005—
File No. 001-15605).  

10.28—  Form of Bylaws of SK-EarthLink Management Corp. (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.4 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated January 26, 2005—File No. 001-
15605).  

10.29—  Form of Stockholders Agreement of SK-EarthLink Management Corp. (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.5 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated January 26, 2005—
File No. 001-15605).  

10.30—  Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of HELIO LLC by and 
among EarthLink, Inc., SK Telecom USA Holdings, Inc., HELIO, Inc. and HELIO LLC, 
dated as of October 25, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of EarthLink, Inc.’s 
Report on Form 8-K dated November 29, 2005—File No. 001-15605).  

10.31—  Purchase Agreement, by and among EarthLink, Inc., Covad Communications Group, Inc. 
and Covad Communications Company dated as of March 15, 2006 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to EarthLink’s Report on Form 8-K dated March 15, 2006—File 
No. 001-15605).  

10.32—  Form of 12% Senior Secured Convertible Note due 2011 issued by Covad Communications 
Group, Inc. and Covad Communications Company (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.2 to EarthLink’s Report on Form 8-K dated March 15, 2006—File No. 001-
15605).  

10.33—  Form of Registration Rights Agreement, by and between EarthLink, Inc. and Covad 
Communications Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to EarthLink’s 
Report on Form 8-K dated March 15, 2006—File No. 001-15605).  

10.34—  Form of Security Agreement, by Covad Communications Group, Inc. and Covad 
Communications Company for the benefit of EarthLink, Inc. (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.4 to EarthLink’s Report on Form 8-K dated March 15, 2006—File No. 001-
15605).  
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10.35—  Confirmation of Convertible Bond Hedge Transaction, dated November 13, 2006, by and 
between EarthLink, Inc. and UBS AG, London Branch (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 to EarthLink’s Report on Form 8-K dated November 13, 2006—File No. 001-
15605).  

10.36—  Confirmation of Convertible Bond Hedge Transaction, dated November 13, 2006, by and 
between EarthLink, Inc. and Bank of America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.2 to EarthLink’s Report on Form 8-K dated November 13, 2006—File No. 001-
15605).  

10.37—  Confirmation of Issuer Warrant Transaction dated November 13, 2006, by and between 
EarthLink, Inc. and UBS AG, London Branch (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to 
EarthLink’s Report on Form 8-K dated November 13, 2006—File No. 001-15605).  

10.38—  Confirmation of Issuer Warrant Transaction, dated November 13, 2006, by and between 
EarthLink, Inc. and Bank of America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to 
EarthLink’s Report on Form 8-K dated November 13, 2006—File No. 001-15605).  

10.39—  Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated March 27, 2006, between 
EarthLink, Inc. and Charles G. Betty, President and Chief Executive Officer of 
EarthLink, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report of 
Form 8-K dated March 27, 2006—File No. 001-15605).  

10.40#—  EarthLink, Inc. Board of Director Compensation Plan, dated January 2007 (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated October 24, 2006—
File No. 001-15605).  

10.41#*  Change-in-Control Accelerated Vesting and Severance Plan, amended effective as of 
October 19, 2005 and amended and restated effective as of February 17, 2006.  

10.42#—  Executives’ Position Elimination and Severance Plan, amended and restated February 17, 
2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K 
dated February 17, 2006—File No. 001-15605).  

10.43#—  Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement for Thomas E. Wheeler, dated February 17, 2006 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated 
February 17, 2006—File No. 001-15605).  

10.44—  Summary of 2006 bonus payments and 2007 salaries for executive officers (incorporated by 
reference to EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated January 25, 2007—File No. 001-
15605).  

21.1*—  Subsidiaries of the Registrant.  
23.1*—  Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm.  
24.1*—  Power of Attorney (see the Power of Attorney in the signature page hereto).  
31.1*—  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 

and 15d-14, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  
31.2*—  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 

and 15d-14, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  



   

*                     Filed herewith.  

#                  Management compensatory plan or arrangement.  

(b)           Exhibits  

The response to this portion of Item 15 is submitted as a separate section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

(c)            Financial Statement Schedule  

The Financial Statement Schedule(s) described in Regulation S-X are omitted from this Annual Report on Form 10-K because they are 
either not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable.  
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32.1*—  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted 
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  

32.2*—  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted 
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  



SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

   

Each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Michael C. Lunsford and Kevin M. Dotts, the true and lawful 
attorneys-in-fact and agents of the undersigned, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for and in the name, place and stead of the 
undersigned, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Report, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other 
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and hereby grants to such attorneys-in-fact and agents full 
power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as 
the undersigned might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or their substitute or 
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf 
of registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  
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EARTHLINK, INC.  

   
By:  /s/ MICHAEL C. LUNSFORD  

      
Michael C. Lunsford,  

      
Interim Chief Executive Officer  

      
Date: March 1, 2007  

Date:  
   

March 1, 2007  
      

By:  
   

/s/ MICHAEL C. LUNSFORD  
                     

Michael C. Lunsford, Interim Chief  
                     

Executive Officer (principal executive officer)  

Date:  
   

March 1, 2007  
      

By:  
   

/s/ KEVIN M. DOTTS  
                     

Kevin M. Dotts, Chief Financial Officer  
                     

(principal financial and accounting officer)  

Date:  
   

March 1, 2007  
      

By:  
   

/s/ ROBERT M. KAVNER  
                     

Robert M. Kavner, Chairman of the Board  

Date:  
   

March 1, 2007  
      

By:  
   

/s/ SKY D. DAYTON  
                     

Sky D. Dayton, Director  

Date:  
   

March 1, 2007  
      

By:  
   

/s/ S. MARCE FULLER  
                     

S. Marce Fuller, Director  

Date:  
   

March 1, 2007  
      

By:  
   

/s/ WILLIAM H. HARRIS, JR.  
                     

William H. Harris, Jr., Director  

Date:  
   

March 1, 2007  
      

By:  
   

/s/ TERRELL B. JONES  
                     

Terrell B. Jones, Director  

Date:  
   

March 1, 2007  
      

By:  
   

/s/ LINWOOD A. LACY, JR.  
                     

Linwood A. Lacy, Jr., Director  

Date:  
   

March 1, 2007  
      

By:  
   

/s/ THOMAS E. WHEELER  
                     

Thomas E. Wheeler, Director  
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Exhibit           Description  
1.1—  

   
Underwriting Agreement, dated November 13, 2006, by and among EarthLink, Inc., UBS Securities LLC and Banc of 
America Securities LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to EarthLink’s Report on Form 8-K dated November 13, 
2006—File No. 001-15605).  

2.1—  
   

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated December 12, 2005, by and among EarthLink, Inc., New Edge Holding Company and 
New Edge Merger Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated 
December 12, 2005—File No. 001-15605).  

3.1—  
   

Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation of EarthLink, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registration 
Statement on Form S-3 of EarthLink, Inc.—File No. 333-109691).  

3.2—  
   

Amended and Restated Bylaws of EarthLink, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004—File No. 001-15605).  

4.1—  
   

Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the Registration Statement on Form S-8 of 
EarthLink, Inc.—File No. 333-30024).  

4.2—  
   

Rights Agreement, dated as of August 6, 2002, between EarthLink, Inc. and American Stock Transfer and Trust Co. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated August 6, 2002—File No. 001-
15605).  

4.3—  
   

Indenture, dated November 17, 2006, by and between EarthLink, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated November 17, 2006—File No. 001-15605).  

10.1#—  
   

EarthLink, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Post 
Effective Amendment to Registration Statement on Form S-8—File No. 333-39456).  

10.2#—  
   

EarthLink, Inc. Equity Plan for Non-Employee Directors, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 of 
EarthLink, Inc.’s Post Effective Amendment to Registration Statement on Form S-8—File No. 333-108065).  

10.3#—  
   

EarthLink, Inc. 2006 Equity and Cash Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to EarthLink, Inc.’s Report 
on Form 8-K dated May 5, 2006).  

10.4#—  
   

EarthLink, Inc. Stock Option Plan for Inducement Awards Relating to the Acquisition of New Edge Holding Company 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated April 14, 2006).  

10.5#—  
   

EarthLink, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors and Certain Key Employees, as amended (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.3 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated February 17, 2006—File No. 001-15605).  

10.6#—  
   

Summary of amendment to the EarthLink, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors and Certain Key Employees 
(incorporated by reference to EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated December 13, 2004—File No. 001-15605).  
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10.7#—  
   

Summary of EarthLink, Inc. Second Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors and Certain Key Employees (incorporated 
by reference to EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated December 13, 2004—File No. 001-15605).  

10.8#—  
   

1995 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-
8—File No. 333-30024).  

10.9#—  
   

MindSpring Enterprises, Inc. 1995 Stock Option Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 of 
EarthLink, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-8—File No. 333-30024).  

10.10#—  
   

MindSpring Enterprises, Inc. 1995 Directors Stock Option Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 of 
EarthLink, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-8—File No. 333-30024).  

10.11#—  
   

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on 
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2005—File No. 001-15605).  

10.12#—  
   

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on 
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2005—File No. 001-15605).  

10.13#—  
   

Form of Performance Accelerated Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of 
EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2005—File No. 001-15605).  

10.14#—  
   

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on 
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2005—File No. 001-15605).  

10.15#—  
   

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for Nonemployee Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of 
EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2005—File No. 001-15605).  

10.16#—  
   

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Nonemployee Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of 
EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2005—File No. 001-15605).  

10.17#—  
   

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the EarthLink, Inc. 2006 Equity and Cash Incentive Plan (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated May 5, 2006).  

10.18#—  
   

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the EarthLink, Inc. 2006 Equity and Cash Incentive Plan 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated May 5, 2006).  

10.19#—  
   

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for Directors under the EarthLink, Inc. 2006 Equity and Cash Incentive 
Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated May 5, 2006).  

10.20#—  
   

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the EarthLink, Inc. 2006 Equity and Cash Incentive Plan (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated May 5, 2006).  

10.21#—  
   

Form of Award Agreement under EarthLink, Inc. Stock Option Plan for Inducement Awards Relating to the Acquisition of 
New Edge Holding Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registration Statement of Form S-8—File 
No. 333-133870).  
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10.22—  
   

Office Lease Agreement dated November 16, 1999, between Kingston Atlanta Partners, L.P. and MindSpring 
Enterprises, Inc., as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 10-Q for the 
quarterly period ended March 31, 2001—File No. 001-15605).  

10.23—  
   

Fourth Amendment to Office Lease between California State Teacher’s Retirement System and EarthLink, Inc. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated December 30, 2004—File 
No. 001-15605).  

10.24—  
   

Office Lease by and between The Mutual Life Insurance Company of New York, and EarthLink Network, Inc., dated 
September 20, 1996, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 10-Q for 
the quarterly period ended March 31, 2001—File No. 001-15605).  

10.25—  
   

Lease Agreement Between WHMNY Real Estate Limited Partnership and EarthLink, Inc. Dated September 19, 2005 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated October 14, 2005—File No. 001-
15605).  

10.26—  
   

Contribution and Formation Agreement Among SK Telecom International, Inc., SK Telecom Co., Ltd. and EarthLink, Inc. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated January 26, 2005—File No. 001-
15605).  

10.27—  
   

Form of Certificate of Incorporation of SK-EarthLink Management Corp. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of 
EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated January 26, 2005—File No. 001-15605).  

10.28—  
   

Form of Bylaws of SK-EarthLink Management Corp. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of EarthLink, Inc.’s 
Report on Form 8-K dated January 26, 2005—File No. 001-15605).  

10.29—  
   

Form of Stockholders Agreement of SK-EarthLink Management Corp. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of 
EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated January 26, 2005—File No. 001-15605).  

10.30—  
   

Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of HELIO LLC by and among EarthLink, Inc., SK Telecom 
USA Holdings, Inc., HELIO, Inc. and HELIO LLC, dated as of October 25, 2005 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated November 29, 2005—File No. 001-15605).  

10.31—  
   

Purchase Agreement, by and among EarthLink, Inc., Covad Communications Group, Inc. and Covad Communications 
Company dated as of March 15, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to EarthLink’s Report on Form 8-K dated 
March 15, 2006—File No. 001-15605).  

10.32—  
   

Form of 12% Senior Secured Convertible Note due 2011 issued by Covad Communications Group, Inc. and Covad 
Communications Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to EarthLink’s Report on Form 8-K dated March 15, 
2006—File No. 001-15605).  

10.33—  
   

Form of Registration Rights Agreement, by and between EarthLink, Inc. and Covad Communications Group, Inc. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to EarthLink’s Report on Form 8-K dated March 15, 2006—File No. 001-
15605).  
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10.34—  
   

Form of Security Agreement, by Covad Communications Group, Inc. and Covad Communications Company for the 
benefit of EarthLink, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to EarthLink’s Report on Form 8-K dated March 15, 
2006—File No. 001-15605).  

10.35—  
   

Confirmation of Convertible Bond Hedge Transaction, dated November 13, 2006, by and between EarthLink, Inc. and 
UBS AG, London Branch (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to EarthLink’s Report on Form 8-K dated 
November 13, 2006—File No. 001-15605).  

10.36—  
   

Confirmation of Convertible Bond Hedge Transaction, dated November 13, 2006, by and between EarthLink, Inc. and 
Bank of America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to EarthLink’s Report on Form 8-K dated November 13, 
2006—File No. 001-15605).  

10.37—  
   

Confirmation of Issuer Warrant Transaction dated November 13, 2006, by and between EarthLink, Inc. and UBS AG, 
London Branch (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to EarthLink’s Report on Form 8-K dated November 13, 
2006—File No. 001-15605).  

10.38—  
   

Confirmation of Issuer Warrant Transaction, dated November 13, 2006, by and between EarthLink, Inc. and Bank of 
America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to EarthLink’s Report on Form 8-K dated November 13, 2006—
File No. 001-15605).  

10.39—  
   

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated March 27, 2006, between EarthLink, Inc. and Charles G. Betty, 
President and Chief Executive Officer of EarthLink, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of EarthLink, Inc.’s 
Report of Form 8-K dated March 27, 2006—File No. 001-15605).  

10.40#—  
   

EarthLink, Inc. Board of Director Compensation Plan, dated January 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of 
EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated October 24, 2006—File No. 001-15605).  

10.41#*  
   

Change-in-Control Accelerated Vesting and Severance Plan, amended effective as of October 19, 2005 and amended and 
restated effective as of February 17, 2006.  

10.42#—  
   

Executives’ Position Elimination and Severance Plan, amended and restated February 17, 2006 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.2 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated February 17, 2006—File No. 001-15605).  

10.43#—  
   

Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement for Thomas E. Wheeler, dated February 17, 2006 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.4 of EarthLink, Inc.’s Report on Form 8-K dated February 17, 2006—File No. 001-15605).  

10.44—  
   

Summary of 2006 bonus payments and 2007 salaries for executive officers (incorporated by reference to EarthLink, Inc.’s 
Report on Form 8-K dated January 25, 2007—File No. 001-15605).  

21.1*—  
   

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.  
23.1*—  

   
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm.  

24.1*—  
   

Power of Attorney (see the Power of Attorney in the signature page hereto).  
31.1*—  

   
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14, as adopted 
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  

31.2*—  
   

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14, as adopted pursuant 
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  



   

*                     Filed herewith.  

#                  Management compensatory plan or arrangement.  
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32.1*—  
   

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  

32.2*—  
   

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  



Exhibit 10.41 

EARTHLINK, INC.  

CHANGE-IN-CONTROL ACCELERATED VESTING  
AND SEVERANCE PLAN  

THIS EARTHLINK, INC. CHANGE-IN-CONTROL ACCELERATED VESTING AND SEVERANCE PLAN (this “Plan”) was 
adopted originally as of the 19  day of April, 2001 by EarthLink, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Employer”), and its Affiliates (as defined 
below) for the benefit of the eligible employees described herein and amended effective as of October 19, 2005 and amended and restated 
effective as of February 17, 2006.  

WITNESSETH:  

WHEREAS, the Employees (as defined below) are currently employed by Employer or an Affiliate (as defined below); and  

WHEREAS, Employer and its Affiliates desire to establish the Plan to provide certain security to the Employees in connection with 
their employment with the Employer or an Affiliate in the event of a Change in Control of the Employer (as defined below).  

NOW, THEREFORE, Employer and its Affiliates hereby establish the Plan as set forth below.  

1.                                        Definitions .  

For purposes of this Plan:  

(a)           “ Affiliate ” means any entity with whom the Employer would be considered a single employer under Code Sections 414(b) 
or 414(c).  

(b)           “ Beneficial Ownership ” means beneficial ownership as that term is used in Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Exchange 
Act.  

(c)           “ Beneficiary ” shall mean the person or entity an Employee designates, by written instrument delivered to the Employer or 
an Affiliate, to receive the benefits payable under this Plan after the Employee’s death.  If an Employee fails to designate a Beneficiary, or if no 
designated Beneficiary survives the Employee, such benefits shall be paid:  

(1)           to Employee’s surviving spouse; or  

(2)           if there is no surviving spouse, to Employee’s living descendants per stirpes; or  

(3)           if there is neither a surviving spouse nor living descendants, to Employee’s estate.  
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(d)           “ Benefit Category ” shall mean one of the following benefit categories:  (1) the Gold Benefit Category, (2) the Silver 
Benefit Category or (3) the Bronze Benefit Category.  For purposes of this Plan, the Gold Benefit Category shall include the Chief Executive 
Officer and President of the Employer; the Silver Benefit Category shall include the Chief Financial Officer of the Employer, the Chief 
Executive Officer, President and Chief Financial Officer of an Affiliate, and the Executive Vice Presidents of the Employer or any Affiliate; 
and the Bronze Benefit Category shall include the Vice Presidents and the Blue Zone Classified Jobs of the Employer or any Affiliate.  If the 
Employer designates additional Qualifying Positions, then the Employer also shall specify into which Benefit Category that Qualifying 
Position will be included.  The Employee’s Benefit Category shall be determined based on the Employee’s Qualifying Position at the time of 
the Change in Control of the Employer, and any Employee in more than one Qualifying Position shall be deemed for purposes of this Plan to 
be in only the Qualifying Position that would entitle such Employee to the greatest benefits under this Plan.  

(e)           “ Benefits Severance Period ” shall mean (1) for an Employee in the Gold Benefit Category, the one and one-half years, (2) 
for an Employee in the Silver Benefit Category, the one and one-half years, and (3) for an Employee in the Bronze Benefit Category, the one 
year, beginning in each case on the Employee’s Termination of Employment.  

(f)            “ Bonus Target ” shall mean the annual incentive bonus payable to the Employee at the greater of the rate in effect on (1) the 
date the Change in Control of the Employer occurs or (2) the date of the Employee’s Termination of Employment under the circumstances 
described in Section 2(a).  

(g)           “ Business Combination ” means a reorganization, merger or consolidation of the Employer.  
(h)           “ Cash Severance ” shall mean a lump-sum cash payment equal to (1) for an Employee in the Gold Benefit Category, one 

hundred and fifty percent (150%) of the sum of the Employee’s Salary and Bonus Target, (2) for an Employee in the Silver Benefit Category, 
one hundred and fifty percent (150%) of the sum of the Employee’s Salary and Bonus Target, and (3) for an Employee in the Bronze Benefit 
Category, one hundred percent (100%) of the sum of the Employee’s Salary and Bonus Target.  

(i)            “ Cause ” shall exist where the Employee’s Termination of Employment is by the Employer or an Affiliate upon (1) the 
Employee’s willful and continued failure to substantially perform his or her employment duties (other than any failure On Account of a 
Disability), after a written notice is delivered to the Employee by an executive officer of the Employer or Affiliate which employs Employee or 
the person in charge of the Human Resources function of such Employer or Affiliate (or if the Employee is the Chief Executive Officer or 
President of the Employer, the Chairman of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Employer) that specifically 
identifies the manner in which such executive officer or person in charge of the Human Resources function (or such Chairman) believes that 
the Employee has failed to substantially perform his or her employment duties and after a reasonable opportunity is afforded to the Employee 
to cure his or her performance failure(s), or (2) the Employee willfully engaging in misconduct that is materially injurious to the Employer or 
an Affiliate, monetarily or otherwise.  For purposes of this definition, no act, or failure to act, on the Employee’s part will be considered 
“willful” unless done, or omitted to be done, by the Employee not in good faith  
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and without reasonable belief that his or her act or omission was in the best interest of the Employer or an Affiliate.  Notwithstanding the 
above, the Employee will not be deemed to have had a Termination of Employment for Cause unless and until he or she has been given a copy 
of the notice of termination from an executive officer or person in charge of the Human Resources function (or in case of the Chief Executive 
Officer or President of the Employer, the Chairman of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors), after reasonable notice to the 
Employee and an opportunity for him or her, together with his or her counsel, to be heard before (1) the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Employer, or (2) if the Employee is an officer of the Employer or an Affiliate who has been elected or appointed by the Board of Directors of 
the Employer or Affiliate, as the case may be, to such office, the Board of Directors of the Employer or Affiliate, or (3) in all cases not 
involving an elected officer and where the Chief Executive Officer of the Employer otherwise directs or delegates this responsibility, the 
executive officer or person in charge of the Human Resources function or a direct report to such Chief Executive Officer to whom such 
responsibility was delegated, finding that in the good faith opinion of the Chief Executive Officer, or, in the case of an elected officer, finding 
that in the good faith opinion of two-thirds of the applicable Board of Directors, or, in all other cases, finding that in the good faith opinion of 
the applicable executive officer or person in charge of the Human Resources function or a direct report to the Chief Executive Officer to whom 
such responsibility was delegated, that the Employee committed the conduct set forth above in clauses (1) or (2) of this definition and 
specifying the particulars of that finding in detail.  

(j)            “ Change in Control ” of the Employer means the occurrence of any of the following events:  
(1)           The accumulation in any number of related or unrelated transactions by any Person of Beneficial Ownership of 

more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of the Employer’s Voting Stock; provided that for purposes of this subparagraph 
(1), a Change in Control will not be deemed to have occurred if the accumulation of more than fifty percent (50%) of the voting power of the 
Employer’s Voting Stock results from any acquisition of Voting Stock (a) directly from the Employer that is approved by the Incumbent 
Board, (b) by the Employer, (c) by any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Employer or any Subsidiary, or 
(d) by any Person pursuant to a Business Combination that complies with clauses (a) and (b) of subparagraph (2) below; or  

(2)           Consummation of a Business Combination, unless, immediately following that Business Combination, (a) all or 
substantially all of the Persons who were the beneficial owners of Voting Stock of the Employer immediately prior to that Business 
Combination beneficially own, directly or indirectly, at least fifty percent (50%) of the then outstanding shares of common stock and at least 
fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of the then outstanding Voting Stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors of 
the entity resulting from that Business Combination (including, without limitation, an entity that as a result of that transaction owns the 
Employer or all or substantially all of the Employer’s assets either directly or through one or more subsidiaries) in substantially the same 
proportions relative to each other as their ownership, immediately prior to that Business Combination, of the Voting Stock of the Employer, 
and (b) at least sixty percent (60%) of the members of the Board of Directors of the entity resulting from that Business Combination holding at 
least sixty percent (60%) of the voting power of such Board of Directors were members of the Incumbent Board at the time of the execution of 
the initial agreement or of the action of the Board of Directors  
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providing for that Business Combination and as a result of or in connection with such Business Combination, no Person has a right to dilute 
either of such percentages by appointing additional members to the Board of Directors or otherwise without election or other action by the 
stockholders; or  

(3)           A sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Employer, except pursuant to a Business 
Combination that complies with clauses (a) and (b) of subparagraph (2); or  

(4)           Approval by the shareholders of the Employer of a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Employer, except 
pursuant to a Business Combination that complies with clauses (a) and (b) of subparagraph 2; or  

(5)           The acquisition by any Person of the right to Control the Employer.  

(k)           “ Code ” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, amended, and any successor thereto.  
(l)            “ Control ” means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and 

policies of the Employer (a) through the ownership of securities which provide the holder with such power excluding voting rights attendant 
with such securities or (b) by contract.  

(m)          “ Employee ” shall mean a full-time common-law employee of Employer or an Affiliate who is employed by the Employer 
or an Affiliate and selected to participate in the Plan and who holds a Qualifying Position in the Employer or an Affiliate at all times from 
initial participation in the Plan through the Change in Control of the Employer.  All full-time common-law employees of the Employer or an 
Affiliate who were employed by the Employer or an Affiliate and who held a Qualifying Position in the Employer or an Affiliate on April 19, 
2001, and have been continuously employed since that time, participate in the Plan as of such effective date, subject to compliance with the 
other terms and conditions of the Plan.  All full-time common-law employees of the Employer or an Affiliate who were employed by the 
Employer or an Affiliate and who held a Qualifying Position in the Employer or an Affiliate beginning after April 19, 2001 (and are not 
described in the preceding sentence) shall participate in the Plan as of the date the Employer selects such individual for participation, subject to 
compliance with the other terms and conditions of the Plan.  A full-time common law employee only includes an individual who renders 
personal services to the Employer or an Affiliate and who, in accordance with the established payroll accounting and personnel policies of the 
Employer or an Affiliate, is characterized by the Employer or an Affiliate as a full-time common law employee.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, independent contractors are not employees for purposes of this Plan.  Moreover, notwithstanding the foregoing, an Employee does 
not include a person whom the Employer or an Affiliate has identified on its payroll, personnel or tax records as an independent contractor or a 
person who has acknowledged in writing to the Employer or an Affiliate that such person is an independent contractor whether or not a court, 
the Internal Revenue Service or any other entity ultimately determines such classification to be correct as a matter of law.  Exhibit A attached 
hereto shall contain the names of each Employee and his or her Qualifying Position and Benefit Category.  The Employer shall update 
Exhibit A as necessary to always reflect the Employees participating in the Plan.  Notwithstanding any other  
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provision of this Plan, an individual who is covered under and participates in the EarthLink, Inc. Accelerated Vesting and Compensation 
Continuation Plan shall not become an Employee and participate in this Plan unless and until he or she waives and releases any and all rights to 
benefits and coverage he or she has under the EarthLink, Inc. Accelerated Vesting and Compensation Continuation Plan.  

(n)           “ Exchange Act ” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, including amendments, or successor statutes of similar intent. 

(o)           “ For Good Reason ” means the Employee’s Termination of Employment is by the Employee other than on death or On 
Account of Disability and based on:  

(1)           With respect to an Employee in either the Gold or Silver Benefit Category, the assignment to the Employee of 
duties inconsistent with his or her position and status with the Employer or Affiliate as they existed immediately prior to a Change in Control 
of the Employer, or a substantial change in his or her title, offices or authority, or in the nature of his or her other responsibilities, as they 
existed immediately prior to a Change in Control of the Employer, except in connection with the Employee’s Termination of Employment for 
Cause or On Account of Disability or as a result of his or her death or by the Employee other than For Good Reason; or  

(2)           With respect to an Employee in the Bronze Benefit Category, the assignment to the Employee of duties requiring 
skills and experience that are inconsistent with the skills and experience required for his or her duties with the Employer immediately prior to a 
Change in Control of the Employer, except in connection with the Employee’s Termination of Employment for Cause or On Account of 
Disability or as a result of his or her death or by Employee other than for Good Reason; or  

(3)           A reduction by the Employer or an Affiliate in the Employee’s base salary as in effect on the date of this Plan or as 
his or her salary may be increased from time to time, without Employee’s written consent; or  

(4)           A reduction by the Employer or an Affiliate in the target cash bonus payable to the Employee under any incentive 
compensation plan(s), as it (or they) may be modified from time to time, in effect immediately prior to a Change in Control of the Employer, or 
a failure by the Employer or an Affiliate to continue the Employee as a participant in the incentive compensation plan(s) on at least the basis of 
the Employee’s participation immediately prior to a Change in Control of the Employer or to pay the Employee the amounts that he or she 
would be entitled to receive in accordance with such plan(s); or  

(5)           The Employer or an Affiliate requiring the Employee to be based more than thirty-five (35) miles from the location 
where he or she is based immediately prior to a Change in Control of the Employer, except for travel on the Employer’s or Affiliate’s business 
that is required or necessary to performance of his or her job and substantially consistent with his or her business travel obligations prior to the 
Change in Control of the Employer, or if the Employee consents to that relocation, the failure by the Employer or an Affiliate to pay (or 
reimburse the Employee for) all reasonable moving expenses incurred by the Employee or to indemnify the Employee against any loss realized 
in the sale of his or her principal residence in connection with that relocation; or  
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(6)           The failure by the Employer or an Affiliate to continue in effect any material retirement or compensation plan, 
performance share plan, stock option plan, life insurance plan, health and accident plan, disability plan or another benefit plan in which the 
Employee is participating immediately prior to a Change in Control of the Employer (or provide plans providing him or her with substantially 
similar benefits), the taking of any action by the Employer or an Affiliate that would adversely affect the Employee’s participation or materially 
reduce his or her benefits under any of those plans or deprive him or her of any material fringe benefit enjoyed by the Employee immediately 
prior to a Change in Control of the Employer, or the failure by the Employer or an Affiliate to provide the Employee with the number of paid 
vacation days to which he or she is then entitled in accordance with normal vacation practices in effect immediately prior to a Change in 
Control of the Employer; or  

(7)           The failure by the Employer or an Affiliate to obtain the assumption of the agreement to perform this Plan by any 
successor; or  

(8)           Any purported Termination of Employment that is not effected pursuant to a notice of termination satisfying the 
requirements of a Termination of Employment for “Cause.”  

(p)           “ Incumbent Board ” means a Board of Directors at least a majority of whom consist of individuals who either are (a) 
members of the Employer’s Board of Directors as of April 19, 2001 or (b) members who become members of the Employer’s Board of 
Directors subsequent to such date whose election, or nomination for election by the Employer’s shareholders, was approved by a vote of at 
least sixty percent (60%) of the directors then comprising the Incumbent Board (either by a specific vote or by approval of the proxy statement 
of the Employer in which that person is named as a nominee for director, without objection to that nomination), but excluding, for that purpose, 
any individual whose initial assumption of office occurs as a result of an actual or threatened election contest (within the meaning of Rule 14a-
11 of the Exchange Act) with respect to the election or removal of directors or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by 
or on behalf of a Person other than the Board of Directors.  

(q)           “ On Account of Disability ” shall exist where the Employee’s Termination of Employment results from the Employee being 
“Disabled” as a result of a “Disability” in accordance with the policies of the Employer or Affiliate that employed the Employee in effect at the 
time of the Change in Control of the Employer.  

(r)            “ Person ” means any individual, entity or group within the meaning of Section 13(D)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Exchange Act.  
(s)           “ Qualifying Position ” shall mean any one of the following:  (1) the Chief Executive Officer or President of the Employer; 

(2) the Chief Financial Officer of the Employer, the Chief Executive Officer, President or Chief Financial Officer of an Affiliate, or the 
Executive Vice Presidents of the Employer or any Affiliate; (3) the Vice Presidents or Blue Zone Classified Jobs of the Employer or any 
Affiliate and (4) any other position or job classification that the Employer hereafter designates as being a Qualifying Position.  

(t)            “ Retirement Plan ” shall mean any qualified or supplemental employee pension benefit plan, as defined in Section 3(2) of 
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of  
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1974, as amended (“ERISA”), currently made available by Employer or an Affiliate in which Employee participates.  
(u)           “ Salary ” shall mean the Employee’s base salary at the greater of the rate in effect on (1) the date the Change in Control of 

the Employer occurs or (2) the date of the Employee’s Termination of Employment under circumstances described in Section 2(a).  
(v)           “ Specified Employee ” means an employee (as that term is used in Code Section 416) who is (i) an officer of the Employer 

having annual compensation greater than $135,000 (with certain adjustments for inflation after 2005), (ii) a five-percent owner of the Employer 
or (iii) a one-percent owner of the Employer having annual compensation greater than $150,000.  For purposes of this Section, no more than 50 
employees (or, if lesser, the greater of three or 10 percent of the employees) shall be treated as officers.  Employees who (i) normally work less 
than 17 1/2 hours per week, (ii) normally work not more than 6 months during any year, (iii) have not attained age 21 or (iv) are included in a 
unit of employees covered by an agreement which the Secretary of Labor finds to be a collective bargaining agreement between employee 
representatives and the Employer (except as otherwise provided in regulations issued under the Code) shall be excluded for purposes of 
determining the number of officers.  For purposes of this Section, the term “five-percent owner”  (“one-percent owner”) means any person who 
owns more than five percent (one percent) of the outstanding stock of the Employer or stock possessing more than five percent (one percent) of 
the total combined voting power of all stock of the Employer.  For purposes of determining ownership, the attribution rules of Section 318 of 
the Code shall be applied by substituting “five percent” for “50 percent” in Section 318(a)(2) and the rules of Sections 414(b), 414(c) and 414
(m) of the Code shall not apply.  For purposes of this Section, the term “compensation” has the meaning given such term by Section 414(q)(4) 
of the Code.  The determination of whether the Employee is a Specified Employee will be based on a December 31 identification date such that 
if the Employee satisfies the above definition of Specified Employee at any time during the 12-month period ending on December 31, he will 
be treated as a Specified Employee if he has a Termination of Employment during the 12-month period beginning on the first day of the fourth 
month following the identification date.  This definition is intended to comply with the specified employee rules of Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of 
the Code and shall be interpreted accordingly.  

(w)          “ Termination of Employment ” means the termination of the Employee’s employment with the Employer and all Affiliates; 
provided, however, that the Employee will not be considered as having had a Termination of Employment if (i) the Employee continues to 
provide services to the Employer or any Affiliate as an employee (as that term is used in Code Section 409A) at an annual rate that is at least 
equal to 20 percent of the services rendered, on average, during the immediately preceding three full calendar years of employment (or, if 
employed less than three years, such lesser period) and the annual remuneration for such services is at least equal to 20 percent of the average 
annual remuneration earned during the final three full calendar years of employment (or if less, such lesser period), (ii) the Employee continues 
to provide services to the Employer or any Affiliate in a capacity other than as an employee (as that term is used in Code Section 409A) and 
such services are provided at an annual rate that is 50 percent or more of the services rendered, on average, during the immediately preceding 
three full calendar years of employment (or, if employed less than three years, such lesser period) and the annual remuneration for such 
services is 50 percent or more of the annual remuneration earned during the final three full calendar years of employment (or, if less, such 
lesser period) or (iii) the  
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Employee is on military leave, sick leave or other bona fide leave of absence (such as temporary employment by the government) so long as 
the period of such leave does not exceed six months, or if longer, so long as the individual’s right to reemployment with the Employer or any 
Affiliate is provided either by statute or by contract.  If the period of leave (i) ends or (ii) exceeds six months and the Employee’s right to 
reemployment is not provided either by statute or by contract, the Employee’s Termination of Employment will be deemed to occur on the first 
date immediately following such time if not reemployed by the Employer or any Affiliate before such time and eligibility for payments and 
benefits hereunder will be determined as of that time.  For purposes of this Section, annual rate of providing services shall be determined based 
upon the measurement used to determine the Employee’s base compensation.  

(x)            “ Voting Stock ” means the then outstanding securities of an entity entitled to vote generally in the election of members of 
that entity’s Board of Directors.  

(y)           “ Welfare Plan ” shall mean any health and dental plan, disability plan, survivor income plan, life insurance plan or similar 
plan, as defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA, currently made available by the Employer or an Affiliate in which an Employee participates.  
2.                                        Benefits Upon Termination of Employment .  

(a)           The following provisions will apply if and only if, at any time within eighteen (18) months after a Change in Control of the 
Employer occurs, (i) the Employee has a Termination of Employment by the Employer or an Affiliate for any reason other than Cause, On 
Account of Disability or death, or (ii) the Employee voluntarily has a Termination of Employment for Good Reason:  

(1)           Employer or an Affiliate shall pay Employee Cash Severance in one lump sum payment, subject to all applicable 
withholdings and employment taxes and subject to reductions pursuant to Sections 4 and 16 of this Plan, as soon as practical after the 
Employee’s Termination of Employment.  

(2)           The Employer or an Affiliate shall pay any and all amounts with respect to COBRA continuation coverage that the 
Employee elects under any Welfare Plan of the Employer or an Affiliate for him or her or his or her spouse or dependents through the Benefits 
Severance Period, including all attendant administrative fees and expenses, however described or denominated.  All such payments shall be 
made in such manner as to allow Employee to pay his or her COBRA coverage on a timely basis; provided that the Company will make all 
such payments as soon as practical and no later than the 15  day of the third month of the calendar year following the calendar year of the 
Employee’s Termination of Employment.  

(3)           The Employee or his Beneficiary, or any other person entitled to receive benefits with respect to the Employee 
under any Retirement Plan, Welfare Plan, or other plan or program maintained by Employer or any Affiliate in which Employee participates at 
the date of the Employee’s Termination of Employment, shall receive any and all benefits accrued under any such Retirement Plan, Welfare 
Plan or other plan or program to the date of the Employee’s Termination of Employment, the amount, form and time of payment of such 
benefits to be determined by the terms of such Retirement Plan, Welfare Plan, or other plan or program.  
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(4)           Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, however, if the Employee is a Specified Employee, and if the 
benefits and payments under this Plan are not otherwise exempt from Code Section 409A, then to the extent necessary to comply with Section 
409A no payments may be made hereunder (including, if necessary, any COBRA payments or reimbursements) before the date which is six 
months after the Specified Employee’s Termination of Employment within the meaning of Section 409A or, if earlier, the date of death of the 
Specified Employee.  Because the amounts paid pursuant to this Plan should be paid by the 15  day of the third month following the end of 
the calendar year in which Employees have a termination of employment, all amounts should be exempt from Section 409A.  These Specified 
Employee six-month delay provisions will only be applicable if it is subsequently determined that the amounts paid pursuant to this Plan are 
not exempt from Section 409A.  

(b)           If the Employee has a Termination of Employment by the Employer or an Affiliate or by the Employee other than under the 
circumstances set forth in Section 2(a), including without limitation on the death or On Account of Disability of the Employee, by the 
Employer or an Affiliate for Cause or by the Employee other than for Good Reason, then the Employee’s compensation shall be paid through 
the date of his or her Termination of Employment, and the Employer and its Affiliates shall have no further obligation with respect to the 
Employee under this Plan.  Such Termination of Employment shall have no effect upon an Employee’s other rights, including but not limited to 
rights under any Retirement Plan, Welfare Plan or other plan or program in which Employee participates, the amount, form and time of 
payment of such benefits to be determined by the terms of such Retirement Plan, Welfare Plan, or other plan or program.  

(c)           This Section 2 shall have no effect, and Employer shall have no obligations hereunder with respect to, an Employee who has 
a Termination of Employment for any reason at any time other than within eighteen (18) months after a Change in Control of the Employer 
occurs under the circumstances described in Section 2(a) above.  

(d)           The Employer or an Affiliate that employs the Employee on his or her last day of employment will fund the payments to be 
made under the Plan to such Employee from its general assets.  

(e)           Exhibit B attached hereto provides a summary of the benefits to which an Employee will be entitled based on the Benefit 
Category for which such Employee qualifies.  In the event of any conflict between such summary and the terms of Section 2 of the Plan, the 
provisions of Section 2 of the Plan shall govern.  
3.                                        Accelerated Vesting of Options and Restricted Stock Units .  

(a)           (i)            In the event no provision is made for the continuance, assumption or substitution by the Employer or its successor 
in connection with a Change in Control of the Employer of outstanding stock options the Employer or an Affiliate granted before the Change in 
Control of the Employer, then contemporaneously with the Change in Control of the Employer, all outstanding stock options that the Employer 
or any Affiliate previously granted to an Employee in either the Gold or Silver Benefit Category shall be exercisable in full, if not then already 
fully exercisable, in accordance with the terms of such options and the applicable plans pursuant to which they were granted, notwithstanding 
any provisions in the stock options or  
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plans to the contrary regarding the exercisability of such options.  If provision is made for the continuance, assumption or substitution by the 
Employer or its successor in connection with the Change in Control of the Employer of outstanding stock options the Employer or an Affiliate 
granted before the Change in Control of the Employer, then on the Employee’s Termination of Employment on or after a Change in Control of 
the Employer occurs, all outstanding stock options that the Employer or any Affiliate previously granted to an Employee in either the Gold or 
Silver Benefit Category shall be exercisable in full, if not then already fully exercisable, in accordance with the terms of such options and the 
applicable plans pursuant to which they were granted, notwithstanding any provisions in the stock options or plans to the contrary regarding the 
exercisability of such stock options.  

(ii)           In the event no provision is made for the continuance, assumption or substitution by the Employer or its successor 
in connection with a Change in Control of the Employer of outstanding stock options the Employer or an Affiliate granted before the Change in 
Control of the Employer, then contemporaneously with the Change in Control of the Employer, all outstanding stock options that the Employer 
or any Affiliate previously granted to an Employee in the Bronze Benefit Category shall be exercisable, in accordance with the terms of such 
options and the applicable plans pursuant to which they were granted, notwithstanding any provisions in the stock options or plans to the 
contrary regarding the exercisability (and only exercisability) of such options, on at least the basis they would have been exercisable had 
Employee remained employed with the Employer or any Affiliate for twenty-four (24) months after the Change in Control of the Employer 
occurs, if not then already exercisable to such extent.  If provision is made for the continuance, assumption or substitution by the Employer or 
its successor in connection with the Change in Control of the Employer of outstanding stock options the Employer or an Affiliate granted 
before the Change in Control of the Employer, then on the Employee’s Termination of Employment on or after a Change in Control occurs, all 
outstanding stock options that the Employer or any Affiliate previously granted to an Employee in the Bronze Benefit Category shall be 
exercisable, in accordance with the terms of such options and the applicable plans pursuant to which they were granted, notwithstanding any 
provisions in the stock options or plans to the contrary regarding the exercisability (and only exercisability) of such stock options, on at least 
the basis they would have been exercisable had Employee remained employed with the Employer or an Affiliate for twenty-four (24) months 
after the Change in Control of the Employer occurs, if not then already exercisable to such extent.  

(iii)          It is deemed under this Plan that the Employer or an Affiliate consistent with the plans and agreements governing 
the applicable stock options accelerated the exercisability of such outstanding stock options at such time and on such basis.  Notwithstanding 
any other provision of this Plan, this Section 3 only impacts the exercisability and vesting of the applicable stock option; it is not intended to 
nor does it extend the terms or expiration dates of the applicable stock options.  

(iv)          Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, for purposes of this Section 3 only, an Employee in the Bronze Benefit 
Category who previously participated in the EarthLink, Inc. Accelerated Vesting and Compensation Continuation Plan and who elected to 
participate in this Plan and waive any and all rights to benefits he or she had under the EarthLink, Inc. Accelerated Vesting and Compensation 
Continuation Plan shall be treated for purposes of this Section 3 as if he or she were in the Silver Benefit Category solely for purposes of the 
accelerated vesting of stock options.  Exhibit C attached hereto shall show the names of each employee who is included  
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in the foregoing position and who is entitled to the treatment described in this Section 3(a)(iv) if they become an Employee under this Plan.  
(v)           Exhibit B attached hereto provides a summary of the accelerated vesting to which an Employee will be entitled 

based on the Benefit Category for which such Employee qualifies.  In the event of any conflict between such summary and the terms of Section 
3 of the Plan, the provisions of Section 3 of the Plan shall govern.  

(b)           (i)            In the event no provision is made for the continuance, assumption or substitution by the Employer or its successor 
in connection with a Change in Control of the Employer of outstanding restricted stock units the Employer or an Affiliate granted before the 
Change in Control of the Employer, then contemporaneously with the Change in Control of the Employer, all outstanding restricted stock units 
that the Employer or any Affiliate previously granted to an Employee in either the Gold or Silver Benefit Category shall be earned and payable 
in full, if not then already fully earned and payable, in accordance with the terms of such restricted stock units and the applicable plans pursuant 
to which they were granted, notwithstanding any provisions in the restricted stock units or plans to the contrary regarding their becoming fully 
earned and payable; provided that a restricted stock unit that contains performance criteria shall not become fully earned and payable if the 
date, if any, for attainment of the performance criteria on which such restricted stock unit would have become fully earned and payable has 
passed as of the date of the Change of Control.  If provision is made for the continuance, assumption or substitution by the Employer or its 
successor in connection with the Change in Control of the Employer of outstanding restricted stock units the Employer or an Affiliate granted 
before the Change in Control of the Employer, then on the Employee’s Termination of Employment on or after a Change in Control of the 
Employer occurs, all outstanding restricted stock units that the Employer or any Affiliate previously granted to an Employee in either the Gold 
or Silver Benefit Category shall be earned and payable in full, if not then already fully earned and payable, in accordance with the terms of 
such restricted stock units and the applicable plans pursuant to which they were granted, notwithstanding any provisions in the restricted stock 
units or plans to the contrary regarding their becoming fully earned and payable; provided that a restricted stock unit that contains performance 
criteria shall not become fully earned and payable if the date, if any, for attainment of the performance criteria on which such restricted stock 
unit would have become fully earned and payable has passed as of the date of the Change of Control.  

(ii)           In the event no provision is made for the continuance, assumption or substitution by the Employer or its successor 
in connection with a Change in Control of the Employer of outstanding restricted stock units the Employer or an Affiliate granted before the 
Change in Control of the Employer, then contemporaneously with the Change in Control of the Employer, all outstanding restricted stock units 
that the Employer or any Affiliate previously granted to an Employee in the Bronze Benefit Category shall be earned and payable, in 
accordance with the terms of such restricted stock units and the applicable plans pursuant to which they were granted, notwithstanding any 
provisions in the restricted stock units or plans to the contrary regarding their becoming fully earned and payable on at least the basis they 
would have been earned and payable had Employee remained employed with the Employer or any Affiliate for twenty-four (24) months after 
the Change in Control of the Employer occurs, if not then already earned and payable to such extent; provided that a restricted stock unit that 
contains performance criteria shall not become fully earned and payable if the date, if any, for attainment  

11  
 

 



of the performance criteria on which such restricted stock unit would have become fully earned and payable has passed as of the date of the 
Change of Control or occurs more than twenty-four (24) months after the date of the Change in Control.  If provision is made for the 
continuance, assumption or substitution by the Employer or its successor in connection with the Change in Control of the Employer of 
outstanding restricted stock units the Employer or an Affiliate granted before the Change in Control of the Employer, then on the Employee’s 
Termination of Employment on or after a Change in Control occurs, all outstanding restricted stock units that the Employer or any Affiliate 
previously granted to an Employee in the Bronze Benefit Category shall be earned and payable, in accordance with the terms of such restricted 
stock units and the applicable plans pursuant to which they were granted, notwithstanding any provisions in the restricted stock units or plans to 
the contrary regarding their becoming earned and payable, on at least the basis they would have been earned and payable had Employee 
remained employed with the Employer or an Affiliate for twenty-four (24) months after the Change in Control of the Employer occurs, if not 
then already earned and payable to such extent; provided that a restricted stock unit that contains performance criteria shall not become fully 
earned and payable if the date, if any, for attainment of the performance criteria on which such restricted stock unit would have become fully 
earned and payable has passed as of the date of the Change of Control or occurs more than twenty-four (24) months after the date of the 
Change in Control.  

(iii)          It is deemed under this Plan that the Employer or an Affiliate consistent with the plans and agreements governing 
the applicable restricted stock units accelerated such restricted stock units becoming earned and payable at such time and on such basis.  
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, this Section 3 only impacts the vesting of the applicable restricted stock units; it is not 
intended to nor does it extend the terms or expiration dates of the applicable restricted stock units.  

(iv)          Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, for purposes of this Section 3 only, an Employee in the Bronze Benefit 
Category who previously participated in the EarthLink, Inc. Accelerated Vesting and Compensation Continuation Plan and who elected to 
participate in this Plan and waive any and all rights to benefits he or she had under the EarthLink, Inc. Accelerated Vesting and Compensation 
Continuation Plan shall be treated for purposes of this Section 3 as if he or she were in the Silver Benefit Category solely for purposes of the 
accelerated vesting of restricted stock units.  Exhibit C attached hereto shall show the names of each employee who is included in the foregoing 
position and who is entitled to the treatment described in this Section 3(b)(iv) if they become an Employee under this Plan.  

(v)           Exhibit B attached hereto provides a summary of the accelerated vesting to which an Employee will be entitled 
based on the Benefit Category for which such Employee qualifies.  In the event of any conflict between such summary and the terms of Section 
3 of the Plan, the provisions of Section 3 of the Plan shall govern.  

4.                                        Release and Setoff .  

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, payments shall be made under the Plan to any Employee or his Beneficiary only 
after the Employee executes a release and waiver containing such terms and conditions as the Employer and its Affiliates may reasonably 
require, including non-solicitation, non-competition and confidentiality provisions.  Each Employee’s right to participate under this Plan and to 
receive benefits hereunder is contingent upon the  

12  
 

 



Employee’s agreement to this Section 4 and his or her continued compliance with any agreements entered into hereunder.  The Employer and 
its Affiliates also may reduce and set-off any payments to or with respect to an Employee pursuant to this Plan by any amount the Employee or 
his Beneficiary may owe to Employer or any Affiliate.  

5.                                        Death .  

If an Employee has a Termination of Employment under circumstances described in Section 2(a), then upon the Employee’s 
subsequent death, all unpaid amounts payable to the Employee under Section 2(a)(1) or (2) shall be paid to his Beneficiary.  Any death benefits 
owing under Section 2(a)(3) shall be paid as specified by the applicable Retirement Plan, Welfare Plan or other plan or program.  

6.             Claim for Benefits .  

(a)           Employees do not need to complete a claim for benefits to obtain benefits under the Plan.  However, Employees who dispute 
the amount of, or their entitlement to, Plan benefits must file a claim with the Employer to obtain Plan benefits.  Any claim by an Employee 
who disputes the amount of, or his or her entitlement to, Plan benefits must be filed in writing within thirty (30) days of the event that the 
Employee is asserting constitutes an entitlement to such Plan benefits.  Failure by the Employee to submit such claim within the thirty (30)-day 
period shall bar the Employee from any claim for benefits under the Plan as a result of the occurrence of such event.  

(b)           Claims for benefits shall be filed in writing with the Employer.  Written notice of the decision on such claim shall be 
furnished to the claimant within ninety (90) days of receipt of such claim unless special circumstances require an extension of time for 
processing the claim.  If the Employer needs an extension of time to process a claim, written notice will be delivered to the claimant before the 
end of the initial ninety (90) day period.  The notice of extension will include a statement of the special circumstances requiring an extension of 
time and the date by which the Employer expects to render its final decision.  However, that extension may not exceed ninety (90) days after 
the end of the initial period.  If the Employer rejects a claim for failure to furnish necessary material or information, the written notice to the 
claimant will explain what more is needed and why, and will tell the claimant that the claimant may refile a proper claim.  

(c)           The Employer shall provide payment for the claim only if the Employer determines, in its sole discretion, that the claimant is 
entitled to the claimed benefit.  

(d)           If any part of a claim for benefits under this Plan is denied, the Employer will provide the claimant with a written notice 
stating (i) the specific reason or reasons for the denial; (ii) the specific reference to pertinent Plan provisions on which the denial was based; 
(iii) a description of any additional material or information necessary for the claimant to perfect the claim and an explanation of why such 
material or information is necessary; and (iv) appropriate information as to the steps to be taken if the claimant wishes to submit a claim for 
review, including a statement of the claimant’s right to bring a civil action under Section 502(a) of ERISA following an adverse benefit 
determination on review.  
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(e)           The full value of any payment made according to the Plan satisfies that much of the claim and all related claims under the 
Plan.  

(f)            If a claim is denied, the claimant may appeal the denial by delivering a written notice to the Employer specifying the reasons 
for the appeal.  That notice must be delivered within sixty (60) days after receiving the notice of denial.  The claimant may submit written 
comments, documents, records and other information relating to the claimant’s claim for benefits.  The claimant will be provided, upon request 
and free of charge, reasonable access to, and copies of, all documents, records and other information relevant to the claimant’s claim for 
benefits.  The Employer’s review will take into account all such written comments, documents, records and other information the claimant 
submits relating to the claim, without regard to whether such information was submitted or considered initially.  

(g)           The Employer will advise the claimant in writing of the final determination after review.  The decision on review will be 
written in a manner calculated to be understood by the claimant, and it will include specific reasons for the decision and specific references to 
the pertinent provisions of the Plan or related documents on which the decision is based.  Such written notification also will include a statement 
that the claimant is entitled to receive, upon request and free of charge, reasonable access to, and copies of, all documents, records and other 
information relevant to the claimant’s claim for benefits, the claimant’s right to obtain the information about such procedures and a statement 
of the claimant’s right to bring a civil action under Section 502(a) of ERISA following a denial on review.  The written decision will be 
rendered within sixty (60) days after the request for review is received, unless special circumstances require an extension of time for 
processing.  If an extension is necessary the Employer will furnish written notice of the extension to the claimant before the end of the 60-day 
period and indicate the special circumstances requiring the extension of time.  The extension notice will indicate the date by which the 
Employer expects to render a decision.  The decision will then be rendered as soon as possible, but no later than one hundred twenty (120) days 
after receipt of the request for review.  

(h)           If the Employer holds regularly scheduled meetings at least quarterly, the time periods for rendering the written decision 
described in the preceding paragraph shall not apply and the Employer shall instead make a benefit determination no later than the date of the 
meeting of the Employer that immediately follows the Plan’s receipt of a request for review, unless the request for review is filed within 30 
days preceding the date of such meeting.  In such case, a benefit determination may be made by no later than the date of the second meeting 
following the Plan’s receipt of the request for review.  If special circumstances require a further extension of time for processing, a benefit 
determination will be rendered no later than the third meeting of the Employer following the Plan’s receipt of the request for review.  If such an 
extension of time for review is required because of special circumstances, the Employer will provide the claimant with written notice of the 
extension, describing the special circumstances and the date as of which the benefit determination will be made, prior to the commencement of 
the extension.  The Employer will notify the claimant of the benefit determination as soon as possible, but not later than five days after the 
benefit determination is made.  

(i)            In no event shall an Employee or other claimant be entitled to challenge a decision of the Employer in court or in any other 
administrative proceeding unless and until these claim review and appeal procedures have been complied with and exhausted.   The claimant  
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shall have ninety (90) days from the date of receipt of the Employer’s decision on review in which to file suit regarding a claim for benefits 
under the Plan.  If suit is not filed within such 90-day period, it shall be forever barred.  The decisions made hereunder shall be final and 
binding on Employees and any other party.  
7.                                        Administration of the Plan .  

The Employer through its Board of Directors shall interpret and administer the Plan.  The Employer shall establish rules for the 
administration of the Plan.  The Employer shall have the discretionary authority to construe the terms of the Plan and shall determine all 
questions arising in its administration, interpretation and application, including those concerning eligibility for benefits.  All determinations of 
the Employer shall be final and binding on all Employees and Beneficiaries.  The Employer may appoint a committee or an agent or other 
representative to act on its behalf and may delegate to such committee or agent or representative any of its powers hereunder.  Any action that 
such committee or agent or representative takes shall be considered to be the action of the Employer, when the committee or agent or 
representative is acting within the scope of the authority that the Employer delegated to it, and the Employer shall be responsible for all such 
actions.  If the Employer appoints a committee or other agent or representative to act on its behalf, the Employer will pay all the expenses 
relating to such administration, and, as permitted by law, the Employer will indemnify and save each committee member or agent or 
representative harmless against expenses, claims, and liabilities arising out of being such committee member or agent or representative.  The 
Employer also may employ such accountants, counsel, specialists and other advisory clerical persons as it deems necessary or desirable in 
connection with administration of the Plan.  The Employer is entitled to rely conclusively on any opinions from its accountants or counsel.  The 
Employer will keep all books of account, records and other data necessary for proper administration of the Plan.  

8.                                        Employee Assignment .  

No interest of any Employee, his or her spouse or any Beneficiary under this Plan, or any right to receive any payment or distribution 
hereunder, shall be subject in any manner to sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, attachment, garnishment, or other alienation or encumbrance of 
any kind, nor may such interest or right to receive a payment or distribution be taken, voluntarily or involuntarily, for the satisfaction of the 
obligations or debts of, or other claims against, the Employee or his or her spouse or Beneficiary, including claims for alimony, support, 
separate maintenance, and claims in bankruptcy proceedings.  

9.                                        Benefits Unfunded .  

All rights under this Plan of the Employees and their spouses and Beneficiaries, shall at all times be entirely unfunded, and no 
provision shall at any time be made with respect to segregating any assets of Employer or any Affiliate for payment of any amounts due 
hereunder.  The Employees, their spouses and Beneficiaries shall have only the rights, if any, of general unsecured creditors of Employer and 
its Affiliates.  
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10.                                  Applicable Law .  

This Plan shall be construed and interpreted pursuant to the laws of the State of Delaware (other than its choice-of-law rules), except 
to the extent those laws are superceded by the laws of the United States of America.  

11.                                  No Employment Contract .  

Nothing contained in this Plan shall be construed to be an employment contract between an Employee and the Employer or an 
Affiliate.  The creation, continuance or change of this Plan or any payment hereunder does not give any person a non-statutory legal or 
equitable right against the Employer or an Affiliate to remain employed by the Employer or an Affiliate.  This Plan does not modify the terms 
of any Employee’s employment.  

12.                                  Severability .  

In the event any provision of this Plan is held illegal or invalid, the remaining provisions of this Plan shall not be affected thereby.  

13.                                  Successors .  

The Plan shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of Employer, its Affiliates, the Employees and their respective heirs, 
representatives and successors.  

14.                                  Amendment and Termination .  

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, Employer shall have the right (i) to declare that an individual who previously was 
selected to participate as an Employee in the Plan shall no longer participate as an Employee in the Plan, (ii) to amend the Plan from time to 
time and (iii) to terminate the Plan at any time; provided that, within four (4) months before a Change in Control of the Employer occurs or 
after a Change in Control of the Employer occurs, without the Employee’s consent, (i) the Employer may not declare that an individual who 
previously was selected to participate as an Employee in the Plan no longer participates as an Employee in the Plan, (ii) no amendment may be 
made that diminishes any Employee’s rights under the Plan and (iii) the Plan may not be terminated until all benefits that become payable 
under the Plan are paid in full.  An amendment may be made retroactively to the Plan if it is necessary to make this Plan conform to applicable 
law.  Upon termination of the Plan, the Plan shall no longer be of any further force or effect, and neither the Employer, any Affiliate nor any 
Employee shall have any obligations or rights under this Plan.  Likewise, the rights of any individual who was an Employee and whose 
designation as an Employee is revoked or rescinded by the Employer shall cease upon such action.  

15.                                  Notice .  

Notices under this Plan shall be in writing and sent by registered mail, return receipt requested, to the following addresses or to such 
other address as the party being notified may have previously furnished to the other party by written notice:  
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If to Employer:  

EarthLink, Inc.  
1375 Peachtree Street, N.W.  
Suite 7 North  
Atlanta, Georgia 30309-2935  
Attention: Executive Vice President, Employee Services  

If to an Employee:  

The address last indicated on the records of Employer.  

16.                                  Excise Tax .  

Despite any other provisions of this Plan to the contrary, if the receipt of any payments or benefits under this Plan would subject an 
Employee to tax under Code Section 4999, the Employer may determine whether some amount of payments or benefits would meet the 
definition of a “Reduced Amount.”  If the Employer determines that there is a Reduced Amount, the total payments or benefits to the Employee 
hereunder must be reduced to such Reduced Amount, but not below zero.  If the Employer determines that the benefits and payments must be 
reduced to the Reduced Amount, the Employer must promptly notify the Employee of that determination, with a copy of the detailed 
calculations by the Employer.  All determinations of the Employer under this Section are final, conclusive and binding upon the Employee.  It 
is the intention of the Employer and the Employee to reduce the payments under this Plan only if the aggregate Net After Tax Receipts to the 
Employee would thereby be increased.  As a result of the uncertainty in the application of Code Section 4999 at the time of the initial 
determination by the Employer under this Section, however, it is possible that amounts will have been paid under the Plan to or for the benefit 
of an Employee which should not have been so paid (“Overpayment”) or that additional amounts which will not have been paid under the Plan 
to or for the benefit of an Employee could have been so paid (“Underpayment”), in each case consistent with the calculation of the Reduced 
Amount.  If the Employer, based either upon the assertion of a deficiency by the Internal Revenue Service against the Employer or the 
Employee, which the Employer believes has a high probability of success, or controlling precedent or other substantial authority, determines 
that an Overpayment has been made, any such Overpayment must be treated for all purposes as a loan which the Employee must repay to the 
Employer together with interest at the applicable Federal rate under Code Section 7872(f)(2); provided, however, that no such loan may be 
deemed to have been made and no amount shall be payable by the Employee to the Employer if and to the extent such deemed loan and 
payment would not either reduce the amount on which the Employee is subject to tax under Code Section 1, 3101 or 4999 or generate a refund 
of such taxes.  If the Employer, based upon controlling precedent or other substantial authority, determines that an Underpayment has occurred, 
the Employer must pay the amount of the Underpayment to the Employee.  For purposes of this Section, (i) “Net After Tax Receipt” means the 
Present Value of a payment under this Plan net of all taxes imposed on the Employee with respect thereto under Code Sections 1, 3101 and 
4999, determined by applying the highest marginal rate under Code Section 1 which applies to the Employee’s taxable income for the 
applicable taxable year; (ii) “Present Value” means the value determined in accordance with Code Section 280G(d)(4) and (iii) “Reduced 
Amount” means the largest aggregate amount of all payments and benefits under this Plan which (a) is less than the  
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sum of all payments and benefits under this Plan and (b) results in aggregate Net After Tax Receipts which are equal to or greater than the Net 
After Tax Receipts which would result if the aggregate payments and benefits under this Plan were any other amount less than the sum of all 
payments and benefits to be made under this Plan.  

17.                                  Miscellaneous .  

(a)           The failure of the Employer or an Affiliate to enforce any provisions of the Plan shall in no way be construed to be a waiver 
of those provisions, nor in any way effect the validity of the Plan or any part thereof, or the right of the Employer or an Affiliate thereafter to 
enforce such provision.  

(b)           The benefits provided under this Plan are in addition to and not in lieu of any other similar benefits that the Employer or any 
Affiliate may specify from time to time in any employee handbook or in any other agreement between the Employee and the Employer or an 
Affiliate.  Additionally, the benefits that this Plan provides shall not be reduced or offset by any other payments or benefits that the Employee 
may receive from any other third party or other employer after the Employee’s Termination of Employment.  

(c)           Whenever any benefits become payable under the Plan, the Employer and its Affiliates shall have the right to withhold such 
amounts as are sufficient to satisfy any applicable federal, state or local withholding, tax, excise tax or similar requirements.  

(d)           The terms of an Employee’s benefits are as set forth in this document, which cannot be changed by the promises of any 
individual employee or manager.  Only the Employer may change the terms of the Plan, and then only through a written amendment.  No 
promises (oral or written) that are contrary to the terms of the Plan and its written amendments are binding upon the Plan or the Employer.  

(e)           The terms and conditions of this Plan and the Employees’ benefits under the Plan shall remain strictly confidential.  
Employees may not discuss or disclose any terms of this Plan or its benefits with anyone except their attorneys, accountants and immediate 
family members who shall be instructed to maintain the confidentiality agreed to under this Plan, except as may be required by law.  

(f)            Benefits under the Plan are not considered eligible earnings for the Employer’s 401(k) Plan, Stock-4-LESS (Employee 
Stock Purchase Plan) or any other benefit program.  

(g)           This Plan is intended to comply with the applicable requirements of Section 409A of the Code and shall be construed and 
interpreted in accordance therewith.  The Employer may at any time amend, suspend or terminate this Plan, or any payments to be made 
hereunder, as necessary to be in compliance with Section 409A.  Notwithstanding the preceding, the Employer and all Affiliates shall not be 
liable to any Employee or any other person if the Internal Revenue Service or any court or other authority having jurisdiction over such matter 
determines for any reason that any amount under this Plan is subject to taxes, penalties or interest as a result of failing to comply with Code 
Section 409A.  
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(h)           This Plan is intended to be a “Welfare Plan” and not a “Pension Plan” as defined in ERISA Sections 3(1) and 3(2), 
respectively.  Accordingly, the Plan must be interpreted and administered in a manner that is consistent with that intent.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Employer has caused this instrument to be executed in its name by its duly authorized officer, all as of the 
day and year first above written.  
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EARTHLINK, INC.  
      
      
   

By:  
   

   
Title:  

   



   

EARTHLINK, INC.  
CHANGE-IN-CONTROL ACCELERATED VESTING AND SEVERANCE PLAN  

SUMMARY PLAN DESCRIPTION  
   

NAME OF PLAN:  

EarthLink, Inc. Change-in-Control Accelerated Vesting and Severance Plan  

NAME, ADDRESS, AND TELEPHONE NUMBER OF SPONSOR AND PLAN  
ADMINISTRATOR:  
   

EarthLink, Inc. (“Employer”)  
1375 Peachtree Street, N.W.  
Suite 7 North  
Atlanta, Georgia 30309-2935  
(404) 815-0770  
   

The Employer administers the Plan.  

EMPLOYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER:  

58-2511877  

PLAN NUMBER ASSIGNED TO THIS PLAN:  

501  

ORIGINAL EFFECTIVE DATE:  

April 19, 2001  

PLAN YEAR:  

Calendar year beginning on January 1 of each year and ending on December 31.  

FISCAL YEAR FOR MAINTAINING PLAN RECORDS:  

Calendar year beginning on January 1 of each year and ending on December 31.  

TYPE OF WELFARE PLAN:  

The Plan is a severance pay plan that provides benefits to certain Employees in the event of termination of their employment due to 
certain specified reasons.  

TYPE OF ADMINISTRATION OF THE PLAN:  

The Employer administers the Plan as described in Section 7.  

 

 



   

PROVISIONS FOR ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS:  

The Plan generally describes eligibility requirements in Sections 2 and 3.  

DESCRIPTION OF PLAN BENEFITS:  

The Plan generally describes conditions for payment of benefits and the amount of such benefits in Sections 2 and 3.  

SOURCES OF CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE PLAN AND FUNDING MEDIUM:  

The general assets of the Employer or the Affiliate that employs Employee shall fund the severance pay from the Plan.  

PROCEDURES FOR PRESENTING CLAIMS AND REDRESS OF DENIED CLAIMS:  

Section 6 provides detailed instructions for filing a claim and redress of a denied claim.  

AGENT FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS:  

EarthLink, Inc.  
1375 Peachtree Street, N.W.  
Suite 7 North  
Atlanta, Georgia 30309-2935  
Attention: Executive Vice President, Employee Services  
   

In addition to the agent listed above, service of process may be made upon the Employer itself.  
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YOUR RIGHTS UNDER ERISA  

The following statement is required by law to be included in this Summary Plan Description:  

As a participant in the EarthLink, Inc. Change-in-Control Accelerated Vesting and Severance Plan (the “Plan”) you are entitled to 
certain rights and protections under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”).  ERISA provides that all 
Plan participants shall be entitled to:  

Examine, without charge, at the Employer’s office and at other specified location, such as worksites, all Plan 
documents and a copy of the latest Annual Report (Form 5500 series) filed by the Plan with the U.S. Department of Labor and 
available at the Public Disclosure Room of the Pension and Welfare Benefit Administration.  

Obtain, upon written request to the Employer, copies of all Plan documents governing the operation of the Plan and 
copies of the latest Annual Report (Form 5500 series) and an updated summary plan description.  The Employer may make a 
reasonable charge for the copies.  

Receive a summary of the Plan’s annual financial report.  The Employer is required by law to furnish each Employee 
with a copy of this summary annual report.  

In addition to creating rights for Plan participants, ERISA imposes duties upon the people who are responsible for the operation of the 
Plan.  The people who operate your Plan, called fiduciaries, have a duty to do so prudently and in the interest of you and other Plan 
participants.  No one, including your employer or any other person, may fire you or otherwise discriminate against you in any way solely in 
order to prevent you from obtaining a benefit or exercising your rights under ERISA.  If your claim for a benefit is denied, in whole or in part, 
you must receive a written explanation of the reason for the denial.  You have the right to have the Plan review and reconsider your claim.  
Under ERISA, there are steps you can take to enforce the above rights.  For instance, if you request materials from the Plan and do not receive 
them within 30 days, you may file suit in a federal court.  In such a case, the court may require the Employer to provide the materials and pay 
you up to $110 a day until you receive the materials, unless the materials were not sent because of reasons beyond the control of the Employer.  
If you have a claim for benefits which is denied or ignored, in whole or in part, you may file suit in a state or federal court.  If it should happen 
that Plan fiduciaries misuse the Plan’s money, or if you are discriminated against for asserting your rights, you may file suit in a federal court.  
The court will decide who should pay court costs and legal fees.  If you are successful, the court may order the person you have sued to pay 
these costs and fees.  If you lose, the court may order you to pay these costs and fees.  If you have any questions about your Plan, you should 
contact the Employer.  If you have any questions about this statement or about your rights under ERISA, you should contact the nearest office 
of the Pension and Welfare Benefits Administration, U.S. Department of Labor, listed in your telephone directory or the Division of Technical 
Assistance and Inquiries, Pension and Welfare Benefits Administration, U.S. Department of Labor, 200 Constitution Avenue, N.W.,  

 

 



Washington, D.C. 20210.  You may also obtain certain publications about your rights and responsibilities under ERISA by calling the 
publications hotline of the Pension and Welfare Benefits Administration.  
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Benefits  
 

 
Gold and Silver  
Benefit Category  

 

 
Bronze  

Benefit Category  
 

Cash Severance  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Lump sum cash payment of 1.5 times the sum of 
employee’s salary plus bonus target, if within 18 
months after a change in control the company 
terminates employee’s employment without cause or 
employee voluntarily terminates his or her employment 
for good reason; no cash severance if termination of 
employment is on account of the employee’s death or 
disability.  

Lump sum cash payment equal to the sum of 
employee’s salary plus bonus target, if within 18 
months after a change in control the company 
terminates employee’s employment without cause or 
employee voluntarily terminates his or her employment 
for good reason; no cash severance if termination of 
employment is on account of the employee’s death or 
disability.  

COBRA Benefits  Company will pay all amounts payable with respect to 
the employee’s elected COBRA coverage (including 
coverage for spouse and dependents) for 1.5 years from 
the termination of the employee’s employment, if 
within 18 months of the change in control the company 
terminates employee’s employment without cause or 
employee voluntarily terminates his or her employment 
for good reason; no paid COBRA benefits if the 
termination of employment is on account of the 
employee’s death or disability.  

Company will pay all amounts payable with respect to 
the employee’s COBRA coverage (including coverage 
for spouse and dependents) for 1 year from the 
termination of the employee’s employment, if within 18 
months of the change in control the company terminates 
employee’s employment without cause or employee 
voluntarily terminates his or her employment for good 
reason; no paid COBRA benefits if termination of 
employment is on account of the employee’s death or 
disability.  

Accelerated vesting of outstanding stock options  If stock options are assumed or continued after a change 
in control, all outstanding stock options granted on or 
before the change in control will vest and be exercisable 
in full, if not already fully vested, on termination of 
employee’s employment for any reason after the change 
in control occurs; if options are not assumed or 
continued after the change in control, all outstanding 
stock options are vested and exercisable in full 
contemporaneously with the change in control, if not 
already fully vested.  

If stock options are assumed or continued after a change 
in control, all outstanding stock options granted on or 
before the change in control will vest and be exercisable 
at least as much as if the employee had remained 
employed for 24 months after the change in control 
occurs, if not already vested to such extent; if options 
are not assumed or continued after the change in 
control, all outstanding stock options are vested and 
exercisable at least as much as if the employee had 
remained employed for 24 months after the change in 
control occurs, if not already vested to such extent. 
Individuals in the Bronze benefit category will be 
grandfathered into the vesting under the Silver benefit 
category if they are currently participating in the 
Accelerated Vesting and Compensation Continuation 
Plan and elect to participate in this Plan.  

Accelerated vesting of outstanding restricted stock units  If restricted stock units are assumed or continued after a 
change in control, all outstanding restricted stock units 
granted on or before the change in control will vest and 
be earned and payable in full, if not already fully 
vested, on termination of employee’s employment for 
any reason after the change in control occurs; if 
restricted stock units are not assumed or continued after 
the change in control, all outstanding restricted stock 
units are vested and earned and payable in full 
contemporaneously with the change in control, if not 
already fully vested; provided that restricted stock units 
that contain performance criteria will not vest if the date 
for attainment of those criteria has passed.  

If restricted stock units are assumed or continued after a 
change in control, all outstanding restricted stock units 
granted on or before the change in control will vest and 
be earned and payable at least as much as if the 
employee had remained employed for 24 months after 
the change in control occurs, if not already vested to 
such extent; if restricted stock units are not assumed or 
continued after the change in control, all outstanding 
restricted stock units are vested and earned and payable 
at least as much as if the employee had remained 
employed for 24 months after the change in control 
occurs, if not already vested to such extent; provided 
that restricted stock units that contain performance 
criteria will not vest if the date for attainment of those 
criteria has passed or occurs more than 24 months after 
the change in control. Individuals in the Bronze benefit 
category will be grandfathered into the vesting under 
the Silver benefit category if they are currently 
participating in the Accelerated Vesting and 
Compensation Continuation Plan and elect to 
participate in this Plan.  
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Subsidiaries of the Registrant  

   

   

 

 

Name  
   

Jurisdiction of Incorporation  
EarthLink/OneMain, Inc.  

   
Delaware  

PeoplePC Inc.  
   

Delaware  
Cidco Incorporated  

   
Delaware  

New Edge Holding Company  
   

Delaware  
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-30024, 333-34810, 333-39456, 333-96553, 
333-108065, 333-126004, 333-133870, 333-133871), Form S-3 (Nos. 333-59456, 333-48100, 333-138600) and Form S-4 (No. 333-131541) of 
EarthLink, Inc. and in the related Prospectuses of our reports dated February 28, 2007, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of 
EarthLink, Inc., EarthLink, Inc. management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, and the effectiveness 
of  internal control over financial reporting of EarthLink, Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 
2006.  

   

   

 

 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP 
   

Atlanta, Georgia  
      

February 28, 2007  
      



Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATION OF CEO PURSUANT TO  
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14 AND 15d-14  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

I, Michael C. Lunsford, the Chief Executive Officer of EarthLink, Inc., certify that:  

1.          I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 of EarthLink, Inc.;  

2.          Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;  

3.          Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.          The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

(a)           designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

(b)          designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

(c)           evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and  

(d)          disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting; and  

   
5.          The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors:  

(a)           all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

(b)          any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  

   

  

   

 

 

Date: March 1, 2007  
   

By: 
 
 
 

/s/ MICHAEL C. LUNSFORD  

Michael C. Lunsford  
Interim Chief Executive Officer  



  

Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATION OF CFO PURSUANT TO  
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14 AND 15d-14  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

 
I, Kevin M. Dotts, the Chief Financial Officer of EarthLink, Inc., certify that:  

1.          I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 of EarthLink, Inc.;  

2.          Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;  

3.          Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4.          The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

(a)           designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

(b)          designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

(c)           evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and  

(d)          disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting; and  

   
5.          The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors:  

(a)           all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

(b)          any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  

   

  

   

 

 

Date: March 1, 2007  
   

By:  
   

/s/  KEVIN M. DOTTS  

Kevin M. Dotts  
Chief Financial Officer  



  

Exhibit 32.1 

 
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O  

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  
 

                In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of EarthLink, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2006 as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Michael C. Lunsford, Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to my 
knowledge that:  

(1)           the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  

(2)           the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.  

   

 

 

/s/  MICHAEL C. LUNSFORD  
   
Michael C. Lunsford  
Interim Chief Executive Officer  
March 1, 2007  



Exhibit 32.2 

 
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT T O  

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

        In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of EarthLink, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2006 as filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Kevin M. Dotts, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, 
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to my knowledge that:  

(1)           the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  

(2)           the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition  
                     and results of operations of the Company.  

   

 

/s/  KEVIN M. DOTTS  
   
Kevin M. Dotts  
Chief Financial Officer  
March 1, 2007  


